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$ 204,710 $ 915463 $ 180,401 $ 823,531
120,147 537,297 123,052 561,732
2,215 9,905 3,203 14,622
20,505 91,698 18,387 83,937
331,323 1,481,676 355,917 1,624,761
27,520 123,069 22,401 102,261
706,420 3,159,108 703,361 3,210,844
524,752 2,346,691 345,626 1,577,783
345,810 1,546,463 541,941 2,473,961
46,727 208,963 - -
35,627 159,324 - -
106,400 475,821 - -
- - 50,270 229,483

2,905 12,991 2,905 13,261

- - 1,053 4,807

23 103 1,476 6,738

461 2,062 852 3,889
151,059 675,537 119,083 543,614
69,987 312,982 32,716 149,349

- - 76,140 347,579
108,020 483,065 - -
112,673 503,874 98,071 447,694
1,504,444 6,727,876 1,270,133 5,798,158
$ 2,210,864 $ 9,886,984 $ 1,973,494 $ 9,009.002
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A R ¥ W & A R W W 8 #
$ 4,022 $ 17,986 $ 4,022 $ 18,360
82,281 367,961 82,281 375,613
77,338 345,856 77,338 353,048
58,361 260,990 39,576 180,664
494,404 2,210,975 624,187 2,849,414
716,406 3,203,768 827,404 3,777,099
35,093 156,936 - -
70,192 313,899 61,180 279,287
105,285 470,835 61,180 279,287
242,969 1,086,557 589,692 2,691,945
358,751 1,604,334 - -
- - 42,813 195,442
638 2,853 7,400 33,781
2,832 12,665 2,123 9,691
3,637 16,265 3,673 16,767
362 1,619 608 2,776
28,435 127,161 37,327 170,398
60,117 268,843 - -
100,903 451,238 - -
21,979 98,290 28,091 128,235
563,239 2,518,805 367,428 1,677,309
5,311 23,751 5,755 26,272
1,389,173 6,212,381 1,084,910 4,952,616
1,494,458 6,683,216 1,146,090 5,231,903
$ 2210864 $ 9,886,984 $ 1973494 $ 9.009,002
$ 115271 $ 515495 $ 185223 $ 845542
$ 821691 $ 3674603 $ 888584 $ 4,056,386
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107.1.1-107.12.31
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RMB1 : NT4.7080
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RMB1 : NT5.1050

RMBI1 : NT4.4320
RMB1 : NT4.3600
RMB1 : NT4.5910

THEF C E B

RMBI1 : NT4.5600
RMBL1 : NT4.5068
RMBI1 : NT4.8489

i
i




R B 107 £ &
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BEKE SRR L)
1074 & 1065 &
A & M & A R WM & ¥
Kk % $ 1,090,693 $ 4,877,579 $ 1,294,801 $ 5910767
& ( 799966) (___3577448) ( 982,286) (__4,484,136)
& A 290,727 1,300,131 312,515 1,426,631
H AN 84,483 377,808 83,483 381,100
PR EER ( 132,609) ( 593,027) ( 139,925) ( 638,758 )
TE KA ( 64,137)  ( 286,821) ( 71,006)  ( 324,142)
R A ( 37,087) ( 165,853)  ( 43796) ( 199,929)
H 5 BUHEARR A AT EZRERER ( 8875) ( 39689) ( 5505) ( 25,130)
H bl 5 B HR ( 28321) ( 126,652 ) 883 4,030
HAeH % ( 87,968) ( 393,393) ( 35517) ( 162,135 )
Ee2ERA ( 1458) ( 6520) ( 1612) ( 7,359 )
&EBH 14,755 65,984 99,520 454,308
M % R ( 14,180) ( 63413) ( 8803) ( 40,186)
MEE LK EA 2,118 9,472 1,893 8,642
46 ¥ 3 A5 3R ( 45423) ( 203,132) ( 7544) ( 34438)
WA ERAT (53R A ( 42730) ( 191,089 ) 85,066 388,326
FRAFHLE & ( 14994) ( 67,053) ( 19376) ( 88,451 )
ANAHBEH ABE (GIR) #BH ( 57,724)  ( 258,142) 65,690 299,875
i@k ()
AEENBHERSEHEAS
AABEE 2 8) F b2 @i 35 (B
x) 1,021 4566  ( 52) 2,383)
R THRESHFEHREWESE
A5 B 8] A b2 @i 38 (B
x) 17,228 77,044 ( 47,272)  ( 215,797 )
BREBNEFELEZERER 2,664 11,913 25,600 116,864
BAFEFALEEBR S
&l 3B Wi 38 9% 3R 1,999 8,940

ANAJAABAELT (ML) KALM (S 34812) ($_ 155679) $ 4349 $ 198559

& (BR) B
% &% (% 014) (8 064) $ 016 $ 0.73

B & § 44352 $ 198342 $ 20160 $ 92030
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107.1.1-107.12.31 RMBI : NT4.7080 RMB1 : NT4.4320 RMB1 : NT4.5600
106.1.1-106.12.31 RMB1 : NT4.6880 RMB1 : NT4.3600 RMB1 : NT4.5068
105.1.1-105.12.31 RMB1 : NT5.1050 RMB1 : NT4.5910 RMB1 : NT4.8489
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A B M & A 53 M & *
BETHELORLNE
TEMRAL $ 29,687 $ 132,760 $ 124,789 $ 569,662
LA RERTRR ( 21,905) ( 97,959)  ( 18204)  ( 83,101)
BEFHMERALER 7,782 34,801 106,585 486,561
BREAZHELNRLME
LR MBI GHE A
& E K 10,320 46,151 70,287 320,860
RRUL PALP-Eg b E ALY ]
ALK EAE ( 15048) ( 67,295) ( 154,283)  ( 704,302 )
ALE—TAMELINZMEB N H
— A IR R 2 Bk ( 35627) ( 159,324 ) - -
KRl K ~ BB RO ( 44922) ( 200,891) ( 8476) ( 38,693)
W TR AT AL 9 #K0E - - ( 5134) ( 23,437 )
HEWE - BB REHATHRA 519 2,321 1,027 4,688
MEEMTA ( 264) | 1,181) ( 1175) ( 5,364 )
EH B 4,49 20,106 4,261 19,451
BT R A M RAT AR AR 32,716 146,306 33,163 151,389
FENRAIMEARAT I AR R SRAT 540 ( 69,987) ( 312982) ( 32176)  ( 149,349 )
REEATEFAREZLBTE 507,800 2,270,882 - -
BABDTFHHARBZOBRTE ( 539,680) (  2413,449) - -
R HMEAT K - - 507,080 2,314,820
PRSP 3R - - 583,220) (___ 2662,399)
BFFGAMARLIFHR ( 149,677) 669,356)  ( 169,186)  ( 772,336 )
BAETHELEDRLRE
SBAT R AL AT HROR 3,390,069 15,160,389 602,194 2,749,016
BB RATHE ( 3184943) (  14,243,065) ( 590,223) (2,694,368 )
&, i B AT A Rb 9,012 40,302 - -
KL ( 44352) ( 198342) ( 20,160) 92,030 )
A H & ( 14180) ( 63413) ( 8803) ( 40,186 )
BREGMAF (FA) RESM 155,606 695871  ( 16992) 77,568 )
AERALEMM (D) Hinis 13,711 61316  ( 79593) ( 363,343 )
WAL RALEMY 98,071 447,694 177,946 821,577
ERmiy 891  ( 5136) ( 282) ( 10,540 )
HRALRALEHEY $ 112,673 $ 503874 $ 98,071 $ 447694

- RBE107R 106 FEMEREAZIMALIATE - BH MEAHZRBEHMBLH S URE 107
£ % 106 &£ 12 A 31 B 2 [E % RMB 1 = NTD 4.4720 & RMB 1 = NTD 4.5650 # % -
RE 106 + EMWALRALEEHLH ARR 1054 12 31 5 2 E £ RMB1=NTD 4.6170

wmHE -
B REIEEARYHH OGRS  BRATHEZEWT
i E % & X ® P 34
107.1.1-107.12.31 RMB1 : NT4.7080 RMB1 : NT4.4320 RMB1 : NT4.5600
106.1.1-106.12.31 RMB1 : NT4.6880 RMB1 : NT4.3600 RMB1 : NT4.5068
105.1.1-105.12.31 RMB1 : NT5.1050 RMB1 : NT4.5910 RMBI : NT4.8489
(H LMD EREMO NG EHAM 1085 48 268 HmAE)
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R RO T

R B 107 £ & g&\#& §Ref12 A 31 8
Fiaw:MehFa -k
HSRERSY A
107455 1064/
RKEZ-RNB HYERALF wEE—ROT RYERELF
L B FRTREN A TR L2 TUTRAEF L
& M W H & M %z IFRSs & W oW O & M =z [FRSs
KRB R B (& 3 ) H (&% ) % % & wm % C & 3 ) # (& ) #% N & # %
4000  HEEA $ 4,877,579 $ - $ 4,877,579 100 $ 5,910,767 $ - $ 5910767 100
5000 4#EAE (__3577448) - (__3577448) (__73) (__4484136) = (__4484136) (__76)
5900 AEEA 1,300,131 - 1,300,131 27 1,426,631 - 1,426,631 24
ERRA '
6100 HERm ( 593,027 ) - ( 593,027) ( 12) ( 638,758 ) - ( 638758) ( 11)
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RZE—+&+-A=+—H 86,143 123,269 24,443 18,601 - 252,456
FERE 9,157 9,524 992 1,122 - 20,795
& - (751) (392) (2,492) - (3,635)
RZF-\F+-A=+—H 95,300 132,042 25,043 17,231 - 269,616
REE
RZZE-\E+=-A=+—H 110,194 37,975 6,804 2,888 46,849 204,710
R-E—+&+-A=+—H 119,079 45,553 7107 1,970 6,692 180,401

B EFA2F R R - N\F+ A=+ —H AEEBEURABEBLHARK?,763000L (ZE—tF: AR
8,428,0007T) 2 EF AR EEER —RIBITEEREEERKE -

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH
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5. BLEE

B4
ARET T
A
R—ZE—+F—H—H 14,482
NE 1,175
RZE—+F+-_A=+—H 15,657
NE 264
RZE—NF+-_A=+—H 15,921
ey
R—ZE—+F—H—H 11,051
FEST M 1,403
R-E—+F+-_A=1+—H 12,454
FEST M 1,252
RZE—NF+-_A=+—H 13,706
BRHEE
R-E—NF+-_A=1+—H 2,215
RZE—tF+=-_A=+—8 3,203

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH
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16. fIEB N BIETE
R \ER-FE—+E+-A=+—0 KEEHHBELINT :

HMAL,/ ERTRGERE/
2% Temy TEEK HMER BHEER
ZE-N\E —ZT—+t%

EEFEMELR
XEBRDNA REETHE BERR EEIRI0ET 100% 100%

([HBRZ

Bs)
REZERBRAA EBEEIHS BERR 33 0%1,500,000% ¢ 100% 100%
BREABRZRERAR RERTHE BERR 33 1%200,000% T 100% 100%
REZEBEERDA RERTHE REZR 33 1%5,000,0005 7T 100% 100%
EBEEBRAA EBEEIHES BERR LERIET 100% 100%
XEBBERERAF B BRI ERR 33 0%1,0008 T 100% 100%
BREEXBRLA B EE 3 LERET 100% 100%
REBBEEEMRAR. B8 BERR 3E 1,007 7T 100% 100%
BREREBEERAF & REZR 3 AY1,0007% 7T 100% 100%
ABEBEERERAR ([RE]) B BERR 33 0%1,0008 7T 100% 100%

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH
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16. (B A RIFE (&)

WKL/ CETRARRE/

2B Semy TEEK HMEA EEER
ZE-N\F —T—+tF%

BEEERELA

MR HE R REEBKEET AR & 11,000,000 7T 100% 100%

S TAMREEVREERE

MRS RRERERDR R FEtRAEENE E& 7510,000,000% 7T 100% 100%

MMRERERHARAF FE R REESKEETAK #1114 7830,000,000% 7T 100% 100%

MM EERR AR DA i MIEMERTAK FE& 7815,000,000% 7T 100% 100%

HERBREZREEAERAF R BETHYLTIAR FHHE A200,000% 7T 100% 100%

LEEERTUBAERAR ([BE]) +FH BRTAKES 14 7&1,000,000% 7 100% 100%

Ra O BEENAER AR i T REESKEIRT AR Rt B 430,000,005 T 100% 100%

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH
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17. REELENRE

—EB-N\F —E—tF

AR T T ARBTTT
RBERFEIFEMEREMKAR 27,666 27,666
DIE U AB L B 1R (7,161) (9,279)

20,505 18,387
AEBZAECERREMRFBTOT:
EMARL AEERE AEEFRRE
ERER BEREAR TEEERY gt L 334 SR TEXH
ZE-N\E “EF ZBE-N\F —ZELF

Anest Iwata Feeler Corporation ([AIF |) H H 35% 35% 35% 3% HEREEREENTH
Hangzhou Nippon Cable Feeler Corporation H 50% 50% 50% 50% HEREOFER
(INippon Cable Feeler |)
Hangzhou Feeler Mectron Machinery H I 45% 45% 45% 45% BERHETARREHER
Hangzhou Union Friend Machinery HE H 55% 55% 55% 55% SERHETIEKREBER

Co., Ltd. (TUFM])

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH




AR HRAN At

Ht
i
op
13
B>
M
N
g
w
it
¥
&
b

FERASEIZALCECUBENMZEANT X - U THBERRREGELEVBBRR IS BRRBBUKE

BELENRSHEAMBRRATIAESEAR -

AIF
—B-N\F —FtF
ARMF T ARBT T
MEEE 48,455 42,979
FERBEE 28,681 30,547
mEAE (23,764) (24,024)
FERBEE (7,065) (6,544)
FEERBBELEBENTEE:
BeMREEFEY 8,990 6,149
RBEREE (TEEENRR LM E N TR (8,403) (9,468)
—E-N\E —E—+tF
AR®F T ARBTT
Wz 102,765 93,267
FRHENREHEREERE 3,349 6,134

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH
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17. REELRENERE )
TEAULCETHBERNUE (K)

EPRAFER G EEmEEEERATEE:

—B-N\F B

ARETR ARETIT
PrEE R 2,971 3,031
B U A (10) (8)
FEFX 405 400
S X - -
Tl AR BB AU EHRERANATERRAIFZ s 2 BREEYER

—B-N\F —E—+tF

AR T AREFIT
AFZ EEFE 46,307 42,958
AEERAIFZ AR Z D 35% 35%
AEBRAFZ #Em Z BREE 16,207 15,035
BRI TEBREASE NG ZEFIESR

—B-N\F B

ARETR ARETIT
AEERBGEAFERF (BB ReEka (AX) 8% 946 (254)
AEBRZEAE NS ZEKRAEE 4,298 3,352

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH




/j #//772:%/}/7/1_7—_:

r—_Ll
o=

18. REEE RN RINIRE
—E-N\F —E—LF
AR¥Tx ARBTT
B A BIIE ETIRE BB 415,701 415,701
SMEIEREE R AMEEER (119,317) (92,143)
BREBINEBEEZERZRE 34,939 32,359
331,323 355,917
RZE—NEFERZE—+tF+_A=+—H xEERTIBE A EEER:
EMAL AEBFE AE@FE
ERER BEER TEEEBY FE R Lk REELH TEER
“Z-N\F ZZ—tE ZEB-N\F —ZT+tF
FFG Europe S.p.A. ([FFG Europe |) BEAA BEAA 30.16% 30.16% 30.16% 30.16% HEREETAKRREHEER
FFG Werke Gmbh ([FFG Werke |) BE =8 39.00% 3900%  39.00% 3000% HERABTAK THEEM R
HEBRIARREBERZE
RRERS
FFG European and American Holdings GmbH {2 {=E 81.37% 81.37% 33.33% 3333% REERAR
(TFFGEA])
FFG Europe

FFG EuropeFA AR - @ KEBEBR AR ([&K&]) (ERz2EMBAR BN THEKAEE 2 —HH
NE([FEE]) (H16.24%B B TRABREZRERE ) KAma Sl (—2BLE=7)5
21.70% }226.06% 1% 1

)~ FpEA R
D RIBER #730.16% 22.08%

)
EEY Vi

RIEFFG EuropeZ B ZERMA - IR E)
F—E A NEBEEFFG Europe EEERFE -

BERERBRERRZBESHRENEN BSREROE
BARBEDRMBHRERPHZIREARI BB E QT -

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH
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18. REEE DN BINIRE (&)
FFG Werke

FFG WerkeD BIlFIfE - €&  KENMEEEABR AR ([2BE]) (—BBUE=FH ) #EH#37.00%"10.00%" 39.00%
T2 14.00%0% # °

RIZFFG Werke 2 BB ERMA) MAAZRAP B2 BERRRERR 2 BEZHREMRA BSRBROHE T
—F- AL AREHFFG Werke A EART E - MAKE D RUBMRTEX R EARII BB E AR -

FFG EA

FFG EADRIARE A EBESEBBRHEBRAR (16249 ETRABREZRFE) REEHEE 481.37%
12.12% %2.6.51 %A% HE

FFG EABREERERYBRRZES B 2R EHNEHEET 2K ERREZEeRE-RRZESHEEY
FFG EAZ 2 Ef#EH#E  BAEMAREBEARREZEQHRME L EMB - AEB LMY FFG EABINE RFE - Al
REBERPFBRERPGZIEEARY AL QR

FFG EAZ = 2& B RINFFG European Holding GmbH ([FFG European | » —fRIREEIE MK L 2 RE R R]) 2
55.3%%# - MFFG European® K # A MAG Global Holding GmbH (TMAG |) R EKi B A E (#1E [MAGEE]) ~
100%M% 1% ° FFG European®l 82 2 44.70% R E D RIBBEAR AR ([BE] —RBUE=7) EHKREFRAA
([EH —2BUE=F ) REBERE187% 17%K%9% - MAGEB 2 T EXB /N ER NEREET AKNE
ERG-

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH
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18. REEE DN BINIRE (&)
R ARBE

FFG Europe FFG Werke FFG EA @t

—E-N\E -—Z—+5 ZB-NE -—T—+% ZB-\§ -T—+F ZB-N\E -T—+%F

ARMTR ARETLT ARMTR ARETT AR®TR ARETT ARETR ARKET:H
Be 13,723 32,535 13,456 4,697 188,920 257,687 216,099 294919
HitREEAE 607,796 488,518 468,078 545100 2,057,476 1927309 3,133,350 2,960,927
MBEELE 621,519 521,053 481,534 549,797 2,246,396 2,184,996 3,349,449 3,255,846
RERITEE (123,572) (100985)  (237,945) (177916)  (207,568) (254,488)  (569,085) (533,389)
HiteBAaR% (473,612) (400,297) (397,572) (375,056)  (1,835,053)  (1,648,361) (2,706,237)  (2,423,714)
MEBELHE (597,184) (501,282) (635,517) (552,972)  (2,042,621)  (1902,849) (3,275,322)  (2,957,103)
ERBEE 190,028 181,887 138,068 236,230 1,743,790 1875938 2,071,886 2,294,055
FRBEE (232,226) (211,887) (212,408) (294,685  (1,205,208)  (1,366,409)  (1,649,842)  (1,872,981)
(B4 EEFE (17,863) (10229)  (228,323) (61,630) 742,357 791,676 496,171 719,817
A R ER - - - - 335,177 354,271 335,177 354,271
BENFTHEAAEL (B EEFE (17,863) (10,229) (228,323) (61,630) 407,180 437,405 160,994 365,546

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH
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18. REEE DN BINIRE (&)

ERkEME2ERERTE
FFG Europe FFG Werke FFG EA @t

—E-\f ZT—+tFf ZB-N§f —T+F ZB-NF —T—+F ZBE-N\F =—T—tF
ARETR ARETT ARMTR ARETT AR®Tn ARETT AR®TR ARKET:H
e 631,160 563,027 532,846 703335 3,572,255 3432545 4,736,261 4,698,907
Yegpk A (375,777) (335,689)  (437,216) (665341)  (3,077,960)  (2.879477)  (3,890,953)  (3,880,507)
Hipfx (257,321) (256,374)  (251,882) (121,598)  (535,239) (593,710)  (1,044,442) (971,682)
BRBAEE (1,938) (29,036) (156,252) (83,604) (40,944) (40,642) (199,134) (153,282)
FEige (Fx) 969 7,150 (14,603) (12,095) (42,263) 73,065 (55,897) 68,120
FR(BR)EH (969) (21,886) (170,855) (95,699) (83,207) 32,423 (255,031) (85,162)
B TR RR - - - - (27,384) 10,637 (27,384) 10,637
GeNAEE AEEER (BE)EF (969) (21,886) (170,855) (95,699) (55,823) 21,786 (227,647) (95,799)
BENREAAREFEARM2ERS - - - (2,185) 22,427 (57,690) 22,427 (59,875)
AMEBenw (BE) &7 (292) (6,601) (66,634) (37,322) (45,423) 17,726 (112,349) (26,197)
B RERAEHEAREE (292) (3,085) (66,634) (15,568) - - (66,926) (18,653)
BRERNEEE AR (BR)EF - (3,516) - (21,754) (45,423) 17,726 (45,423) (7,544)
AMEBENAEMRE (FX) WA - - - (852) 18,249 (46,942) 18,249 (47,794)

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH
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18. REFE QA WRE (a0
TXHIMZNHHERBERARBE DA NRERAENHE.

FFG Europe FFG Werke FFG EA st
“B-N\E T +F ZB-\F -T+F ZB-\F -TtF -B-\F -TtF
ARETR ARETT AR®TR ARETT ARETR ARETT AR®TR ARETR
BOEEFE (10,229) 13,846 (61,630) 35,964 437,405 441177 365,546 490,987
EHEE (6,665) (2,189) 4,162 290 3,171 32132 668 30,233
FREMZE (B3 RA - - - (2,185) 22,427 (57,690) 22,427 (59,875)
BEDRABEAREFR (BR)EH (969) (21,886)  (170,855) (95,699) (55,823) 21786 (227,647) (95,799)

RtZA=+—HBERFEEA

ElEHREETE (17,863) (10229)  (228,323) (616300 407,180 437,405 160,994 365,546
B A i 2% 30.16% 30.16% 39.00% 39.00% 81.37% 81.37%
AMEEEFE (5,387) (3,085) (89,047) (24036) 331,323 355917 236,889 328,796
FEDDEHLNFEE 5,387 3,085 80,579 15,568 - - 85,966 18,653
HE (Hita) - - 2,451 2451 - - 2,451 2,451
RUERATFERENTE (fita) - - 6,017 6,017 - - 6,017 6,017
Rt-A=+—BREEE - - - - 331,323 355,917 331,323 355917
Btat -

a.  AREEVIEFBFFG WerkeZ 135% - W MK AEARIMEAIHEERE -R-Z—AFNATA AEREE-FK
fEFFG Werkez 25.5%0% # - 1X.18 72,340,000 7T ° 18 A K #52,451,0007T K 7 W s i 2 B B ) 2 2 A R #58,544,0007T
Bt - S UERE T AR - A FEARAREEEEZ G AR EHA T AR

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH




19A. B 5 B WUR A K H b B WUR A R T A RIR

MREEERA N A

—E-N\F —E—+tF

ARETx ARET T

2 5 EWER R 323,790 387,221
BB SRR FURE R (46,931) (37,811)
276,859 349,410

FEUR 1% - 128,054
FET 5RO 44,713 41,662
HA 24,238 22,815
BHRWEER R EmERER R R IEN B85 345,810 541,941

AEE—RETEEPIRIBOREER - ARENTAFEATFPREE THHNREELERIEARED  REAR

#22,699,0007C ( — T —+4F: ARHE22487,0007T) ' MZER
o

RIE-N\FR-_ZT—tF+-_A=1T—8B BEH5RREFEBRREIHENKRESTWOT

TR T YR B AR B 51 B E RN B A B R

S % —E—tF

ARMT R ARETR

BIEA—30K 207,953 269,787
31—-60K 2,365 6,943
61—=90K 4,568 8,576
91—180K 10,353 20,052
180K A £ 98,551 81,863
323,790 387,221

KEARERERAT —F— /|l




ARE I EERA N AT

MAEZRWERFREMEWRARRFESFTE (&)

RZFB—tEF+-A=+t—H RBEREEREAHBZHREITOT

—E—+tF
AREFIT

BIEA—30K 128,054

RIZE-N\FT_A=+—8 AEREZEZRUERESRT BEREAER AR108,904,0007T 1 K& B HE
HIQOKR A E 2 FEUBR TR - Z S @ HAkE g rh - AR ¥#562,039,0007c B B B I B 3% - sZ KB TR R - Ty AR AR
SEEEECKEBEAEN N TEERAKREATERBRACRIZFEB AN EE L SENRURRRA
BRUERS - AEEEERERR BERSERUEFEAMFULRERAEEZFLEFER ERERESARRRE

—EAFT AT R AREEREENEET A TERBERPAE I RURR B LRE - IR REEEER
HEBARETOERR S ERRERNRBYIR  AEE S FHRERE-

R-ZF—EF+ A ARENEZEKENEIEE B A0 E KR RE A8 A K%83,440,0007T - M AN 5 H 31 #
LA R EERRE AREY B ZFERTFEEMERSD -

ERBERRENE S RBRKERE 2RO

—EF—+tF

AREEF T

1—-30K% 17,009
31—60K 6,567
61—90% 8,529
91—180K 13,981
180K A £ 37,354
83,440

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH
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PAEBEZREWEAREREMEWRERRFENKIE (&)
REBESERERN T — \EHREREZHNT

—E-N\F

ARET
n—A—H 37,811
ENTEBRHEEREE THNSEREG 5,340
R—A— B2 &GS 43,151
BERE 9,131
JiE SR TE i 8H (5,351)
W+=—A=+—8 46,931
AEFEBSGEWERN ST —+FHRERGEESNT

—E—+F

ARETTT
»—A—H 33,792
VERIEREL ] 5,505
% [B] i £ (1,486)
R+-—A=+—H 37,811

“EFNEFHRUEFRERBERBREENCRENE ZRERREREE A ARK37,811,0007T KEE
BERFKES ZFEFRREFERR BT AIRE - REB W B2 F &R ERERD-

AEBAHBEREERINEEE AN EETHERNE 5 EUCRK R E A & W R R FA A FRM T

—B-N\F I
AR®BTT ARETIT
ETT 23,404 20,211
B 16,708 24,044
Hipgw 1,508 1,170

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH
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198. EHEE

—E-N\E —E—)\F

+=ZA=+—8H —A—B8*

AR T T AREFIT
T Ak 30,692 32,237
FERME 16,265 14,466
46,957 46,703

B ANEEBBEMG (230) (486)
46,727 46,217

* BRI ERAERERYBREENFOR LB SRERFBRZEE -

AHEETERASENC I IRNFAEREMIREAR I HRNARER S RERNRANFENREER
B - ARNEENBINKAERIKEREEZRIGRR - AREATRERENEI R ENRERERHEH
EEEREE HRIRNR -

AR AEEBEHNEEFLERBABZEANEESR WALEBE D HEARDEE-
EHEEFERESD
BE_Z—\F+-_A=+—HIFEAHNEEBBEHEZ:
—E-N\E
ARETR
»n—HA—H _
EFFTERHEERBTHNEERE 486
R—A—B&ERABER 486
EiE R B (256)
R+-—A=+—H 230

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH




MREEERA N A

WCERETMEE

RZE—N\F+ A=+ B AEECBEEEZBREENEZARK?57700000 (ZE—+F: AR
183,328,0007T,) °

HRZERERSEEFRZRTHT FAEEERECST AR EMARECERZEZRZEAR AR L E
H-AEBECDBURER DARBEZAARBEIBRE S RMARR -

20. FE W E X
R-Z—/\F+-A=+—B FEEXTEENBRERABER £8 BN —FNEE-

AEBERKESAEBEEER 2B U2 EBIENT

—E-N\EF —EF—+F

AREBT T ARBFT

55T 35,627 -
21. ATV EFAHEMEZE K EERRKIE

—E-N\F

AREBT

ANEARE A ERERE (REREEETRREZES) 106,400

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH




ARE I EERA N AT

22. 7€
—E-N\F —E—tF
ARET R ARETIT
R K 62,425 62,791
R 234,030 90,002
2K M 228,297 192,833
524,752 345,626

R-ZT—N\F AR%2,087,000cFEMMC EERRFAHERA - R -_FT—+F ARK2981,000CHFE
Ol EER MG AEERA T EHNHEEE R0 EREEROBERAREERWT -

23. Bl (B BEFENIRENRE

—F—tF

ARET T

BEAA NI AR MR RERER 913,875
B TS FRIE (906,418)
7,457

—E—+F

ARETTT

JEUR & 48 P 508 50,270
B4R PRIE (42,813)
JEWE A TR RE S5 7,457

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH
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24. ZIRFBITERRBITEER

—E-N\F —E—+tF

AR®BTT ARETTT

ZRHRITER 15,900 32,716
SRR HIRITEEE (FEE36) 54,087 -
69,987 32,716

XRHEBITERESACSEHEREIRECFEREERMEARTNEE - ZFRR —F A H - L EEFH =X
03% (ZZ—+F:04% )T Be

25. RAFEFABRZERMEE HBUEEX

AEBCRSEBITRTEBUETH ZEFRELERZER-

RZZB-NF—A—RB ARERABTEYEREENFOT SR UFRRREIZ A FEFABRFTE-

26. BITHEBRREAE

RITHEBRIET S EN T EBF0I/BE15% (—E—tF+ - A=+—H:035%=1.5%):t B -

AEEAHBEEERNEEE INERTENRITER MRS T :

—E-N\F —E—+F
ARETx ARETTT
ETT 6,114 10,777
=T 31,418 7,225
HupgEs 7.248 1,097

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH




ARE I EERA N AT

27. B
REE &N &
K FHET ARETIT
EREEIOIETHEER
EE
W-_E—+H—f—H ZE—+F+-A=1+—H"
- \F&—AF-BAEk-ZE-N\E+-A=+—H 1,000,000 10,000 10,211
ERTREE:
R_F—tF—-A—B ZF—tF+-A=t+—-H"
—E-N\E-A-BERZZE-N\FE+-A=1+—H 403,200 4,032 4,022
28. ESENIRRREMENFIEREFTHX
—E-N\EF —E—+F
ARETx ARET T
S EMERR 163,957 196,462
REEFHEMNEZS - 296,284
HAth T3R8 32,474 54,170
JEETFA X 46,538 42,776
BHRMNERREMENRERETHAZ 25 242,969 589,692
ZZEMEFBEIHE 25 MER
—E-N\F —E—tF
ARETx ARET T
BIEA—30K 92,947 113,021
31—60K 44,181 51,625
61—90K 5,447 7,592
91—180K 6,926 12,499
180K A + 14,456 11,725
163,957 196,462

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH
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28. ES BN RA R Htt B RIA R BT X (&)

REE—REFIOEORNEEH -

AEBNEBEEERNEEE MIINEETENE S RN RN E M BN R LB FZE#HINIT

—B-N\F B

ARETR ARETIT

ETT 3,224 24,056

B 13,436 104,157

BT 2,111 2,054
29. 6B’

—E-N\EF —E—)\F

+=A=+-H —A—Aax

ARET R ARBFIT

T E# 145,501 280,784

FERE 205,920 149,490

P& 7.330 6,437

358,751 436,711

RN ERARBEBY RS EF ISR RARZSHE-
BARAEELRLERMNGEENSNREIBRARDAG

TREVINAFEEANR S BEEANEEEBNEE - AFELEEITNRATHRBITERSARD

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH
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29. BB #®)
EFE AL N BB SR D RIS

ARETIT
T E# 236,258
FE &M 149,490
X & 6,437
392,185

30. RERE
—E-N\E —E—+tF
ARETx ARET T
Rn—A— 5,755 6,018
irgﬁéﬁ 4,983 6,282
& A B (5,427) (6,545)
R+-—A=+—H 5,311 5,755

REBKREZERERLE —F

RERBEEEERBBEERLAEABREERZ PR FHAKE - EMF 2 RERTAEFL 2 &EME-

—\FFH



MREEERA N A

31. RITR HE SR

—E-N\F —E—+tF
AR®BTT ARETTT
RITEE - ZEFI= 563,239 367,428
HifEE -8 35,093 -
598,332 367,428
FeEiigi 35,093 -
AR 563,239 367,428
598,332 367,428

JE(EERmE
—FR 563,239 367,428
REMN FETHBBERF 35,093 -
598,332 367,428

* BHESBRNREINERGHEOBEERA M-

AEENFHFEEERFBRITAERE MBROTAERLS,AILRTRAERE BTRITEERSTS -
AEBHEMEERETEBNESHAREIZS5200TE2EER - ZEERAN S _=FRAEE - KAFE
FEBITTH IS ELT75%t 8 - ERTH R FERARKE34,510,0007T - K EEN@MSFIEENTE HNEHE

AR¥9,012,000t AR BEFKMEN - R AETWA (HEE33) - UK RERBYE BELRREBITERR &
ERBEm PR -

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH




ARE I EERA N AT

NBITREMEBR (&)

AEBRITREMEENERNZBELWT

—B-N\F —B—tF
TR A% 0.9%Z4.75% 1.20%%4.79%
ESE:S 54

AEENABREEERNEEEUINEBTENRITREMEEHINOT
—E-N\EF —E—+F
ARETx ARET T
ETT 106,268 265,444
BT 139,172 9,951
BT 305,014 92,033

@ RIZ-N\F+-A=1+—RH AEECHEREKREELYARE3262,0007T (—F—+F: ARK3,352,0007T) 2 ENEHE
AN EREENARET?,763,0007T (ZF—+ 4 ARHKS,428,00070) 2 BF  {ERHER —RBPITHEZHFR - K _T—N
FtHtoA=1T—H AEEHNAPAEHEAERRITRE (ZT—LF:8) -

k) RZZ-NF+ZA=+—R ARERERTHREHTAIHLEREREEREFR MR —tF+-A=+—R &
EHRITELE AR 1534,608,0007T T R ERTTHE A A BIEHE B EMEERER MRRITREL HESHA -

© RZZE-—NFT+-A=+—8 MERARREELERARS7,7850005T (=T —+4: AR108,000,0007T) * BRITHE
ERMEER GEEECHA ARE22,302,0007T (ZF—+ 4 AR#6,880,0007T) °

d) RZZ—)\F+ZA=+—H0 ARR—ZEERAEE—EBH R AEENRITEEE AR96,0850007T (= —+F:
AR #78,410,0007T ) $2 (A AFEIR ©

@ MZZ-NE+-A=+—R KEEAR35093,0007TH Eit {55 AREEL 2 A R¥B84,338,0007T # T8 {4 & 11 5 1E
R

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH




MREEERA N A

32 JRFERE

—E-N\F —E—+tF
AR®BTT ARETTT
BREMSHEE 27,520 22,401
FRNELEMESEHEENESNT
EREE
REEHE BFEEE REBEE HERS B 3 Hit @t

ARETT ARKTT ARETT ARETT  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARET:R

R-Z—t%—f—H 3,870 753 866 917 15,295 - 21,701
RERA (NBR)EA 375 313 (47) 59 - - 700
R-_ZE—+&+-A=+—8 4,245 1,066 819 976 15,295 - 22,401
RINE BT EREES

ESREECYE - - - - - 4,054 4,054
RANB BT RS ES

FORELYE 619 - - - - - 619
RZE-NF—A—HKN

LR 4,864 1,066 819 976 15,295 4,054 27,074
REM2EREEA (353) - - - - - (353)
REZR (M)A 233 129 (53) 490 - - 799
RZZ-\&+-A=+—8 4,744 1,195 766 1,466 15,295 4,054 27,520

RZEBE—/\F+A=+—08 TEEHERFHAREEEN AR130,086,0007T (ZZF—+F : AR66,018,000
TC) AT S AR SH A e N BB ERBUE AN AR RE A A SR FE AR IEEIE MU R ERELFHIBEEE -

%tﬂ*@%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%~%:%—ﬂ¢+—ﬂZ+—E’$E@%EE@THH%ﬁ%%AEMMawmmﬁ

T —+F: ARM152,294,00070) A HEER TGN R_E—-—NF+_A=+—RH A HNREREZEFARE
1w&ﬁmwﬂif +F : ARM108,553,0007T ) B RN IRIE R T & B MR o R B 18 JE R T )& 17 A7) g A DA
S AT FRE B = B MU AR FERR A R 550,693,0005T ( = —+4F : AR #43,741,0007T ) °

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH




ARE I EERA N AT

32.

EERIE (&)

ZERBEBEEBNI T FEAE L Em:

—B-N\F B
AR#ET T ARETIT

RTHNFEEER:
—TN\E - 6,472
—E-NF 5,455 5,528
—E-FF 13,611 17,808
—E-—F 16,588 22,100
—F=-= 14,472 14,110
—E-=4F 79,960 -
130,086 66,018

33 EZE W =

—E-N\F —T—tF
AR®BT T ARET T
ER R R 2 BT Bh 70,192 61,180

RZZF—R"F+—A ERABRRERERFE M&E LR B NESSE THN MR LAERMARK61,180,0007T © %
SHMNADFIZAREEN A ERAFRNEEANER S RZF-N\FUA KEABKRE —FNESER
AR¥9,012,000t BT R R S ER (FHIB RS - BEERE P BHMREMERY BFE MREZAEER
DFERE T - BUR AU 2 8 R 18 a5 7 HERR o

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH




MREEERA N A

M. EERBRE

—E-N\F —E—+F
AR®T ARBF T
FRFTSTLAT (B8 ) &7 - (42,730) 85,066
Y
— TS E RIE 8 2,905 3,032
—ME - BERERETE 9,894 11,826
—mVEERN 1,186 1,337
—EIRBERKENEERBERE 8,875 5,505
—TFE MR (B E) 2,087 (2,981)
—DIEEERERF (2,118) (1,893)
— D EEE A REE 45,423 7,544
—HEWME WEREE () B8 (118) 37
—FBHA (4,496) (4,267)
—MEMAXZ 14,180 8,803
—REEH 4,983 6,282
—RERELEIETE 25,195 4,685
— AR R 60,117 -
—HERE 3,037 -
EBEERFH:
758 11,468 (129,234)
— B 5) FE YR 3R L Ath B U SR T8 K FBAS 3B 20,400 (48,363)
—EHEE (254) -
— X RBIIRITAEER (54,807) -
—EWEPEHNIIERIE - (9,578)
— Y S AR IR A R SRR 1,053 1,057
—FEULR R B A B R A I IR A RV B 2 A BI5RIR 1,453 1,042
—EWE B ERIE 391 70
— e Uy — R B R B e — R R RO BT B A B E (27,248) 46,542
—B O EMNERREMENKIEREFTFHXZ (7,382) 99,237
—EHNaE (77,960) -
—ENEPEHIIERIE - 11,131
—FER SRR A R FRIE (6,762) 5,012
—ENEEERARRIE 709 1,504
—ERAEERENRE (246) 416
— BN —EEE AR R E R RN B A RRIE (8,892) 29,346
— TR R B A R R AT IR A BB & R R 308 (36) (1,830)
—(RFER (5,427) (6,545)
2iE (A MERE (25,120) 124,789

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH




ARE I EERA N AT

35.

REBKZERERL A

CEMSHRT #®)
RiFERERERAN LEYE BEMSENGREBERE:
—B-N\F B
AR®BT T ARET T
HE B EERME: 401 1,064
HEWE - WER&BERZ (EE) 118 (37)
HEYWE BWERRBTEREA 519 1,027

METHELE2ABYHER

TRENASEREEHELY AERY QENL RS

EREBFNAEESEARERERADEERERPELZRERE -

BoMERPELCABIRERECRIARKR

RITR
EARE Hinfg & IE FE U 35 #et
ARBEF T AREF T AREF T ARBTTT
RZTE—tF—H—H - 350,772 61,180 411,952
RERSRE (M) (20,160) 3,168 - (16,992)
FMEEFH)
HNERE - 4,685 - 4,685
FERX - 8,803 - 8,803
BREDIKZIKE 20,160 - - 20,160
RZFE—tF+_HA=+—H - 367,428 61,180 428,608
RERSRE (M) (44,352) 190,946 9,012 155,606
FREH)
HNERE - 25,195 - 25,195
FERX - 14,763 - 14,763
BREDIKZIKE 44,352 - - 44,352
RZE—-—NF+=ZA=+—8H - 598,332 70,192 668,524

T

—E-NEEH

RITREMEEREREREEFARERERTRITLEMEEMSRBARER RS L -



MREEERA N A

ArRA R R A

R-ZZE—HFNA FEBEWBLRFE % —EBBUE= ([FP)FITHEANURNTFPHEELERREBFFG
WerkeE’U,%u%CNCIE:%(FIE%J) R-ZZE-—RF+A #AR MMNRKEEEPRI TH A BULMMNAE
HABHRZFALAER - RAFNARIZAR TMERE N 2 BN BERE -MBABNR _T—tFEXELET
B EE

HigRPREERY PO TAK EEHANMBEREEERTH KRE THIEEREZPETHE &7
HASAIE IR A Tfli%zg\%iﬂﬁﬁa‘ BEBTPRALZEERBRARERIBLFR EA: —N\ENA=+—8"
ZHERBARERIELEFINEP 2 —BH R EFHERFEAASERELETAR MAEBERNEFX
IR K BB € 25 AR %161,020,0007T °

RZZE-N\E+A TEERGSARERRE EF ([ZF]) BEZGAVBRRELERSR  —FNEETFH -

BT /\F+ZA=1T—8 ARRITKRABEFRANECBA BRRITRE T MMNEKERTERARE
54,087,0007C ©

REBBIUTBARBEROEZERRRERNFDMRL ARBEFCHE ﬁZé%ﬂ’Eﬁ?%%ﬁ%ﬁVi\%ﬁ

AAR¥100,903,0007C - HERGE P BARRBRPHERS RRBE] YRGS MR RER TR [FFARRE
1 FHEB BRORSF AN TR B R BB ARY60,117,0007T » kiR Bam L E @iﬁﬂﬁm%qﬂﬁlJ%Fﬁ{ﬁﬁﬂﬁa

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH




ARE I EERA N AT

37 HEIE
(a) BEAREIE
—B-N\F —B—tF
AR T T AREFIT
RTIEBERIA BERREEUERERBHENEARST L
— BB ER 53,134 2,615
(b) KEHEEERE
AEFEZERBA
—E-N\EF —E—+tF
ARETx ARET T
FRARBEZHEEI®ERSE 8,232 8,606

RBEBH AEEARRBEIAIRE2EEHEMHEZRAEXNZARKRKEESIT

—E-N\E —TE—tF

ARETx ARET T

—FR 4,764 4,838
—FEBLAAFR 1,481 2,339
6,245 7,177

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH




MREEERA N A

3B.EXEREE

AEBEEEEANERASEANERIEANSELERLLELE YEBB(CEB B FEHERBRE
B AEENEEREEBEFREFIE -

FEENEAEBEEEH IR (BEERMENREZRTRAEMER (HBERERREEFEY) ) RARFERE
B ARG (BREERA BROEELEE)

ARRESTEHRNEAER - EREEHZ —R ARRESFHE TR MK E BR KBRS B RESKREM

RENFREERE -ARBEFTEREARANEZBERNEARBZER - ARREEME B MIE - BITHRND
N RERKERNRAEEBAFHEERRERER-

9. €@ ITHE

a. SEIAE3H

—E-N\EF —E—+F
AR®BT T ARET T

THEE
AT E AR A E IS 2 U FRIE 106,400 -
BAFEFABRZZSREBE 108,020 -
IR - 76,140
ERRERZE (REREMRESEED) - 753,530
BEHENAGE eREE (REReMBESED) 670,927 -
885,347 829,670

THEE
BEHENAFTEZERMAE 830,667 669,191

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH




ARE I EERA N AT

9. €/ ITE#)
b. HEEAKMESEEERKE

AEEFZeRTARRRATEF A B emEE BRI BREN HEMEIKRFHIE -&A 3F1E
FIAH A2 E WS 2 FEUEIE - RN 5 (RIEREERAR REMB AT REERAFTNEE A
EERE BEQARR—ABEARNMEBAR) KIE REMRITERRBITES RITEKRR S féf%ﬂg
MNEFREMENREARBITEEMEE -FRSHITANFBINSHENZY ARSI AEERA

REReiEEYRER EERBREKABDESRR EENNTELERROBREN T -BEEETERERI
Lk LATRIR S B U BUE & it o

SHE R R
AEBEIZEEET ETMRTEAARBEL ZIMNERR - WWIMNERBRAARARIERFAEHREERE

T ABRDEEBEARBIINZEBIEMEL -AREFEBE s AR BHINERRFREEELINER
G o I S E SMNE R R TT O

REBE_T— }\¢+ A=+—BHLEE AEEEEFEP1482% (ZT—+F:19.12% ) RAKBERERE
H#)6.56% —tF:2407%) AETHEZHBEEEERNEEB N ERFHE LI ARFZH
EAEE@EHEWEAﬂ?ﬁﬁL/(?‘\ﬁgﬁJFTEZ%.WL\mﬁaﬁfﬁﬁ%’EDT/7\$%Eﬁﬁg‘\lﬁ@ﬁﬁ"

REBRERAR AEEUEBEEERIEERE I 2 ERHECEREENERABEREENT
&E aE

—E-N\#F —E—tF —2-N\F —E—-t#F
ARMT R ARBTT ARBT ARBTTT

ETT 110,083 291,161 35,226 36,206
BT 156,683 118,890 97,767 41,399
BT 307,125 94,087 7,598 7,065

AEE BRI E B EERINEERBOR - RRAAEREEEBR S ARESNERREMN AEEG N L ERFE
B R E RN [ o

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH




MREEERA N A

9. @ T Hm)

b.

MERREEEERKE (4)
HERB ()
BUEE ST

TRANAEEHHEEEERINEER L ARINEHER E AR GURE - B APIRAS%IERERE - b))
EREMIINEERMRELANASEED BRESMELERRAUIMNEGTENERIER YN REHRRR
HNEEBE R BN S % B R E

TENER(RB)XAZHRBEEEERYEEBE LEMINENER EABRBZENE N Ol D) RERHR
BRI - ZHEEEERIEERNERTER%N  SHFAKRNE (BB ENEXNSERERRY
TE-

FAKRBIEZ (BE) BT
—E-N\F ZT—+F
AR®T ARBFTT
ETT 3,127 10,644
BT 2,461 3,235
BT 12,510 3,633

BESN - # ARHE H 4R A 50N 78 38 <7 o B U AR A O 91 BE B AR R BOE AR

ARREERR GQUERENTATRKRE B HMNE R - FRE S RE R AR 4 RIRE R E R

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH




ARE I EERA N AT

9. €/ ITE#)
b. BEEARESEEERKE (&)
FIERB

AEBMESH 2 A FERERRER ST BRTERER (FBHLHME24) - ANEE B g BT F
HhBR - AEEEEESERBEEALEERASEEENRAR WHESERZEH S XER-

AEBTHFBRITEE REERTERLBITER AXRSRENXE R

AEEReRAEMEEONERRFBENAMIABDECRRERE -

BUBED BT
T SUBE ST D ER R AT BRI £ RTEHTEE DI BRRBE AR 2 B ES PR E(E

FENDAEEMRR BRAFBHNERRITEEBMA 2S0EER (ZF—HF 50@EH) 2 EFAKTH®RIIRRK
EEBHNRGEMREEL 2 - XRFBITERERITERTEAAGRESN RARARTES
RERFHNEZRGRITERLIBITESMARAELE RS REN TR BEM -

WERMIBRIRRITEE 2R E LA THSOEER (ZF— 4 :50EEM) BEMESHHTE AEH

RBE_Z—\F+A=T—HIEFEZHRBEBERKEMN R ARK2394,000T (ZF—+F: FAK
B 18 5 F G R D18 I A R #61,562,0007T )

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH




MREEERA N A

39. ¢ T H (&)

b.

BHEAREEERREEK (&)
At E%ELRE

AEEARERGEBUETFARRAFEFABRSNEREENEHEMERRR ARREFRA AEEE
FEREMERARREGRESN REAFREEHKELE EHAKEFAKRKRE (BR)ENZZEB
R e

FE R R E T
RZFB-NF+ZA=1+—H HRZBEPREFIRERSHCERCREERTHERT AREEEN
SAEERRBEAMERARAMIIZEEENREE-

REEREEERR AEEEEECEZTHAEBETETESRE EEARNEREEER  BARRKIR
BRAETSHAREEIEE - N AREREARAYBRELENFIRRZBHEEHERN (ZF—1F:
EEABEER) HEHNAENRBEENESERATREN G -RUME ARATNEETRR/AEENE
B R AR

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH




ARE I EERA N AT

9. 2@MI A (@)
b. MEAREERERKE (&)
0098 A-Lid-Ae )]
IR BB R E B 05 th K E BT A F B (=B /RR

REABBHMBREENFRR R XM EERRRBEEREMERERIN NEEEEMBXRE
ZRREMEREEREMALELRREERENER (EFRUERRANEERIN) U BB T
RBUREERRAESEZEN - HEERARBEEN A&EKRE2H (MET @A) NEREEEETE
iR

HRESREERRANEEN S ARERMEEVMBREEN RN 2B ETELHRAGEEEEZE
?E%1%°$Elﬁ?kﬂﬁikiiﬁ%&ﬁﬁ HENEBAETERTER SEAEEDENBEERETE
BHE-AERIEMS ARENARIZERIGEPRERL RESZEEPIHEERZHN/ R
PRk mRFAEA A RRESRIEA QEREEMERMNFENXRRR ST - EREEBHRDERRE
Tﬂ‘%)\ﬁ’]LELZ’JaEﬁ‘ﬁﬁi@ﬁ BSHNBEEEBRLHE BBALEMETENBEBRERRARNRE B
W MIERRBEERAEFAME S -

AEBEAENBRESABARBEMBRE BEBERKONAIE 2R (FINEBAEXSFRICEAR
ERRF)MEESREEAREREE-

REAREREFERR AEEELZTHKLERZE ST RERASENGERRSER  URBEELHR
FAA*iﬁ {T}jigo

EEMEER BB ARERN (WA ES) MEEIESEREMNBERAT KEEEZBERERE

MARMBERRARENEERSCHHETERP REMEBALTIR AEENERLRERXSHF
T EEFRBERFESEE UK ERRSNEEN BELIENISHFTT-

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH




MREEERA N A

9. €/ ITE (@®)

b. MEEARESEEERKE (&)
EEEB R ()
ST B 5 BT 3 25 2 B 0% 1 7K 2 B R S (S B (48)
LRI RANEE (&)
BE-T—\E+-_A=+—ALEE D& EARNK220,752,0007T H FE U EE ZEH2 R E RS AR
47,161,0007F * E AR A R#15,195,0007T JhAR 15 B 5B VE E » 5 A R #31,966,0007T BIl 2 18 Bl B 5T o
THRHENGFEBERRANEELN BB BRI EN RSN
R-ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—H

MHZ30K 31E60K 61E90X 91E180% 180K KA £ mct
AREFT AREFR ARETL AREFT AREFT AREFR

METHBEHEEEEER 0.23% 1.49% 1.89% 1.64% 47.24% 10.13%
REELES 111,960 537 1,375 4752 31,371 149,995
2HBEHEEER (262) ®) (26) (78) (14,821) (15,195)

111,698 529 1,349 4,674 16,550 134,800

BEFERERDRBERUESNERFHRACELBREZOETMMAE AR BBENETBERARS AT REF
ZAEEEREL R - A REE REHAED WA ERERR ZHBER RS-

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH




r—_Ll
o=

9. E/MITE (®)

B BIRA N AT

b. MBEEMEERERKEK (&)

=B/ B K 6l 18 P 1 (AR

IR BB IR EER|FEOW L AL BPTAZHIZEER (&)

TRV AEBEEHESRUERA R ENEENINEREENEERRD

bl

JE#)

5

55

REBKREZERERLE —F

eL:
BRMBBERIES SNSRI EARL KBS L
FAYWEHRANSBEE (BAE—HR)

AN ERREERRBEE LAY EEERERN
TREE (BRE _KR)

ERLRUTRMEERITRRREREER TN T E
M—ARZEEN AEHESREERTEREERE
(HRE=RKR)

FBRBENESARRREVBRE  MASEEER
Yool ey m] B

—\FFH

D ARHEZR

BRRAAMFEEBHRNKE

+ @ AEHEEEE

E2HMEHMEEEHR - RELE

ERE

2HEREERRE-CRARE

BRE

MEEHETE



MREEERA N A

9. EMIT R @
b. HBAKEEEEREE (&)
EEmBRAEFE (&)
RIR BB B SRR EOH e K E BT R F A= B R (&)
£ fth B UK T B 3R
BEMEKHRIER S A EECRAEBM SRS LN ERN—RITARN T A AEREE BRI EER
B FREEAARESENEERRL EEEEM-
BATFES AL IR RITAER BB RITERRBITRES R

RBERR BRAFEFAHEMEEREHORITALR RSN RITERRIRITERNERFIAC KETE RER
BoBRRGHFAFAEARFEENRITRNINBAENERRBEONERR AE  SEAFEFALMEE
Was O RITAERR  RBIMERITE R RBRITEBRMEREANEERRBRER -

71

& 5 BB Bt 05 R

REEAREEZEERAT REMBAR &EERAFBZBERT GLELE BEQTANL—HBHERF
ZHB AR FRREAELEE T $EIE%E¥W$ﬁ@%E EMEWET%EITEK Btk - 3f
EREABRRER-

mBELmE

REERDESRE AEEERLEFASIASFEVULRKREREERENEEERREARNAE
BEEMRESHKE URBRIRERERBD cFE - TREBEREAHEGHINNB 2R THHE K AKE
ZERAERAREHAERET AT

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH




ARE I EERA N AT

9. E/MITE (®)
b. MEEAKMEBEEERKE (&)

mBELEE (&)
BER KR
EES Reng
MEFIHE IR-F ZEIf B8R REAE

% ARET R N ARBTR ARBTR

RZE-NE+ZB=1-H

BoRNEFRREMENTE THEA 196,431 - 196,431 196,431
RITEE
;?EMIJ‘ 4 2.84% 579,246 - 579,246 563,239
Hife s 4.75% - 43,522 43,522 35,093
F’éﬁa—w [N T TER 638 - 638 638
EHERERDA TEA 2,832 - 2,832 2,832
ERAZHEL T&EWH& Tﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁé—fﬂ TE A 3,637 - 3,637 3,637
- Fiﬂﬁ%*gm& MBS L ANRBLRAZE TEA 28,435 - 28,435 28,435
ERABLERT TEA 362 - 362 362
811,581 43,522 855,103 830,667

R +F+-A=1—H

ECT LS VG TEA 250,632 - 250,632 250,632
ﬁﬁmﬁﬁ
—FER% 231% 376,316 - 376,316 367,428
ERSEEERD AR TEA 7,400 - 7,400 7,400
ERERE H&“‘ TER 2123 - 2123 2123
ERAZHEL T&rWﬂ&ﬂE@Hw%M ] TER 3673 - 3,673 3673
fE— Fiﬂ%ﬁ%m& BliA=gNa ol YN B TER 37,327 - 37327 37,327
EHAELERT TEA 608 - 608 608
HBERED TEA 102,405 - 102,405 -
780,484 - 780,484 669,191
WZEFEMESEEHEN S REPRETHFRGEFEE B EXEFHRZEHF X CHEGHME

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH




MREEERA N A

9. ¢/ T A (@)
¢ SMIEZAVHEINE
AW R EAEE BT S A REERCRBBEATEZER -

ARBEERR NEAMBHIRARLEBERANIRceREELERABRAARARFERE -ZFQF
BENREBEAREERAEZURESRESNET

FEEREREELNFHETEZTHBEELFE

SHRE A% APERS  GERARIERANE EXTTREBARS
S e
+=A=+-8 +=A=+-R
BATEHALLL BAFHETA - ETH ERURRARELEGHOENR Tam
SEMEZEY R AN ENEE ANEHRLRENRE
B AR #106,400,0007
EHER - BREER EZR GAREROREIEGRONSR RARMKEE
AR H76,1400007 BHROEERDENERRRE

ENENRE (H2)

BRAFEFA FLTERERR - E=H RREFRERBZEGRERFR REBILEE
B ERAE EREER: BHZMBAERGHELRRE
AK1%108,020,0007 ENENRE. (Hit)

Hrat ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬁ:ﬂﬂﬂﬂl s RGBT ERERREBEERZATEFERD RZTFA-ARFELTERER
SR IETERRE AR RIE $’Aﬂ%$w2\%'*EE—%IEE’\J%E/EJH&Zﬁﬁ$§)§§ﬂ¥¢ﬁ@¥@ﬂ’]$ﬁ%l?\éﬁ'Jttﬂﬁ?ﬁi
5 iﬂfcﬁ@i”zft*"ﬁ o

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH




ARE I EERA N AT

9. @ ITE (@)
c. LWMIBZAVENE (&)
EIRAFEHEZHE

AEERAFEAAEBRZEREEDNBEATER=ZBR - ZZF QA TEDNREBHERREMEEZET  AaHK
KESRECRRREEEEBREEEMNRERAEEAE -

BROFE
SFAE®HZ
TREE
ARET T
R-Z—+F+-_A=+—8H _
RABBY B REENFESREENTE 76,140
RZE—NF— A —HWEABER 76,140
BREE 539,680
w“E (507,800)
R-_ZE—NF+_-_F=+—H 108,020

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH




MREEERA N A

40. BEALIRS

BRSSPI EEE SN AEBNFATREBEALETUTRS:

@ X3
NGRS B% RHEME —EB-N\F —E-tF
ARBT T ARETF T
REZER R A
RRER R AT HEEm 711 191
REEM 19,764 21,830
BERB - 9,802
EEZRAE
REEX(FB)ERAR HEERAH REEM 57,811 46,945
(TREEEXEE])
FEMELARBRIZR A ZHERF
Equiptop Hitech Corp. EES ) =PNE] HEEM - 1,420
WE (LB BRREBRAE RRMBAF REEM 1,463 -
al
SANCO Machine & Tools R & i & A RESEMm - 8,654
Co., Ltd. ([SANCO J)
REEBFRODER LA REERRARIZBERT] HEEM 2 3

(TR#&))

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH




ARE I EERA N AT

40. EALTRF (88)

() X5 (#&)

INCIES A& REHUE —E-N\F —E-—+F
ARETR ARETT
MMNEZSNEBERAR REERARZEEAR RESR 113 1,519
(TREEmR])
RAER 1,322 1,027
el A 68 3
FFG DMC Co.,Ltd. RIERARIZHEBAR RESER - 3,757
BELE
AIF BENE HEEMm 43 8
RESR 132 483
BERS 1 10
R R 1,213 1,273
HelA 55 35
Hangzhou Feeler Mectron A& % RHER 2,802 710
Machinery Co., Ltd.
([Feeler Mectron J) RERS 198 143
HelA 53 34

REBKZERERL A

—E-N\FFEH



MREEERA N A

40. EALTRF (#8)
@ X5 (#)

ALET 2fES RHME —E-N\F —E-tF
ARBTR ARBTT

Hangzhou Nippon Cable ~ A& BERS 68 63
Feeler Corporation
(TNippon Cable AR 20 21
Feeler |)
el A 8 6
Hangzhou Union Friend RERR HEEm 10 15
Machinery Co., Ltd
(TUFM J) RESEM 2,298 1,556
R MR 62 31
FEKA 20 23
BELGR—BHBEELGZHBAA
FFG Werke /NS KEEM 3,511 219,966
Jobs Automazione AEB—FEBHERFZ FEEm - 44,450
S.p.A. ([Jobs ) LN
SMS Holding Co.,Inc. AEE-fABERAF  HEEML 6 12
oG]

@ LREEXSWNEGERDBEARTESEEA LT INERBERE -

(o)  FEBUATHIRIRET AT HE 19 5E 2 1R BRUER

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH




ARE I EERA N AT

40. EALTRF (88)

(b) #&R
NGIE R REME —E-N\EF —E—+F
AR¥T T ARETFIT
RARERA A
ReE% BRI A ) B 5 EMERR (510) (1,460)
(Kiatm))
BN - 1,053
(HFE®))
H b e BR - (5,812)
(Kiatm))
FE R (128) (128)
(HFE®))
JIE U % 4845 A% X R RO - 1,053
JEAT AR YRR A B 5008 (638) (7,400)
RARER A A
REEEERE HEEZERAR B SRR (2,832) (2,123)
(Hiat®b))
[HEMBRERREEZERAGZHE R
MMNEEREBRRAE RRMEBAF H 5 R ERR - 1
(Miat(a))
EQUIPTOP HITECH EEYNENS B S EMNER (144) (144)
CORP. (Hatm))
B UL (124) (124)
(Hiat®b))

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH




40. BEALTRS (&)

(b)

MREEERA N A

ek (E)
NGIER R REME —E-N\F —E—+F
AR®T T AREFIT
B (BF) #m G RREWNER A B - 734
BRAA (HteEm))
SANCO EEXEINE] B S5 EMNERR (3,253) (3,405)
(Hiatm))
K SRR AR Z B 5 EWERR 1 2
R l/NC] (H15#@E))
SN SeeS iGN I E fh E UT BR X 22 32
B 22N &) (Kiatm))
R - 39
(HteEm))
FFG DMC CO., LTD ISR RN B 2 K - 668
B B A 7 (Kiatm))
FEUR (116) -
(Kiatm))
A EE NI NEINS S 8 2 NG 1 /NC Bl 23 1,476
R R B A B s £ A B 2 B & R BIFE (3,637) (3,673)

REEBEZERERAA —F

—NFFH




= A\

M HRAN T

/|‘/7T E 7

40. EALTRF (88)

(b)

REBKZERERL A

REER ()

DA ERE

2RES

REMHE

—B-NF
ARMT R

—E—+tF
AREF T

BELFE

AlF

Feeler Mectron

UFM

Nippon Cable Feeler

e & & b EFRIA
e & & ¥R

p
S
>
HE

)
LIS
>
e

)
S
>
i

BELE

—E-NFFHR

B 5 MW AR K
(Htit(a))

Ho A FE U R K
(Htit b))

B HREMRR
(HiaE®))

Hfth & W BR 5K
(Htit b))

Ho A FE A AR K
(HiaE®))

Bx
(Kt ®))

B 5 EMERR
(Htat b))

BB REMRR
(Htit b))

Hfth 8 Y B K
(Htat b))

B 5 YRR
(Htit(a))

HoAh YR K
(HiaE®))

127

(42)

(33)

(287)

319

461
(362)

114

(191

22

98

(116)

(297)

612

852
(608)



40. BEALTRS (&)

(b)

MREEERA N A

ek (&)
NEBRE R REME —E-N\F —E—+F
AR®T T AREF T
BENGR—BBELGZHBLT
FFG Werke i B/NE] K 1,357 1,357
(Kiatm))
B SRR (24,679) (33,341)
(Kiatm))
Hoth i BR X 386 904
(Kiatm))
EER 20,978 41,473
(Hiatm))
FFG Europe /NG| E fth 8 UBR R 766 766
(HteEm))
REE R 36,089 16,505
(Hat(c))
FFG EA i R/NE] H i B U BR 3R 54,791 26,063
(Kiatm))
Grinding technology S.rl - AEE—fHtE N F 2 HAiEKERR 9,463 -
W E R A (Kiatm))
Jobs AEFE-—fHBE ARz EMEWERR 17,333 21,393
WE R A (K1iz(c))
B 5 EMNERR (2,844) (3,075)
(Hiatm))
H b T BRI (912) 911)
(Kiatm)) )
B - 737
(Hietm))
KEFABZERERATG —Z—/\FEFEH




ARE I EERA N AT

40. EALTRF (88)
(b) %tk (&)

DA ERE 2RES XEME —B-N\F —E—+tF
AR®F T ARBETTT

MAG AEB—[EBHEQRz HEMEKERR 575 575
[{oy =N (K1a£m))

SMS HOLDING CO.,INC. A&=E— F’ﬁ ,Fg__:/ Az BSEUEER - 4
BB A (K7at(a))

Sky Thrive Rambaudi S.rl N&EE—fHE A F 2 HEiEWER 3,239 3,234
[{oy =N (K1:E(c))

EE R 6,082 6,072
(Hatc))

Ul E AR R—EEE AR 2B A FKIE 151,059 119,083

B —EEE AR R — R E AR 2B R RFIE (28,435) (37,327)

Biat -

@ HMERRMERR HEERATDREABERRARBERRZHBERRETNHEN S  ARE—RETHEESR
ROOR - EHRRBEERL RS R -T2 N\FR-ZT—tEF+-A=1+—8 LIERNEERL BAET EA
7] o

(b) MEHRAEER RENRARBRER

W\E
o

(0 HHA/MEIEM 2ERARERER KRR EQE R E QR ZMER R HM BRI A RS
RITEIMM B EE-

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH




MREEERA N A

40. EALTR S (&)

(c)

FEEE ASRMH

FR BERHEMTIEERASNBESMNT

—E-N\F B

ARETR ARETIT

Fre Lah 2,090 2,656
15 R IRABEIEAL 1,427 1,347
BRIREFIFT IR 57 107
3,574 4,110

M. HREE
BAGAMBBRREGBIFAREEN FEERBERREATRARE:

RZE-—RFNANAZTHEB KRRAFFG Werkefd —KR1T ([ZIRIT]) I Hhad - Bt ZWITLHFE—ER
% %8 & = /450,000,0008 7T (#8E 7 A R #365,340,0007T ) Z B & + LA AR A B RFFG Werke#t leﬁljﬂﬂﬁ
’IIHZK FINMFFG Werke & BEH S — AR BMEBE NEAZBEFEE - FFG Werkel? —ZE —tFEHEE

ZEMBEBETHNERE RZE—\GUBEMNEBELH -

R-T—+F N RELAZAREE A AR34,000,0007T 2 ERERE  UEBER—FIETERAFFG Werke
REZAERSBZEEEE- N2 —tF+ZA=+—H " FFG WerkeB 12ElA ££4,000,0008% 7T (#HE A A
R #31,209,000) - REBE-T—N\F+_A=+—HIFE ZHERKEBHHEK-

RZE—+F N REL AR AKFEE A5,12500080 7T (4 A R#39,987,00007T) 2 ERERFE - UER—
RITHAIFFG EuropelRt 2 HES B2 EEBEE R _T—+tF+ - HA=1+—H ' FFG EuropeZ IEH A
5,125,0008% 7T (& K AR39,987,0007T) cREEZE T —NF+_A=1+—HIFE ZoERRIEEHHE
|§/‘%o

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH




ARE I EERA N AT

41. HAREE &)

4) RIZE—+F mMNERERBERAREE A4,060,0008 7T (4 A R#31,677,00070) 2 BERERE  UEFR—RIE
ﬁ%mwm%12ﬁfi$2@gﬁf'ﬁ_f +HE+-A=+—H MAGZIZELA 4,000,0008 7T (45
BN ARE3,209,000T)  REBZEZE-ZE— \F+-_A=Z+—"HIFE ZRERHCBEHER -

5 RIZZE—LFNA AAFREMAG IAS GmbH (MAGZ 2 &M B AR mE R = L & % 22,475,0008 7T (48
ERARE19311,0000) ZmBRE-RBE-FT-N\F+_A=1T—"HLEFE ZonERHEEHHR-

AEEEEERSLABEBZENRAREN URFWHERELZERABRARITEAAR T —LF L H

BREMEREE-
42. EEEKH

—E-N\#F —E—tF
ARET T ARETIT
TR EE 87,600 3,352
Y BB MR 7.763 8,428
R Hll14 SR 1T 17 30 15,900 32,716
111,263 44,496

AEBECEAEBNEERBAREFEAEEER Z —RROTEERERAEBEMEBEE ZER NEE 2R H
HRITEREZEASERRAERNREEE D RERMFRNRITOER -

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH




MREEERA N A

43. AR T BRI RE R

—E-N\F —E—+tF
ARETx ARETTT

ERBEE
R B RRIMKRE 52,837 52,837
NEEDEMNIRE 27,666 27,666
JiE U B /B A R FRIB 551,628 560,889

632,131 641,392
REBEE
B 5 N H b e Uk BR 3k N B AN FR0E 17,859 11,701
JEUEE &N R R — L QR Z M B AR FKIE 147,430 115,107
RITEHR MRS 39,615 9,521

204,904 136,329
REBAaE
H R RIBE R EFTE A 15,546 7,243
JEAST B /BB 2 R 5B 3,543 -
JE—REBE AR R — e RE 2B AR KA 2,513 3,657
JEAS B S5 i A B FRIE - 5,812
IRITIEE 550,454 367,428

572,056 384,140
REBEEFHE (367,152) (247,811)
BEERRBAEE 264,979 393,581
BARRHE
fi& 7 4,022 4,022
f& 15 m (8 82,281 82,281
H b 7,973 7,973
REBEF 170,703 299,305
RS 264,979 393,581

KRIEEBEZERERAT —ZF—/\FFiF MREY]




ARE I EERA N AT

A3. XN FHMBRRRER (&)
ARRABE-E—\E+-A=-+-ALEEIRESHNT:

IR A7 % 18 HivfdE RERR o
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

RZE—+F—H—H 82,281 7,973 420,515 510,769
FEREHMAZHALE - - (101,050) (101,050)
BREIRZKE - - (20,160) (20,160)
RZE—tF+-_A=+—H 82,281 7,973 299,305 389,559
EERZHERAZHEHE - - (84,250) (84,250)
BRAEDRZEE - - (44,352) (44,352)
R-ZE—N\F+-_A=+—H 82,281 7,973 170,703 260,957

KEEBRERERLZE —F—FFH




e e
REHEE

HE+-_A=+T—HILFE

LEREORE

—T—mFE ZE-—HF ZE—XF ZE—tF ZZE-NEF

ARETIT ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®TR
g 1,300,119 990,239 1,082,336 1,294,801 1,090,693
E7 344,894 267,925 295,151 312,515 290,727
BTSSR AE S (E518) 125,071 55,952 87,650 85,066 (42,730)
AQTAEZFEAEGR (EBE) 101,313 46,097 60,749 65,690 (57,724)
BREF (HE) —EX

(AR#T) 0.25 0.11 0.15 0.16 (0.14)

EEHEE
R+-_A=+—8H

—E—UF —E—RHF —E—RF —E—+F —E-N\EF

ARETFTT ARETT ARETT ARETFT AR¥Tx
IERBEE 309,492 589,531 743,761 703,361 706,420
MEEEFE 433,321 154,908 121,487 185,223 115,271
ERBEE (16,118) - (61,180) (61,180) (105,285)
EEFE 726,695 744,439 804,068 827,404 716,406
% 7 4,022 4,022 4,022 4,022 4,022
e 722,673 740,417 800,046 823,382 712,384
PREER 726,695 744,439 804,068 827,404 716,406

KEABRERER 2 —F—/\FFH




M B A



uOOﬁ FRIEND INTERNATION \L HOLDINGS INC,
tad 'z ,y\l 0, ) =
1 L fl?/,‘i BIR TRAT

Stock Code: 2398

ANNUAL
REPORT

2018




Contents

Corporate Information 2

Financial Highlights 4

Chairman'’s Statement 6

Management Discussion and Analysis 10

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management 14
Report of the Directors 17

Corporate Governance Report 31

Environmental, Social and Governance Report 48
Independent Auditor’'s Report 74

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 80
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 81
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 83
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 85

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 86

Five-Year Financial Summary 190

GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC.  Annual Report 2018




Corporate Information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

CHU Chih-Yaung
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
CHEN Min-Ho
WEN Chi-Tang
CHIU Rung-Hsien

Independent Non-Executive Directors

KOO Fook Sun, Louis
CHIANG Chun-Te
YU Yu-Tang

COMPANY SECRETARY

LO Tai On

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

CHU Chih-Yaung
CHIU Rung-Hsien

LEGAL ADVISERS
AS TO HONG KONG LAW

Woo Kwan Lee & Lo

AUDIT COMMITTEE

KOO Fook Sun, Louis (Chairman of the Committee)
CHIANG Chun-Te
YU Yu-Tang

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

KOO Fook Sun, Louis (Chairman of the Committee)
CHIANG Chun-Te
YU Yu-Tang

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

KOO Fook Sun, Louis (Chairman of the Committee)
CHIANG Chun-Te
YU Yu-Tang

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC.  Annual Report 2018



PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN HONG KONG

Room 2003, 20th Floor

Kai Tak Commercial Building
317-319 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN THE PRC

No. 120 Shixin North Road

Xiaoshan Economic and Technological
Development Zone

Xiaoshan District

Hangzhou City

Zhejiang Province

The PRC

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company
(Cayman) Limited

4th Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

Corporate Information

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen's Road East

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China

Cathay United Bank

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
KGI Bank

Mega International Commercial Bank
Taiwan Shin Kong Commercial Bank
Bank SinoPac

Bangkok Bank

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Limited

STOCK CODE

2398

WEBSITE

http://www.goodfriend.hk

GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC.  Annual Report 2018




Financial Highlights

REVENUE (RMB'000)

005 [ e
2006 [ s

N
R

I Revenue

(LOSS) PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY (RMB'000)

2015 o wm

2016 L am

o s

2018 s e

owners

BUSINESS SEGMENTS (in terms of revenue)

2017 2018
® Forklift trucks
® Parking garage structures
® Machine Tools

GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC.  Annual Report 2018




Financial Highlights

TWO-YEAR COMPARISON OF FINANCIAL FIGURES

For the year ended 31 December

2018 2017 Change
RMB'000 RMB'000 (%)
Revenue 1,090,693 1,294,801 (15.8)%
Gross profit 290,727 312,515 (7.00%
(Loss) Profit attributable to owners (57,724) 65,690 (187.9)%
Shareholders’ equity 716,406 827,404 (13.4)%
Total assets 2,210,864 1,973,494 12.0%
(Loss) Earnings per share — basic (RMB) (0.14) 0.16 (187.5)%
SUMMARY OF KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS
For the year ended 31 December
Change
2018 2017 (%)
Gross profit margin et ’ 26.7% 24.1% 10.8%
Net (loss) profit margin Noe? (5.3)% 5.1% (203.9%
Inventory turnover days "3 239.4 128.4 86.4%
Debtors’ turnover days "ot # 92.7 134.6 (31.1)%
Creditors’ turnover days Mot¢® 74.8 73 2.5%
Current ratio (Times) Noteé 1.1 1.2 (8.3)%
Quick ratio (Times) Vete” 0.7 0.9 (22.2)%
Gearing ratio (%) Voeé 25.5% 18.6% 37.1%
Return on equity (%) Vo ? (8.1)% 7.9% (202.5%

Note 1: Gross profit margin is calculated as gross profit divided by revenue.

Note 2: Net (loss) profit margin is calculated as (loss) profit attributable to owners divided by revenue.

Note 3: Inventory turnover days is calculated as the ending inventory divided by cost of revenue and multiplied by 365
days.

Note 4: Debtors’ turnover days is calculated as the ending trade debtors divided by revenue and multiplied by 365 days.

Note 5: Creditors’ turnover days is calculated as the ending trade creditors divided by cost of revenue and multiplied by
365 days.

Note é6: Current ratio is calculated as total current assets divided by total current liabilities at the end of the corresponding
year. The numbers in the above table are expressed in the form of ratio and not as a percentage.

Note 7: Quick ratio is calculated as total current assets excluding inventories divided by total current liabilities at the
end of the corresponding year. The numbers in the above table are expressed in the form of ratio and not as a
percentage.

Note 8: Gearing ratio is calculated as total debts divided by total assets at the end of the year. Total debts refer to total
interest bearing liabilities at the end of the year.

Note 9: Return on equity is calculated as (loss) profit attributable to owners divided by total shareholders’ equity at the
end of the corresponding year.
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Chairman’s Statement

| hereby present on behalf of the board (the
"Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) to the
shareholders the report on the results of Good
Friend International Holdings Inc. (the "Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the
"Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018 (the

“year").

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
recorded revenue of approximately RMB1,090.69
million, representing a decrease of approximately
15.8% compared to 2017. Loss attributable to
owners amounted to approximately RMB57.72
million was recorded in the current year; whilst in
2017 profit attributable to owners amounted to

approximately RMB65.69 million.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018
(2017: RMBO0.06 per ordinary share).

BUSINESS REVIEW

According to the economic data released by the
National Bureau of Statistics of China, China's
gross domestic product (GDP) grew by a year-on-
year rate of 6.6% in 2018, representing a generally
stable economic development in China. For the
year ended 31 December 2018, the Group's major
products CNC machine tools recorded satisfactory
results. Sales volume and sales revenue amounted
to 2,028 units and RMB928.34 million respectively.

Chairman’s Statement

PROSPECTS

China’s economy continued to sail on against
the wind. China remains as the growth engine to
the world economy, China is the largest machine
tools consuming country. It is anticipated that the
demand of machine tools from the industries of
high-speed railway, transit rails, aerospace, and
energy in China, especially demand of those high-
end CNC machine tools, would still be great. This
in turn will benefit the Group’s CNC machine tools
business. The Group will continue to explore and
sell those high-end CNC machine tools products
(production of such primarily from Italy and
Germany) to the customers. The management
believes that with its extensive sales network and
comprehensive after-sales service, solid business
foundation as well as outstanding product quality,
the Group is capable of meeting customers’
different needs and continue to strengthen its

market position.

Looking ahead, with the current complex economic
environment, the Group will continue to strengthen
its business foundation under a consistent cautious
manner under tough market environment, in order
to weather against the volatility and uncertainty of
the market condition ahead. The management is
optimistic on the long-term development prospects

of the Group.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

The management will also strive to control
operating costs for achieving better operating
results, in order to bring favorable returns to the

shareholders of the Company.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank all the
staff and management team for their hard work in
the past year. | would also like to express heartfelt

thanks to all of the customers and suppliers.

Chu Chih-Yaung
Chairman
Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
recorded revenue of approximately RMB1,090.69
million, representing a decrease of approximately
15.8% as compared to 2017. During the year, sales
volume of CNC machine tools, parking garage
structures and forklift trucks amounted to 2,028
units, 10,902 units and 999 units respectively (2017
comparative figures: 2,067 units, 13,727 units and
1,679 units). CNC machine tools remained the
major source of the Group's revenue. During the
year, sales revenue of CNC machine tools business
amounted to approximately RMB928.34 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 8.0%
as compared to 2017. Revenue of CNC machine
tools accounted for approximately 85.1% of the
Group's total revenue. On the other hand, sales
revenue of the Group's parking garage structures
business amounted to approximately RMB89.81
million during the year, representing a decrease
of approximately 51.8% as compared to 2017 and
accounted for approximately 8.2% of the total
revenue. Moreover, sales revenue of the Group's
forklift trucks business during the year decreased
by approximately 26.9%, as compared to 2017, to
approximately RMB72.54 million and approximately

6.7% of the Group's total revenue.

Gross profit and margin

For the year ended 31 December 2018, gross
profit of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB290.73 million. Overall gross profit margin was
approximately 26.7%, compared to 24.1% for 2017.
The gross profit margin of CNC machine tools (the
Group's major product) during the year increased to
approximately 28.4%. As a result, the overall gross
profit margin for the year increased compared to
2017.

Distribution and selling expenses

Distribution and selling expenses, amounted to
approximately RMB132.61 million for the year ended
31 December 2018, decreased by approximately
5.2% as compared to last year. During the year,
distribution and selling expenses as a percentage
of the Group's revenue amounted to approximately

12.2%, compared to approximately 10.8% for 2017.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31
December 2018 decreased by approximately 9.7%
as compared to 2017. This was mainly attributable to
the strengthen of the cost control measures by the

management.
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Other gains and losses

Other gains and losses represented mainly foreign

exchange loss.

Other expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2018, other
expenses comprised mainly of approximately
RMB60.12 million representing expected loss on
settlement of the litigation raised by a customer to

the Group's subsidiaries.

Moreover, the supplier (a connected party) of the
corresponding products has undertaken in March
2019 that it will make reimbursement to the Group
for the final loss on settlement of the litigation. This
compensation income will be accounted for by the

Group during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Finance costs

During the year, finance costs increased to
approximately RMB14.18 million. The increase
was primarily due to the increase of average bank
borrowings of the Group during 2018.

Share of loss of associates

For the year ended 31 December 2018, share of loss
of associates amounted to approximately RMB45.42
million. The amount represented the Group's
share of operating results of “FFG European and

American” (located in Germany) during the year.

Management Discussion and Analysis

Loss attributable to owners of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2018, loss
attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to approximately RMB57.72 million. For the year
ended 31 December 2017, profit attributable to
owners of the Company amounted to approximately
RMB65.69 million.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had net
current assets of approximately RMB115.27 million
(2017: RMB185.22 million), shareholders’ fund of
approximately RMB716.41 million (2017: RMB827.40
million) and short-term bank borrowings of
approximately RMB563.24 million (2017: RMB367.43
million). The Group's working capital was financed
by internal cash flows generated from its operation

and existing banking facilities.

Bank balances and cash as at 31 December 2018
amounted to approximately RMB112.67 million
(2017: RMB98.07 million). The current ratio (ratio of
total current assets to total current liabilities) of the
Group was approximately 1.1 times (2017: 1.2 times).
The gearing ratio (ratio of total debts to total assets)
was approximately 25.5% (2017: 18.6%), indicating
that the Group continued to maintain solid financial

position.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Capital structure and treasury policies

The share capital of the Company as at 31
December 2018 was HK$4,032,000 divided
into 403,200,000 shares of HK$0.01 each (at 31
December 2017: HK$4,032,000 divided into
403,200,000 shares of HK$0.01 each).

The Group generally finances its operations with
internally generated cash flows and loans facilities
provided by banks. As at 31 December 2018, the
total outstanding short-term borrowings stood at
approximately RMB563.24 million (2017: RMB367.43
million). Borrowing methods used by the Group
mainly include bank loans. The Group had no

interest rate hedging arrangement during the year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The Group had no significant investment held for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group had no material acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries or associates during the year ended
31 December 2018.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Details of segmental information for the year ended
31 December 2018 are set out in note 5B to the
consolidated financial statements.

Staff and remuneration policies

As at 31 December 2018, the Group employed
a total of 1,160 (2017: 1,240) full-time employees
in Hong Kong and China. The total staff costs
(including Directors’ fee and emoluments)
amounted to approximately RMB152.51 million
(2017: RMB157.88 million). The salary review policies
of the Group are determined with reference to the
market trends, future plans and the performance
of individuals in various aspects and are reviewed

periodically.

The Company had adopted a share option scheme
for the purpose of providing incentive and rewards
to eligible participants for their contributions to the
Group. No share option was granted by the Group

since its adoption.

The employees of the Company's subsidiaries join a
state-managed social welfare scheme operated by
the local government of China and the employees in
Hong Kong participate in the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme. During the year ended 31 December
2018, the Group contributed approximately
RMB4.91 million (2017: RMB5.04 million) to the said

schemes.
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Capital commitments and contingencies

The Group's capital expenditure commitments
for property, plant and equipment amounted to
approximately RMB53.13 million (2017: RMB2.62
million) which are contracted but not provided in
the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018. The Group had no
material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2018 (2017: Nil).

Charges on the Group's assets

As at 31 December 2018, restricted bank deposits
and bank balances with an amount of approximately
RMB69.99 million (2017: RMB32.72 million)
represented mainly bank balances of approximately
RMB54.09 million being frozen by banks in relation
to a litigation claim raised by a customer.

Meanwhile, subsidiaries of the Company pledged
its land and buildings with an aggregate carrying
amount of approximately RMB95.36 million (2017:
RMB11.78 million) to secure general banking
facilities granted to them. As at 31 December
2018, the subsidiary has utilized such secured bank
facilities of approximately RMB35.09 million (2017:
Nil).

Management Discussion and Analysis

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no specific plan for material investments
and acquisition of material capital assets as at 31
December 2018. However, the Group will continue

to seek new business development opportunities.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in China. During the
year ended 31 December 2018, the Group collected
most of its revenue in Renminbi, some of which were
converted into foreign currencies such as Hong
Kong dollars, United States dollars, Euro and other
foreign currencies for the payment of imported
parts and components. As such, the Group had
a certain level of exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations. The Group had no hedging activities
during the year. However, the management of the
Group has been monitoring the exchange rate risk,
and will consider hedging against major foreign

currency risk when required.

Renminbi currently is not a freely convertible
currency. A portion of the Group's Renminbi
revenue or profit must be converted into other
currencies to meet foreign currency obligations
of the Group such as the payment of dividends, if

declared.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung (5RFEF L), aged 72, was
appointed as an executive Director in September
2005. He is the Chairman of the Board responsible
for the Group's overall strategic planning,
management, business development, and the
formulation of the Group’s corporate policies. He
was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company on 7 December 2018. Mr. Chu has
more than 30 years of experience in the mechanics,
manufacturing and machine tools industry. Mr.
Chu is also a director of Hangzhou Global Friend
Precision Machinery Co., Ltd. and Hangzhou Ever
Friend Precision Machinery Co., Ltd., both are
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Chen Min-Ho (BREASAISE4) , aged 68, was
appointed as an executive Director in December
2005. He is responsible for the overall business
operation of the Group. Mr. Chen has more than 15
years of experience in mechanics, manufacturing
and machine tools industry. He is also a director of
Hangzhou Good Friend Precision Machinery Co.,
Ltd., Rich Friend (Shanghai) Precision Machinery Co.,
Ltd., Hangzhou Glory Friend Machinery Technology
Co., Ltd and Huller Hille (Shanghai) Machinery Co.,
Ltd. He joined the Group in 1993.

Mr. Wen Chi-Tang GRS E % %), aged 54, was
appointed as an executive Director in December
2005. He was the vice general manager of machine
tools division of Hangzhou Good Friend Precision
Machinery Co., Ltd. and then was promoted as the
general manager with effect from 1 January 2011.
He is responsible for the production and operation
of this division. Mr. Wen has more than 33 years
of experience in the machine tools industry. He is
also a director of Hangzhou Good Friend Precision
Machinery Co., Ltd., Hangzhou Global Friend
Precision Machinery Co., Ltd., Hangzhou Ever Friend
Precision Machinery Co., Ltd. and Hangzhou Glory
Friend Machinery Technology Co., Ltd. He joined
the Group in 2003.

Mr. Chiu Rung-Hsien (BRERE %4 ), aged 61, was
appointed as an executive Director in December
2005. He was the manager of the parking garage
structures division of Hangzhou Good Friend
Precision Machinery Co., Ltd. and then was
promoted as the senior manager with effect from 1
January 2011. He is responsible for the production
and operation of this division. Mr. Chiu has more
than 34 years of experience in the mechanics and
manufacturing industry. He joined the Group in
2001.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis (BEfE & £ 4) , aged 62,
was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in December 2005 and is the chairman of
the audit committee, the remuneration committee
and the nomination committee of the Company. He
is the founder and managing director of Hercules
Capital Limited, a corporate finance advisory
firm. He has more than 20 years of experience in
investment banking and professional accounting.
Mr. Koo currently act as an independent non-
executive director of Li Ning Company Limited,
Xingda International Holdings Limited and Winfull
Group Holdings Limited, all of which are companies
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
He acted as an independent non-executive director
of Midland Holdings Limited, which is listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange until June 2017.
He is a certified public accountant.

Mr. Chiang Chun-Te I & 5% %) ,aged 58,
was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in December 2005. He is also a member
of the audit committee, the remuneration and the
nomination committee of the Company. He is the
director of Istra Corporation. He is the director of
Long Chen Paper Co., Ltd. He is also a director of
Chinatrust Commercial Bank.

From 2003 to February 2010, Mr. Chiang served
as the director of Premier Capital Management
Corp. and Premier Venture Capital Corp. From
2006 to June 2009, he served as the independent
director of Yin King Industrial Co., Ltd., which is
a listed company at over-the-counter market on
the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation. From
2009 to March 2012, he served as the independent
director of Feng Sheng Technology Co., Ltd. (listed
on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation). From
2011 to June 2013, he served as the independent
director of Swancor Ind. Co., Ltd. (listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation). From 2001
to December 2014, he served as the president and
general manager of PK Investment Corp. From 2000
to 18 June 2015, he served as the director of the
Importers and Exporters Association of Taipei. From
1995 to January 2018, he served as the president of
Istra Corporation.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Yu Yu-Tang (REE % %), aged 82, was
appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in December 2005 and is a member of the
audit committee. He was appointed as member of
the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee of the Company on 7 December 2018.
He was a consultant of the Taiwan Hsin Chu County
Government ( 8 /23T 8RBT ) and the Provincial

Government.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chiang Chia-Shin (8 R&ZE %4 ) , aged 60, was
appointed as the manufacturing, marketing and
after sales service manager of Hangzhou Global
Friend and is responsible for the manufacturing,
operating, marketing and after sales service of
forklifts trucks in Mainland China. Mr. Chiang
graduated from mechanical engineering
department of Taiwan Fushin Institute Technology
School (BB T HREHL) in 1979. He joined
the Group on 1 July 2000 and has over 33 years
of experience in the design, manufacturing and
production of the motor vehicle parts and forklifts

trucks.

Mr. Wu Li-Chen (R % %), aged 57, was
appointed as the manager of after sales services
division of machine tools of Hangzhou Good Friend
and then was promoted as the senior manager with
effect from January 2015. He joined the Group in
October 2000 and has over 34 years of experience

in the machine tools industry.

Mr. Lee Chung-Yi (Z={h#& £ %), aged 58,
was appointed as the vice general manager of
Hangzhou Good Friend and is responsible for the
general administrative and management functions.
Mr. Lee graduated from National Chengchi
University in 1982 with a degree in Business
Administration. Before he joined the Group in
November 2017, he worked in Xander International
Corp. from 1992 to 2015 and has over 34 years of
experience in the fields of auditing, accounting and

finance.

Mr. Yip Sai Keung, Esmond (E 5@ 5% 4 ), aged
53, was appointed as the financial controller of the
Company and is responsible for the finance and
accounting functions of the Group. Mr. Yip holds
a Bachelor of Social Sciences degree from the
University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Yip joined the
Group in November 2007 and has about 30 years
of experience in the fields of corporate finance,

auditing and accounting.
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Report of the Directors

The Board is pleased to submit their report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
design and production of CNC machine tools,
design and construction of three-dimensional
car parking garage structures and design and

assembling of forklift trucks.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018 is set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” from pages 6 to 9 and

pages 10to 13 respectively of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES FOCUSING THE
COMPANY

A description of possible risks and uncertainties
that the Group may be facing are set out in the
Chairman’s Statement on pages 6 to 9 of this annual
report. The financial risk management objectives
and policies of the Group are set out in note 39 to

the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group has strong commitment towards
environmental protection. It is the Group's policy
to encourage and promote awareness towards
environmental protection to our employees. It
has implemented green office practices such as
double-sided printing and copying, promoting
using recycled paper and reducing energy
consumption by switching off idle lightings and
electrical appliance in the Group's offices. Moreover,
the Group has been committed to operating in
compliance with applicable environmental laws and
regulations and has taken steps to ensure that any
waste and by-products produced as a result of its
operations are properly treated and discharged
so as to minimise the adverse effects to the

environment.

The management will review the Group's
environmental practices from time to time and will
consider implementing further ecology friendly
measures and practices in the operation to enhance

environmental protection and sustainability.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT
LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Directors are aware,
there was no material non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations by the Group that
has a significant impact on the Group's business and

operations.
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Report of the Directors

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH
EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Board recognises that our employees are
valuable assets contributing to the Group's
future success. The Group provides competitive
remuneration package to attract, motivate and
retain our employees. The Board also regularly
reviews the remuneration package of our employees
and makes necessary adjustments to conform to the

prevailing market practices.

The Board also treasures that maintaining good
relationship with our customers and suppliers is vital

to achieve the Group's long-term goals.

During the year, there was no significant dispute
between the Group companies and our business

partners.

IMPORTANT EVENT THAT HAVE
OCCURRED SINCE ENDING OF THE
FINANCIAL YEAR

There was no important event that has occurred
since the ending of the financial year and up to the
date of this report.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group's turnover and results by
business segments for the year ended 31 December
2018 is set out in note 5B to the consolidated

financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December
2018 and the state of affairs of the Group as at
that date are set out in the consolidated financial

statements on pages 80 to 189.

The Directors declared an interim dividend of
RMBO.05 (equivalent to approximately HK$0.0576)
per share to those shareholders whose names
appeared on the register of members on 5 October
2018, amounting to approximately RMB20.16 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$23.22 million)
which was paid on 25 October 2018.
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The Directors resolved not to recommend a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Company during
the year are set out in note 43 to the consolidated

financial statements.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2019 annual general meeting will be held
on Wednesday, 5 June 2019. Details of the 2019
annual general meeting, notice of annual general
meeting and proxy form are set out in the circular
of the Company dated 29 April 2019 which will be
despatched to shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) together with the 2018 annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group's property, plant
and equipment during the year are set out in note

14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company's share
capital for the year ended 31 December 2018 are
set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Report of the Directors

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings of the Group as at
31 December 2018 are set out in note 31 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and

as at the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chen Min-Ho
Mr. Wen Chi-Tang
Mr. Chiu Rung-Hsien
Mr. Chen Hsiang-Jung
(pass away on 8 November 2018)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis
Mr. Chiang Chun-Te
Mr. Yu Yu-Tang

In accordance with article 87(1) of the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles”), Messrs.
Wen Chi-Tang, Chiu Rung-Hsien and Koo Fook Sun,
Louis will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.
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Report of the Directors

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received from each of the
independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”). The
Company considers all independent non-executive

Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save for the share option scheme of the Company
adopted on 2 June 2016, at no time during the
year were the rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any Director or Chief Executive
of the Company or their respective spouses or
children under 18 years of age, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or were the Company, its
parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors to acquire such rights or benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures

of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a
service agreement dated 11 January 2018 with the
Company for a term of three years commencing
from 11 January 2018 and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party to the other
or in accordance with the provisions set out in the
respective service agreement. Each of the executive
Directors may receive a discretionary bonus, the
amount of which will be determined by reference
to the comments of the remuneration committee of

the Company.

A service agreement has been entered into
between each of the independent non-executive
Directors and the Company for a fixed term of 2
years commencing from 10 January 2018, and may
be terminated by not less than three months’ notice

in writing served by either party to the other.

None of the Directors who are proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

Reference is made to the relevant disclosures on
pages 94 to 106 and details on the deed of non-
competition on page 105 of the prospectus of
the Company dated 30 December 2005. As at
31 December 2018, none of the Directors and
their respective associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) had any interest in a business, which
competes or may compete with the business of the

Group in the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau.

Report of the Directors

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “Scheme”) on 2 June 2016, i.e. the date on
which the Scheme was adopted by resolution
of the Shareholders at general meeting (the
"Adoption Date”). The purpose of the Scheme is
to motivate eligible persons to optimise their future
contributions to the Group and/or to reward them
for their past contributions, to attract and retain
or otherwise maintain ongoing relationship with
such eligible persons who are significant to and/
or whose contributions are or will be beneficial to
the performance, growth or success of the Group,
and additionally in the case of executive (as defined
below), to enable the Group to attract and retain
individuals with experience and ability and/or to
reward them for their past contributions. Eligible
persons of the Scheme include the Company’s
executive directors, managers, or other employees
holding executive, managerial, supervisory or
similar positions in any member of the Group
("Executives”), directors or proposed directors
(including independent non-executive directors)
of any member of the Group, consultant of any
member of the Group, dependent of any of the
foregoing persons, and such other persons as
the Board may approve from time to time having
contributed to the Company or the Group.
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The principal terms of the Scheme are summarised

as follows:

(a)

The maximum number of the Company’s
shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the number of the Company’s shares in
issue as at the Adoption Date (which were
403,200,000 shares) unless shareholders’
approval has been obtained, and which must
not exceed 30% of the total number of the
Company's shares in issue from time to time
(or such other percentage as may be allowed

under the Listing Rules).

As at the date of this report, as no option
had been granted under the Scheme, the
Company had the capacity to grant options
to subscribe for a maximum of 40,320,000
shares in aggregate, which represents the total
unutilised mandate limit under the Scheme
and represents 10% of the issued shares of the
Company as at the Adoption Date and 10%
of the issued shares of the Company as at the

date of this report.

(b)
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The maximum number of shares of the
Company issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each eligible
person under the Scheme or any other share
option schemes adopted by the Company
(including both exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the total number of

issued shares of the Company.

The subscription price in respect of each
share of the Company issued pursuant to the
exercise of options granted under the Scheme
shall be determined by the Board and notified
to an eligible person at the time of the grant of
the options and shall be at least the highest of
(i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation
sheets on the date of the Board approving
the grant of option, which must be a business
day (“Date of Grant”); (i) the average closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the
Date of Grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the

Company's share on the Date of Grant.



(d)

The period within which the options must be
exercised will be specified by the Company at
the time of grant. This period must expire no
later than ten years from the relevant Date of
Grant. The Board may also provide restrictions
on the exercise of an option during the period

an option may be exercised.

The Scheme does not require a minimum
period for which an option must be held nor
a performance target which must be achieved

before an option can be exercised.

Upon acceptance of an option, the
grantee shall pay HK$1 to the Company as
consideration for the grant within 28 days from
the Date of Grant.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of ten years from the date of fulfilment
of the conditions precedent for the Scheme,
i.e. 2 June 2017.

No option has been granted since the adoption of

the Scheme.

Report of the Directors
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DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests or short positions of the Directors or chief executive in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance ("SFO")), as recorded in the register of the Company required
to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies ("Model Code”),

are set out below:

1(a). Long positions in shares, underling shares and debentures of the Company

Number Approximate

and class percentage of

Name of director Nature of interest of securities shareholding
Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung Corporate interest 20,000,000 shares 4.96%

Note: These 20,000,000 shares were beneficially owned by Sunward Gold Global Investments Limited, a company in
which Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung has an interest of approximately 72.22%.
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1(b). Aggregate long position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of associated corporations

of the Company

Name of Number and Approximate
associated Nature of class of percentage of
Name of Director corporations interest securities shareholdings
Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung Fair Friend Enterprise Company  Beneficial owner 15, 572,255 15.20%
Limited (“Taiwan FF") ordinary shares
Taiwan FF Spouse interest 2,585,926 2.52%
(Note 1) ordinary shares
Fair Fine (Hangzhou) Industrial Beneficial owner 750 0.03%
Co., Ltd. (Note 2) ordinary shares

Notes:

1. Ms. Wang Tz-Ti (formerly known as Wang Jin-Zu) (“Ms. Wang”), the spouse of Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung, held 2.52%
of the issued share capital of Taiwan FF. Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung was deemed to be interested in all the shares held

by Ms. Wang in Taiwan FF under the SFO.

2. Fair Fine (Hangzhou) Industrial Co., Ltd. is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of Taiwan FF and is therefore an

associated corporation of the Company for the purpose of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company

had any interest in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any associated

corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were recorded in the register required to

be kept under section 352 of the SFO or notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the

Model Code.
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2. Aggregate short position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its

associated corporations

As at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any short position
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations which were
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2018, the interests or short positions of every person, other than Director or chief
executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register

required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO are set out below:

Aggregate long position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

Approximate

Number of percentage of

ordinary shares the Company’s

Name of shareholder Nature of interest held issued share capital

Good Friend (H.K.) Corporation  Beneficial owner 232,000,000 shares 57.54%
Limited ("Hong Kong GF") (Note)

Taiwan FF Interest of controlled 232,208,000 shares 57.59%
corporation (Note)

Note: Hong Kong GF is owned as to approximately 99.99% by Taiwan FF. Accordingly, Taiwan FF was deemed to be
interested in 232,000,000 shares of the Company held by Hong Kong GF under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, no other parties were recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept

under section 336 of the SFO as having interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as at 31 December 2018.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules for securities
transaction by the Directors. Upon enquiry by the
Company, all Directors have confirmed that, for the
year ended 31 December 2018, they have complied
with the required standards set out in the Model
Code regarding securities transactions by the

Directors.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Company established a remuneration
committee for reviewing the Group's emolument
policy and structure for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Group,
having regard to the Group's operating results,
individual performance and comparable market

practices.

The Company had adopted a share option scheme
as incentive to Directors and eligible employees,
details of the Scheme are set out in the section

headed “Share Option Scheme” above.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and
the top five highest paid individuals of the Group
are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Report of the Directors

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details on related party transactions for the year
are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements. Details of any related party transactions
which also constitute connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions not fully
exempted under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules are
disclosed below. The Group has complied with the
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules in respect of such transactions.

Non-exempt continuing connected transaction(s)

1. As disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 26 May 2017 and the circular
of the Company dated 27 June 2017, the
Company had on 26 May 2017 entered into:
(a) a components agreement (the “"CKD
Components Agreement”) with Taiwan FF,
pursuant to which the Group (and/or its
permitted designates) (the “GF Parties”) will
supply CKD components to Taiwan FF and its
subsidiaries (and/or its permitted designates)
(the "FF Parties”) and the FF Parties will supply
CKD components to the GF Parties for a term
of three years from 13 July 2017; and (b) a
machine tools agreement (the “CNC Machine
Tools Agreement”) with Taiwan FF, pursuant
to which the GF Parties can purchase from
the FF Parties the designated CNC machine
tools and have the right to designated CNC
machine tools in the PRC, Hong Kong and
Macau Special Administrative Region (the
“Sales Region”) on an exclusive basis, and the
FF Parties will authorize the GF Parties to sell
designated CNC machine tools in the Sales
Region on an exclusive basis for a period of
three years from 13 July 2017.
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Report of the Directors

As Taiwan FF is the holding company of
Hong Kong GF, the controlling shareholder
of the Company, Taiwan FF is therefore a
connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules. The transactions under
the CKD Machine Tools Agreement and the
CNC Machine Tools Agreement respectively
constituted continuing connected transactions
of the Company, and are subject to the
reporting, announcement, independent
shareholders’ approval and annual review
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The resolutions approving the CKD
Components Agreement and the CNC
Machine Tools Agreement, the transactions
contemplated thereunder and the annual caps
thereof were duly passed by the independent
Shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 13 July 2017. The annual
caps for the supply of CKD components to
FF Parties by the GF Parties and the purchase
of CKD components from the FF Parties by
the GF Parties for the period from 1 January
2018 to 31 December 2018 under the CKD
Components Agreement were RMB3.36 million
and RMB98.21 million respectively and the
actual supply amount and purchase amount
of the period were RMB0.72 million and
RMB60.79 million respectively. The annual cap
for the purchase of CNC machine tools from
the FF Parties by the GF Parties for the period
from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018
under the CNC Machine Tools Agreement was
RMB596.85 million and the actual purchase
amount of the period was RMB20.3 million.
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The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the CKD Components Agreement
and the CNC Machine Tools Agreement and
the transactions thereunder conducted during
the year and confirmed that they have been

entered into, in all material respects:—

() in the ordinary and usual course of

business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) in accordance with the respective terms of
the CKD Components Agreement and the
CNC Machine Tools Agreement and on
terms that were fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Shareholders as a

whole.

The auditors of the Company has issued a
report of its factual findings to the Board
confirming the matters as required in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing

Rules.



PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under
the Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing

Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION
OF THE COMPANY'S LISTED
SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of the
Company's listed shares by the Company or any of
its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December
2018.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The five largest customers accounted for
approximately 13.75% of the Group's total turnover
for the year and the largest customer accounted
for approximately 6.34% of the Group's total
turnover. The five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 32.97% of the Group's total
purchases for the year and the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 18.58% of the Group's

total purchases.

None of the Directors or their associates has
interests in any of the aforesaid customers and

suppliers.

Report of the Directors

Save that Hong Kong GF was among the
aforesaid five largest suppliers of the Group,
to the knowledge of the Directors, none of
the shareholders owning more than 5% of the
Company's shares had any interest in the aforesaid
customers and suppliers of the Group during the

year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As far as the information publicly available to the
Company is concerned and to the best knowledge
of the Directors of the Company, at least 25% of
the Company's issued share capital were held by

members of the public as at the date of this report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provides that every Director shall be
indemnified out of the funds of the Company
against all liabilities incurred by him in relation
to the Company in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, in which judgement is
given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. In
addition, liability insurance for Directors and senior
management of the Company is maintained by the
Company with appropriate coverage for certain
legal actions against the Directors and senior

management.
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Report of the Directors

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Saved for the Scheme as disclosed in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” above, no equity-
linked agreements were entered into during the
year or subsisted at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

Save as those set out in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements, no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company,
its parent company, its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries were a party and in which a director
of the Company or his connected entities had
a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW
OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The Company established an audit committee (the
"Audit Committee”) with written terms of reference
in compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code. The duties of the Audit Committee includes
review and supervise the financial reporting process
and risk management and internal control systems
of the Group. The Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Koo Fook
Sun, Louis (as Chairman), Mr. Chiang Chun-Te and
Mr. Yu Yu-Tang. The Audit Committee has reviewed
with the management the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2018.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out on
pages 31 to 47.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out

on page 190.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018 have been audited by the auditor
of the Company, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu who
shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for

re-appointment at the 2019 annual general meeting.

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to re-
appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board
Good Friend International Holdings Inc.
Chu Chih-Yaung

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to maintaining good
corporate governance standard through a solid
and efficient framework to promote the integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to

enhance shareholders’ value.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has adopted its corporate
governance practices which are reproduced from
the code provisions in the Corporate Governance
Code (the "CG Code") as set out in Appendix 14
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”) and has
reviewed and updated regularly to follow the latest
practices in corporate governance. During the year
under review, the Company has complied with the
code provisions set out in the CG Code except for

the following deviation.

Code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code stipulates that
the chairman of the Board should attend the annual
general meeting. Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung, the Chairman
of the Board was unable to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 7 June
2018 due to his business trip and Mr. Chen Hsiang-
Jung, the then executive Director, took the chair of
the annual general meeting pursuant to the articles

of association of the Company ("Articles”).

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be
separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Mr. Chen Hsiang-Jung, the then
Chief Executive Officer and executive Director
of the Company was pass away on 8 November
2018. Mr. Chu Chih-Yaung, the Chairman of the
Board, was appointed as Chief Executive Officer
on 7 December 2018. Although these two roles are
performed by the same individual since 7 December
2018, certain responsibilities have been shared with
other executive directors to balance the power and
authority. In addition, all major decisions have been
made in consultation with members of the Board
as well as senior management. The Board has three
independent non-executive directors who offer
different independent perspectives. Therefore, the
Board is of the view that there is adequate balance
of power and safeguards in place. The Board would
review and monitor the situation on a regular basis
and would ensure that the present structure would

not impair the balance of power in the Company.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules for securities transactions by
the Directors. Upon enquiry by the Company, all
Directors have confirmed that, for the year ended
31 December 2018, they have complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code
regarding securities transactions by the Directors.
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Corporate Governance Report

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and
control of the Company and oversees the Group's
budget, significant policies and transactions,
financial results, businesses, strategic decisions and
performance. The management was delegated
the authority and responsibility by the Board for
the day-to-day management of the Group. In
addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the various board committees
referred to below. Further details of these

committees are set out in this report.

The Board currently comprises seven Directors with
four executive Directors and three independent

non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHU Chih-Yaung
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. CHEN Min-Ho
Mr. WEN Chi-Tang
Mr. CHIU Rung-Hsien

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. KOO Fook Sun, Louis
Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te
Mr. YU Yu-Tang

Such balanced board composition is formed
to ensure a strong independent objectivity
exists across the Board and has adhered to the
recommended practice under the CG Code for the
Board to have at least one-third of its members
comprising independent non-executive Directors.
The biographical information of the Directors is set
out on pages 14 to 16 under the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management”.

Directors have given sufficient time and attention
to the Group's affairs. The directors have disclosed
to the Company annually the number and the
nature of offices held in public companies or
organizations and other significant commitments.
The Board believes that the balance between
executive directors and independent non-executive
directors is reasonable and adequate to provide
sufficient balances that protect the interests of the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
and the Group.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Board, is in-charge of the
leadership of the Board and strategies planning
of the Group. The Chief Executive Officer of
the Company is responsible for the day-to-day

management of the Group's business.
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Mr. CHEN Hsiang-Jung , the then Chief Executive Officer
and Executive Director of the Company, was pass away on
8 November 2018. Mr. CHU Chih-Yaung, the Chairman of
the Board, was appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 7
December 2018.

The positions and roles of Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company have
been held and performed by same individual since 7
December 2018.

Independent non-executive Directors

The three Directors serving the non-executive
role are all independent and are appointed as the

independent non-executive Directors.

The three independent non-executive Directors
are persons of high caliber, with academic
and professional qualifications in the fields of
accounting and finance. With their experience
gained from various sectors, they provide strong
support towards the effective discharge of the
duties and responsibilities of the Board. Amongst
them, Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis has the appropriate
professional qualifications and accounting and
related financial management expertise required
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. Each
independent non-executive Director has provided
an annual confirmation of his independence to the
Company, and the Company considers each of them
to be independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing

Rules.

Corporate Governance Report

The three independent non-executive Directors are
appointed for a specific term of two years and are
subject to retirement by rotation, at least once every

three years, in accordance with the Articles.
Role of the Board

The Board decides on corporate strategies,
approves overall business plans and evaluates the
Group's financial performance and management.
Specific tasks that the Board delegates to the
Group's management include implementation
of strategies approved by Board, monitoring of
operating budgets, implementation of internal
controls procedures, and ensuring of compliance
with relevant statutory requirements and other rules,

laws and regulations.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is also responsible for performing the

corporate governance duties as set out below:—

1. develop and review the Company's policies
and practices on corporate governance and

make recommendations;

2. review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and

senior management;

3. review and monitor the Company's policies
and practices on compliance with legal and

regulatory requirements;

4. develop, review and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any)

applicable to employees and directors; and
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Corporate Governance Report

5. review the Company’s compliance with the
CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report under the Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules.

The Board had performed the above duties during
the year.

Directors’ training

Based on the training records provided to the
Company by the directors and the Company's
record, the directors participated in the following

training during 2018:

Directors Type of trainings

Executive Directors

CHU Chih-Yaung A B
CHEN Hsiang-Jung* A B
CHEN Min-Ho A B
WEN Chi-Tang A B
CHIU Rung-Hsien A, B

Independent Non-Executive Directors

KOO Fook Sun, Louis A B
CHIANG Chun-Te A B
YU Yu-Tang A B

A: attending seminars and/or conferences and/or

forums

B: reading information, newspapers, journals and
materials relating to responsibilities of directors,
economy, financial, investments and business of the
Company

*  Pass away on 8 November 2018

Frequency of Board Meetings and Attendance

Board meetings are held at least four times a year
and the Board meets as and when required. During
the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board
convened a total of four regular meetings and
the attendances of the Directors at these Board

meetings are as follows:

Directors Number of attendance
Mr. CHU Chih-Yaung 4/4
Mr. CHEN Hsiang-Jung* 2/2
Mr. CHEN Min-Ho 2/4
Mr. WEN Chi-Tang 3/4
Mr. CHIU Rung-Hsien 2/4
Mr. KOO Fook Sun, Louis 4/4
Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te 2/4
Mr. YU Yu-Tang 3/4

The Directors received details of agenda items for
decision and minutes of Board meetings in advance

of each Board meeting.

Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary
and are open for inspection by the Directors. Every
Board member is entitled to have access to Board
papers and related materials and has unrestricted
access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary, and has the liberty to seek external

professional advice if so required.

Appropriate insurance cover has been arranged in

respect of relevant actions against its Directors.

*  Pass away on 8 November 2018
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee
(the "Audit Committee”) with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. KOO Fook Sun,
Louis (as chairman), Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te and Mr.
YU Yu-Tang.

The role of the Audit Committee is to monitor the
establishment and maintenance of an adequate of
an adequate internal control and risk management

systems and compliance with such system.

The chief responsibilities of the Audit Committee
include making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of the external auditor and approving the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of resignation
or dismissal of such auditor; reviewing the interim
and annual reports and accounts of the Group;
and supervising the financial reporting process and
effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee
had during the year performed such functions and
reviewed the unaudited financial statements of the
Company for the six months ended 30 June 2018.
The audited financial statements of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2018 has also been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Corporate Governance Report

The Audit Committee has recommended to
the Board that Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu,
Certified Public Accountants, be nominated for
re-appointment as auditor of the Company at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the

Company.

Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

During the year 2018, the Audit Committee met
three times, during which the management of
the Company and the external auditor were
also in attendance, if appropriate. Details of the
attendance by members of the Audit Committee of
such meetings are as follows:

Name of members Number of attendance

Mr. KOO Fook Sun, Louis 3/3
Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te 1/3
Mr. YU Yu-Tang 3/3

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

In considering the nomination of new Directors, the
Board will take into account the qualification, ability,
working experience, leadership and professional
ethics of the candidates, especially their experience
in the mechanics industry and/or other professional

area.
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The Company established a nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”), with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code
and consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. KOO Fook Sun, Louis (as
chairman), Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te and Mr. YU Yu-
Tang.

The functions of the Nomination Committee
are reviewing and supervising the structure,
size and composition of the Board, identifying
qualified individuals to become members of
the Board, assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment

or re-appointment of Directors.

Mr. CHEN Hsiang-Jung, the then Chief Executive
Officer and executive Director, was pass away on 8
November 2018. The Nomination Committee had
considered and recommended the appointment
of Mr. CHU Chih-Yaung as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company on 7 December 2018.
The Nomination Committee also considered the
current Board size and diversity as adequate for
the Company's present operations. In addition,
the Committee has reviewed and satisfied with the
independence of all independent non-executive

Directors.

In accordance with the Articles, at least one-
third of the Directors will retire from office at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. In accordance
with the Article 87(1) of the Articles, Mr. Wen Chi-
Tang, Mr. Chiu Rung-Hsien and Mr. Koo Fook Sun,
Louis will retire by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and, being

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

The Nomination Committee has convened two
meetings during the year ended 31 December 2018
and details of the attendance of its meeting are as
follows:

Name of members Number of attendance

Mr. KOO Fook Sun, Louis 2/2
Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te 1/2
Mr. YU Yu-Tang 1/2

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has formulated and adopted the
board diversity policy in August 2013 aiming at
setting out the approach on diversity of the Board of
the Company.
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The Board recognizes the importance of having a
diverse Board in enhancing the board effectiveness
and corporate governance. A diverse Board will
include and make good use of differences in
the skills, industry knowledge and experience,
education, background and other qualities of
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) and
does not discriminate on the ground of race, age,
gender or religious belief. These differences will
be taken into account in determining the optimum
composition of the Board and when possible should
be balanced appropriately.

The Nomination Committee of the Company has
responsibility for identifying and nominating for
approval by the Board, candidates for appointment
to the Board. It takes responsibility in assessing the
appropriate mix of experience, expertise, skills and
diversity required on the Board and assessing the
extent to which the required skills are represented
on the Board and overseeing the Board succession.
It is also responsible for reviewing and reporting to

the Board in relation to Board diversity.

Board appointments will be based on merit and
candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board. Selection of candidates to
join the Board will be, in part, dependent on the
pool of candidates with the necessary knowledge,
experience, skills, educational background and
other qualities. The final decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the chosen candidate

will bring to the Board.

Corporate Governance Report

At present, the Nomination Committee has not
set any measurable objectives to implement the
board diversity policy. However, it will consider and
review the board diversity policy and setting of any

measurable objectives from time to time.

Nomination Policy

A Nomination Policy which sets out the criteria
and procedures when identifying suitably qualified
candidates to be appointed and re-elected as
Directors, was adopted by the Board during the

year.
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The Nomination Committee will consider the Besides, the following procedures for nomination
following factors in assessing the proposed should be adopted:
candidates:

. . 1. The Nomination Committee reviews the
e Character and integrity;

structure, size and composition (including
. . . . . he skills, knowl n rien f th
e Qualifications including professional the skills, knowledge and experience) of the

I . . Board periodically and make recommendation
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience P y

. . on any proposed changes to the Board
that are relevant to the Company’s business y prop 9

to complement the Company’s corporate
and corporate strategy; P pany p

strategy;

e Willingness to devote adequate time to ) il |
. . 2. When it is necessary to fill a causal vacancy or
discharge duties as a member of the Board; t y ! usat v y
appoint an additional director, the Nomination
. . . Committee identifies or selects candidates
e  Board Diversity Policy and any measurable
. . . . as recommended to the Committee, with or
objectives adopted for achieving diversity on

without assistance from external agencies or
the Board; 9

the Company, pursuant to the criteria above;
e  Requirements for independent directors.
3. If the process yields one or more desirable
. . candidates, the Nomination Committee shall
e Such other perspectives appropriate to the
, . rank them by order of preference based on the
Company'’s business or as suggested by the

Board. needs of the Company and reference check of

each candidate (where applicable);

4. The Nomination Committee makes
recommendation to the Board including the

terms and conditions of the appointment;
5. The Board deliberates and decides on the

appointment based upon the recommendation

of the Nomination Committee;
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Dividend Policy

Under the Companies Law of Cayman lIslands and
the Memorandum and Articles of Association of
the Company, dividends may be paid out of the
profits of the Company, or subject to solvency of the
Company, out of sums standing to the credit of the
share premium account of the Company. However,
no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended

by Directors.

Declaration and recommendation of payment
of dividends of the Company is subject to the
approval of the Directors, depending on results
of operations, working capital, financial position,
future prospects, and capital requirements, as
well as any other factors which the Directors of
the Company may consider relevant from time to
time. Any future declaration, recommendation and
payment of dividends of the Company may or may
not reflect the historical declarations and payments
of dividends and will be at the absolute discretion
of the Directors. The Company does not have any

predetermined dividend payout ratio.

Corporate Governance Report

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company established a remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) with
written terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code and consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. KOO Fook Sun,
Louis (as chairman), Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te and
Mr. YU Yu-Tang.

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are
establishing and reviewing the policy and structure
of the remuneration for the Directors and senior

management.
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Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

The Remuneration Committee has convened one
meeting during the year ended 31 December 2018
to review the existing remuneration packages of
each of the Directors and senior management of
the Company and details of the attendance of its
meeting are as follows:

Name of members Number of attendance

Mr. KOO Fook Sun, Louis 1/1
Mr. CHIANG Chun-Te 0/1
Mr. YU Yu-Tang 11

Emolument policy

The emolument policy of the employees of the
Group is determined on the basis of their merit,

qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard
to the Company's operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.
Each of the executive Directors is entitled to the
respective basic salary which is reviewed annually.
Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in

note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company had adopted a share option scheme
on 2 June 2016 which was effective for a period
of 10 years until 1 June 2026. The purpose of the
share option scheme was to enable the Board, at
its discretion, to grant options to selected eligible
participants to motivate them and to optimize their
future contributions for the benefit of the Group.
Details of the share option scheme are set out in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of the

"Report of the Directors”.

Remuneration of Senior Management

The remuneration of the members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 31
December 2018 is set out below:

Remuneration bands Number of persons

(HK$)
Less than $1,000,000 2
$1,000,001 to $1,500,000 3

Further particulars regarding Director’s
remuneration and the five highest paid employees
as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix
16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8(a)
and 8(b) to the consolidated financial statements,

respectively.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged and appointed Mr. Lo
Tai On, a representative from an external secretarial
services provider, as the company secretary of the
Company. The primary contact person with the
company secretary of the Company is Mr. Esmond
Yip, the Financial Controller of the Company. Mr.
Lo has duly complied with the relevant training

requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, there was no change

in the Company'’s constitutional documents.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

During the year under review, the remuneration
paid/payable to the Company's auditor, Deloitte

Touche Tohmatsu, is set out below:

Services rendered

to the Group Fee paid/payable

HK$'000
Audit services 2,180
Non-audit services 526

Corporate Governance Report

RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has acknowledged its responsibility for
the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group, and has established and continuously
supervised and reviewed the effectiveness of the
systems operation as required in the Principle C.2
of the CG Code with the purpose of managing the
risk of failure to achieve the business objective,
enhancing the effective and efficient operation,
reasonably guaranteeing the reliability of financial
reporting as well as in compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, and safeguarding the assets
of the Group. However, such systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against

material misstatement or loss.
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Characteristics of Risk Management and Internal

Control Organization Systems

The Company has established and improved the
risk management and internal control organization
systems comprising the Audit Committee of the
Board, senior management and all the departments
of the Company as required in the Principle C.2.2
of the CG Code in a bid to guarantee that the
Company has sufficient resources, employee
qualification, experience, training courses and
relevant budgets in terms of the risk management
and internal control. All the departments of the
Company are the first defending line of the risk
management and internal control, the senior
management is the second, and the Audit
Committee of the Board is the third. The Audit
Committee and the Board are the top decision-
making organs of the risk management and internal

control systems of the Company.

Internal Audit Function

In light of the size, nature and complexity of the
Company business, it was decided that the Audit
Committee would be directly responsible for the
establishment and improvement of internal control
of the Company and for reviewing its effectiveness.
Every year the Company hires a third-party
organization to confirm testing scope based on
the annual risk evaluation result and carry out the
internal control review according to the practical

condition of the Company.

Conducting Risk Management and Internal Control

The Company reviews the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and
evaluates all the significant monitoring aspects
including the financial monitoring, operation
monitoring and compliance monitoring on a yearly
basis according to five internal control factors,
namely, internal environment, risk evaluation,
control activities, information & communication, and

internal supervision.

In 2018, centring on the overall operation objective,
the Company gradually established the risk
management system through implementing the
basic risk management process in each phase of its
management and in the course of its operations,
which comprehensively identified and dealt with
possible risks at the Company level in operations,
forming the unique risk pool and risk framework
with sound systems of the Company, providing the

basis for the risk management and internal control.

The senior management of the Company organized
all the risk responsible departments to conduct
comprehensive and in-depth analysis on the
risk identification results from the aspect of the
possibility of risk occurrence and the extent of
its impact, selected major risks exposed to the
Company, made specific and in-depth responses
to major risks and formulated major risk response
plans. The major risk response plans shall be
implemented upon the review of the senior
management, the deliberation of the Audit

Committee, and the approval of the Board.
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Formation of Long-Term Mechanism of Risk

Management and Internal Control

In 2018, the Company carried out the basic risk
response measures of internal control through
specific business process on the basis of fully
identifying and evaluating risks, established
the management procedures and internal
control measures for significant processes of the
preparation and disclosure of financial reports, and
finally confirmed the long-term mechanism of risk
management with the Risk Management System
((EBEEFIE) ). The management procedures
of relevant processes, the internal control measures
and the Risk Management System have been
implemented upon the approval and signature by
the senior management.

The Risk Management System specifies the
overall objective, basic principles, assignment of
responsibilities, reporting channels, methodology,
main job contents and daily work of the risk
management. It is stipulated in the System that
the senior management shall conduct the risk
management annually, continuously monitor the
major risks and risk changes in the operation and
management of each risk responsible department,
formulate the Risk List and Risk Management
Framework ( {@Ef2)5 &8 & E kR EEELR) ), which
shall be submitted to the senior management
and the Audit Committee, and report the risk
management framework and organization system
construction of each risk responsible department,
risk pre-warning mechanism, the identification,
evaluation methods and results of the risk
information during the current year, and the
resources and matters to be co-ordinately solved.

Corporate Governance Report

It is also provided in the System that the senior
management shall supervise and assess whether
each department can conduct the risk management
according to relevant regulations and their work
efficiency on a regular or irregular basis (at least
once a year), prepare the Risk Summary and
Evaluation Report ( (E P = EFFHHE) ), and
put forward improvement suggestions for the
effectiveness of the risk management. Relevant
departments shall formulate specific rectification
proposals according to the improvement
suggestions, appoint a specific person for the
implementation of each task, and stipulate on the
expected date of completion of rectification. The
senior management shall continuously monitor the
progress of rectification. The Risk Summary and
Evaluation Report shall be directly submitted to the
senior management and the Audit Committee of
the Board.

The results of risk management and internal control
in 2018 indicated that there weren’t any material
faults or weak points in the major risk monitoring.
The management processes of the Company, such
as financial reports and information disclosures,
strictly complied with the provisions of the Listing
Rules, and the risk management and internal control
were effective according to the evaluation of the
Board.

During the year, the Board also renewed and
ensured the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Company's
accounting and financial reporting function and

their training programmes and budget.

GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC.  Annual Report 2018




Corporate Governance Report

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS FOR THE HANDLING
AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Board has established the Inside Information
Policy for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. The Inside Information Policy stipulated
the obligations of the Group, restriction on sharing
non-public information, handling of rumours,
unintentional selective disclosure, exemptions
and waiver to the disclosure of inside information,
external communication guidelines and compliance
and reporting procedures. Management of the
Company must take all reasonable measures from
time to time to ensure that proper safeguards
are in place to prevent a breach of a disclosure
requirement in relation to the Company. They
must promptly bring any possible leakage or
divulgence of inside information to the attention of
the Financial Controller who will notify the Board
as soon as reasonably practicable accordingly for
taking the appropriate prompt action. In the event
that there is evidence of any material violation of the
Inside Information Policy, the Board will decide, or
designate appropriate persons to decide the course
of actions for rectifying the problem and avoiding

the likelihood of its recurrence.

DIRECTORS’' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to
prepare the Company’s accounts for each financial
period to give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the results and cash
flows for that period. In preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018,
the Board has selected suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently; made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable
and prepared the accounts on a going concern
basis. The Directors are responsible for taking all
reasonable and necessary steps to safeguard the
assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud

and other irregularities.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR
RELATION

The Board recognises the importance of good
communication with the Shareholders. Information
in relation to the Group is disseminated to the
Shareholders in a timely manner through a number
of formal channels, which include interim and
annual reports, announcements and circulars of the

Company.
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The general meetings of the Company are valuable
forum for the Board to communicate directly with
the Shareholders. The Shareholders are encouraged

to attend the general meetings of the Company.

An annual general meeting of the Company
was held on 7 June 2018 (the “2018 AGM"). A
notice convening the 2018 AGM contained in the
circular dated 27 April 2018 was dispatched to the
Shareholders together with the 2017 Annual Report.
The chairman of the Board was unable to attend
the 2018 AGM due to his business trip. Mr. Chen
Hsiang-Jung, the Executive Director, attended and
chaired the 2018 AGM. Other directors were unable
to attend the 2018 AGM due to their other business

commitment.

The Chairman of the 2018 AGM explained detailed
procedures for conduction a poll. All the resolutions
proposed at the 2018 AGM were passed separately
by the Shareholders by way of poll. The results of
the poll were published on the websites of the Stock

Exchange and the Company after the meetings.
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The forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company will be held on 5 June 2019 (the "2019
AGM"). A notice convening 2019 AGM will be
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company and dispatched together with the
2018 Annual Report to the Shareholders as soon as
practicable in accordance with the Articles and the
CG Code.

The Company is committed to enhancing
communications and relationships with its investors.
Designated senior management maintains an
open dialogue with institutional investors and
analysts to keep them abreast of the Company's

developments.

The Company also maintains a website at
www.goodfriend.hk, where updates on the
Company'’s business developments and operations,

financial information and news can always be found.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board in writing through the
Company Secretary whose contact details are as

follows:—

Room 2003, 20/F., Kai Tak Commercial Building,
317-319 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 3586 2620

Email: investor@goodfriend.hk
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide
an opportunity for communication between the
Shareholders and the Board. An annual general
meeting of the Company shall be held in each
year at such place as may be determined by the
Board. Each general meeting, other than an annual
general meeting, shall be called an extraordinary
general meeting ("EGM"). The procedures are
subject to the Articles and applicable legislation and

regulations.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene EGM:

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company,
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Secretary of the Company,
to require an EGM to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within

two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.

The written requisition must state the business
to be transacted at the meeting, signed by the
requisitionist(s) and deposited at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong or the
Company's registered office for the attention of
the Board or the Secretary of the Company, and
may consist of several documents in like form, each
signed by the requisitionist(s). The requisition will be
verified with the Company’s branch share registrar
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in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation
that the requisition is proper and in order, the
Secretary of the Company will ask the Board to
consider convening an EGM, on the contrary, if
the requisition has been verified as invalid, the
requisitionist(s) will be advised of the outcome and

accordingly, an EGM will not be convened.

Any meeting convened by the requisitionists should
be convened with the same manner as that in which

meetings are convened by the Board.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
general meetings

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of
the Company, a shareholder should lodge a written
request, duly signed by the shareholder concerned,
setting out the proposals at the Company'’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong for the attention of
the Board and the Secretary of the Company with
sufficient lead time in advance. The request will be
verified with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that
the request is proper and in order, the Secretary of
the Company will pass the request to the Board.
Whether a proposal will be put to a general meeting
will be decided by the Board in its discretion.

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a
person for election as director is posted on the
Company’s website at www.goodfriend.hk.

Corporate Governance Report

AUDITOR’'S STATEMENT

The auditor of the Company acknowledge their
responsibilities in the auditor’s report on the
financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

Hong Kong, 29 March 2019
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ABOUT THE REPORT

Good Friend International Holdings Inc. (the “Company” or “we") hereby presents the annual Environmental,
Social and Governance (“"ESG") Report from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018 (“FY2018") in accordance
with the regulations in the Guidance on the Environmental, Social and Governance Report promulgated
by the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in December 2015. It is to be read in conjunction with the
Corporate Governance Report on page 31 of this document.

The report takes the activities of Good Friend International Holdings Inc. as the main line. After
comprehensive consideration of a series of indicators such as sales, business type, profit amount and asset
amount, the following entities are included in the scope of this Report: Hangzhou Good Friend Precision
Machinery Precision Co., Ltd., Hangzhou Global Friend Precision Machinery Co., Ltd., Hangzhou Ever Friend
Precision Machinery Co., Ltd. and Hangzhou Glory Friend Machinery Technology Co., Ltd.

The scope of environmental aspect ESG data has changed: the environmental aspect ESG data range covered
Hangzhou Good Friend Precision Machinery Precision Co., Ltd. and Hangzhou Glory Friend Machinery
Technology Co., Ltd. in the 2017 ESG Report. In the 2018 ESG Report, Hangzhou Global Friend Precision
Machinery Co., Ltd. and Hangzhou Ever Friend Precision Machinery Co., Ltd. have been added. Meanwhile,
we adjusted the 2017 environmental aspect ESG data and included Hangzhou Global Friend Precision
Machinery Co., Ltd. and Hangzhou Ever Friend Precision Machinery Co., Ltd into the 2017 environmental

aspect ESG data range to ensure comparability over time.

The Board of directors of the Company is responsible for the ESG strategy and reporting, including
the assessment and determination of relevant risks in these aspects, and guarantee of proper ESG risk
management and internal monitoring system. We have appointed the business and functional departments
to identify the relevant ESG matters, and evaluate the significance of these matters to our business
and interested parties by reviewing the Company’s operation and conducting internal discussions. The
management has confirmed the effectiveness of the ESG risk management and internal monitoring system
with the Board. In accordance with the general disclosure regulations in the Guidance on the ESG Report, the
identified significant matters have been contained in this Report with the aim of disclosing the Company’s

performance on these matters during its operation.
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SELECTION OF MAJOR ISSUES

Communication with stakeholders

Judging from the characteristics of the business and operation, we categorize major stakeholders as
investors, governments and regulators, employees, non-governmental organizations, clients, suppliers and

communities.

Stakeholders Expectation & requirement Communication & responses
Investors *  Protection of shareholders' rights and interests e Shareholders' meeting
*  Maintenance and appreciation of assets value e Press releases and announcements
o Enterprise governance mechanism e Company reports
o Authentic, accurate, prompt and complete ¢ Information on the company website
disclosure of information ¢ Investors’ meetings
Governments and regulators  ®  Compliance with laws and regulations *  Meeting
o Pay taxes in accordance with law e Compliance report
* Protect the environment e Onsite check
* Industry development e Special investigation
o Give back to the community *  Proper submission of documents
Employees *  Equal employment e Labour contracts
o Competitive salary system o After-work activities
o Employee training *  Manager mail box
o Career development e \Voluntary activities
*  Humanity care e Daily communication
*  Health and safety protection
Non-governmental o Investment for local development e Annual ESG report
organizations o Participate in local community projects ¢ Direct communication
o Take on environmental responsibility e Factory visit

*  Human rights
*  Fair share of benefits

Clients o Client satisfaction management e Daily communication

o Client complaint management e Regular interviews and visits

*  Product responsibility o Client service center and hotline
Suppliers o Suppliers' code of conduct ¢ High-level meetings

o Supplier assessment e Workshop

o Supplier cooperation ¢ Suppliers’ summits

o Supplier entry and assessment
e Field work
e Daily communication

Communities e Noise management e Charitable activities
e Support economic development e Community services
*  Enthusiasm towards public welfare e Environmental protection activities
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Assessment of major issues

After interviewing the internal and external stakeholders this year, we received serval suggestions. We score
and rank social responsibility issues of the Company according to two standards, namely their impact on
business as well as the stakeholders’ rights and interests, so as to reflect their influence on the environment
and society, and better respond to the expectations and demands of the stakeholders. Our major issues are

as below:

Matrix for material issues

Highly Material
Quiality assurance
Business ethics
Client service

Highly Material

Material

Noise management

Employment and labour standard
Career development

Material Resources management

Safety and health

Employee care

Economic development

Supplier management

slap|oyasjels 0} aduedyiubig

Relevant

Community welfare

Waste management

Water resource management

Significance to business operation

MARKET

Without the high standard which we set for ourselves, we cannot become the largest CNC machine tools
manufacturer in China. Since the Company was founded, we have adhered to the business philosophy of
sincerity and integrity. Therefore, in order to develop better and faster, we not only select our partners strictly

and demand for high quality, but also do our best to serve our clients with enthusiasm.

In FY2018, we did not find any products were returned due to safety or health problems.
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Quality assurance

The Company is specialized in manufacturing CNC machine tools, car parking garage structure and forklift
trucks. We always insist that all products must pass strict quality control system to free our clients from worries.
As for product quality, the Company has obtained the ISO 90001 quality management system and
implemented a product safety management system covering material supply, production, packaging and
delivery. Every year, we conduct self-inspection in the quality management in accordance with the established
material supply inspection management, process inspection management, finished product inspection
management, and defective product control management procedures, and organise the internal quality

review.

Industry 4.0 enables each product to have uniform data accuracy, traceability, and high standards of quality.
In order to improve the quality of products, we are building a factory that integrates information, visualization
and information networks. In FY2018, we successfully applied six “information management” to the daily
operation of the machine tool division based on clients demand, covering the whole process of CNC machine
tool R&D, design, manufacturing, inspection, delivery and after-sales service, in order to enhance the product

quality and to promote the development of CNC machine tools.

R&D data informatization
- Data connectivity and communication

@

Business staff internal
management

R&D
informatization

©

With main suppliers

information sharing

with main suppliers - Improvement of internal

- Information sharing business management
on OA platform informationized with mobile software

factory

Warehousing and Factory information

Material
informatization

Business
informatization

Warehousing
informatization

Factory
informatization

shipment information management
- Mobile receipt and - ERP system on line in
debit factory
Processing - Electronic operation
informatization guidance

- Information management
resource sharing

Efficient processing management
- Visual management
- Digital management

- Real-time reporting and remote monitoring
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In addition, we also contribute to improving the quality control of the industry. In order to improve the quality
and technical requirements of Chinese industry, in FY2018, SAC/TC227 led the drafting of “Design Code for
Mechanical Parking Equipment”. As a participant, we were actively involved in the preparation of standard

content.

Technology is important for quality improvement. We are committed to technological innovation and
continuously improve the technical content of our products to enhance the quality of our products. Now we
have owned 35 valid patents, among which are 6 software copyrights. The Company also formulate the Patent

Management System, to regulate the patent development and protection processes.

Client Service

During the life of an enterprise, quality is an essential factor for survival while the clients are the driving force
for improvement. With a solid and stable client base, we can actively promote various activities to enable the

enterprise to flourish.

We strive to provide high-quality services for clients. In order to timely submit clients orders and boost
client satisfaction, we implement lean management internally, and set up a cross-sectoral subdivision and
special investigation team. By summarizing and classifying business management data, we easily locate the
occurrence points and detection points of problems, and promptly solve the problems in daily operation
process. In addition, we regularly conducted satisfaction surveys on product quality and after-sales service. In

FY2018, no client complaints occurred, our client satisfaction rate was 98%.
In addition, we set access control on client files to secure clients’ privacy to the best.

Supplier Management

The high-quality environmental-friendly products we provide to clients are inseparable from our excellent
supplier management. We make strict demands on suppliers at source. We implement the Supplier
Management Procedures, the Supplier Management Process Flow Chart and Supplier Monthly Assessment
Form, and carry out strict and fair supplier access procedures and evaluation mechanism,. When choosing a
new supplier, we will conduct a series of evaluation procedures based on these systems, including the on-site

investigation, sampling, quality assurance, etc.
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At the same time, the Company continues enhancing environmental and social risk management of suppliers,
requiring supplier qualifications to comply with relevant environmental protection requirements and
supervising our suppliers to obtain accreditation under the ISO 14000 environmental management standard.
When evaluating the suppliers, we take into consideration the environmental and social impacts, and select

the suppliers with excellent quality and strong environmental awareness for cooperation.

We give priority to local suppliers in order to promote the development of the local economy. Currently, we
are cooperating with 769 suppliers, which are mainly from Jiangsu, Zhejiang and Shanghai. The distribution is

as follows.

Suppliers by region

® East China

® South China

® Central and Northeast China

® North China

® Overseas

® Southwest and Northwest China

Note: Due to rounding, the sum may not be 100%.

For qualified suppliers, we conduct monthly and annual review, and eliminate the suppliers who do not pass

the review. For excellent suppliers, we issue the "excellent supplier award” at the end of the year.

Business Ethics

In order to build a positive and healthy operation environment and guarantee the sound development of
the Company, we establish the Anti-Corruption Management Methods and strictly comply with the laws and
regulations. For suppliers, when signing the contract, we require them to sign the Letter of Commitment of
Manufacturer to ensure the transparency of the whole transaction process. In addition, we provide various

anonymous channels for reporting immoral matters.

In FY2018, we have not been involved in any lawsuits relating to corruption, bribery, blackmail, fraud, or

money laundering.
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EMPLOYEE

The Company strictly abides by the international conventions on human rights and labour, as well as the
labour and employment regulations and policies of the place where the premises are located. Up to now, it
has collected a total of 40 applicable laws, rules and standards, and established systems for Labour Contract
Management, Employment Management, Occupational Physical Examination, Work-related Accident
Handling, Dismissal Management, etc.

We are committed to creating an innovative, win-win and equitable working environment for our employees.
While ensuring employees’ occupational safety and health, we focus on taking care of our employees, and
organize diverse activities to promote employees’ physical and mental health. In order to realize the common
development of enterprise and individuals, we improve the system of talent cultivation, set the channels for

internal communication, and provide a good career development platform for our employees.

In FY2018, the total number of employees reached 1,147, among which 216 were female and they accounted

for 19% of the total employees. The employee turnover ratio was 22%.

Percentage of Percentage of Percentage of
employee by gender employee by age employee by category
6% 1%

19% 14%

32%

63% 85%

® Female ® Male ®<30 ®30~50 ®x>50 ® Senior management

® Middle management
Note: Due to rounding, the sum may I 9
not be 100%. © Sta
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Employment and Labour Standards
Labour standards

The Company persists in the equal employment, and prohibits employee discrimination in any form. We sign
labour contracts with employees and ensure they will not suffer discrimination due to the race, nationality,

complexion, religion, physical disability, gender, sexual orientation, club member or marital status.

The Company protects the entitlement of female employees to vocational development. We stipulate that
female and male employees are equally entitled to promotion and professional training on technology and
management skills. We require a certain proportion of female employees in the further education, business

study, job training and overseas exchange on a field practice.

We strictly prohibited child labour and any form of coercion, harassment, physical punishment, psychological
oppression, language assault. We respect the rights of all employees to freely join in associations or labour
unions.

We did not involve in any child labour, forced labour and discrimination cases in FY2018.

Salary and welfare

We comply with the Labour Contract Law. In China, according to the national social security policies, we
timely pay social insurances including endowment insurance, medical insurance, unemployment insurance,
work-related injury insurance and maternity insurance, as well as housing fund for employees in full. We
also buy commercial insurances for our employees to improve their abilities to overcome the unexpected
difficulties.

We established Staff Management Policy, which states that policies related to salary, insurance and welfare are
timely adjustment based on the overall strength of employees’ capability, performance and achievement. For
example, in the first half of 2018, we awarded extra bonus to CNC machine tools division for staff who have no

absenteeism or low absenteeism as well as supervisors with excellent performance on duty.
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Training and Development

The development of the enterprise is closely connected with the growth of the employees. The development
of the technical level and ability of the employees represent the future of the enterprise. The key to our
success is to ensure that each employee is equipped with the corresponding skills for their positions. We
encourage our employees to continuously improve and develop themselves, and provide all employees with
all kinds of training and skills related competition activities, so that employees can learn from each other,
identify improvement areas and enhance themselves in competition.

In FY2018, the average training hours of each employee were 22 hours.

Percentage of trained employees by gender and category

I
— . = ]

Female Male Senior Middle Staff
Management Management

® Trained  ® Untrained

In addition, we cooperated with the Hangzhou Vocational & Technical College to establish the Fair Friend
Institute of Electromechanical, which cultivates talents for us. Fair Friend Institute of Electromechanical is a key
training base for advanced manufacturing talents in Zhejiang Province. It has advanced equipment of RMB130
million with 20 professors and associate professors as well as 50 full-time and part-time doctoral and master

students. It provides employees with a platform for development and training.

Safety and Health

Occupational safety and health of the employees is the foundation of the sustainable development of the
Company. Although there is no significant occupational safety and health threat in our production and
operation processes, we always focus on preventing disease from happening and ensuring occupational
safety and health for our employees. In strict compliance with the Labour Law, the Law on Prevention and
Control of Occupational Disease and local laws and regulations on prevention and treatment of occupational
diseases, we also continuously perfects the health management of employees and formulates the

Occupational Safety and Health Education System.
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We have obtained accreditation under the OHSAS18000 international safety and health management
system. We constantly enhance the level of occupational health and safety management, forming a complete
mechanism of self-monitoring, self-discovery and self-improvement. Every year, we carry out a complete
and comprehensive test on the environment of all the plants to ensure the safety of the staff's working
environment. In FY2018, we were not involved in death due to production accidents or any serious production

accidents.

Dust and noise are the main factors that cause occupational health problems. To protect our employees’

occupational health we take the actions below:
o Decontamination of dust

During the production of parking equipment, the dust produced by welding threatens the health
of the employees. Therefore, we install 8 smoke purifiers which inhale smoke, dust and exhaust gas
through the suction of the fan. Meanwhile, the flame arrester at the inlet prevents the entry of the
spark generated by welding, filters the smoke etc. The purified gas is draught through the outlet. In
this way, it not only ensures the safety of employees’ working environment but also protects the natural

environment.
o Noise management

The noise also affects the production line staffs’ health therefore in order to reduce noise, our
Processing Department invests RMB150,000 to build a vibration workshop, which can reduce the
internal noise to 98 dB and the noise outside the closed room to 78 dB. We also require that our
employee should wait outside the room during vibration process and should not go inside to install
work pieces until the vibration is over. In that case, the possibility that the employees are physically

injured during work is reduced.
o Disease prevention

We provide regular physical examination for employees to prevent the occurrence of diseases. Our

staff canteens provide high-quality balanced diet with good nutrition for our employees.
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Care for Employees

We often organize vivid recreational activities to help employees relieve the pressure of work so that they
can better balance their lives and work. For example, the activity named “Walk with joy and perseverance”
is held every year to enhance employees’ awareness of preserving nature and to relieve their work stress.
We have successfully held parents and children activities for four years in order to create opportunities for
strengthening family bonding. We regularly hold staff sporting events to strengthen the spirit of cooperation
and solidarity among the employees. We also provide RMB16,000 for our amateur badminton teams and

basketball teams to promote the development of sporting activities.

In addition, we help employees in difficulty to ease their economic pressures. For instance, we provide
housing subsidy of RMB500 per month for employees with housing difficulties, which is intended to relieve
the pressure of high rent. We encourage employees to help each other by sending consolation money in
time to employees who have suffered from economic pressure due to special circumstances to help them get
through the difficult times.

ENVIRONMENT

The Company focuses on the sustainable development management and improving the utilization ratio
of resources. We try to protect the environment in all of our operational processes. We have passed the
ISO14001 Environment Management System Certification, and organized internal and external review of the
corporate environment on a yearly basis, to ensure that the environment management system is manageable

and long-term effectiveness.

The Company has continuously optimized the environment and energy management system, and formulated
the Quality and Environment Manual, Hazard Specification, Operation Instructions and Air Pollution
Control and Management System, in order to enhance the standard and systematic management of the

environmental protection, energy conservation and emission reduction.

There were no environmental pollution accidents, illegal events or complaints from the surrounding residents
in FY2018.

Resources Management

We consume electricity, gasoline, diesel, steel and package wood in our operations and we take various

actions to reduce our energy consumption.
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Low-carbon production

The main source of energy consumption in our operation are electricity, gasoline, and diesel. In FY2018, we
consumed 7,609.40 MWh of energy in total and the purchased electricity accounted for 71% of the total.
In FY2018, we have 567.70 tons of direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) and 3,816.71 tons of indirect
greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2) .

Total energy consumed (MWh) Energy consumed by category

7,609.40 7,494.09 21%

71%

FY2018 FY2017 ® Electricity ® Diesel  ® Gas

Greenhouse gas emissions (tons) Intensity of greenhouse emissions
(tons/million yuan)

3.80
I 3.33

FY2018 FY2017 FY2018 FY2017

B W Total emissions M Scope 2 Scope 1 Note: Intensity of greenhouse gas emissions is the amount
of greenhouse gas emissions per million yuan of revenue.

4,384.41 4,315.87
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In order to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, we have taken a number of measures. In FY2018, We replaced
the power-consuming lamps used in phase 1-4 of the CNC machine tools division with energy-saving LEDs,
which has effectively reduced the use of electricity. Meanwhile, we carry out measures of transformer outage

every year to reduce energy consumption.

In the Parking Department, all the motors we use comply with the European Energy Standard. Although the
purchase of the European standard motors will increase the cost, we uphold the concept of environmental

friendliness and implement environmental protection measures at all costs.

Raw materials and packaging materials

The Parking Department has a large demand for steel. In the past, we cut the standard steel on our own,
which caused a lot of waste. So we signed an agreement with the steel suppliers who will customize the steel
for us which can reduce unnecessary losses.

In the CNC Machine Tools Department, we try to reduce the use of packaging materials. Products shipped to
clients are in wooden boxes and we signed an agreement with wood packaging enterprises for recycling of
packaging materials, so as to reduce the consumption of timber and mitigate the impact on the environment.

In FY2018, we consumed 2,196.80 tons of packaging materials, of which 2,066.30 tons are wood.

Total packaging materials (tons) Intensity of packaging materials
consumed intensity (tons/million yuan)

2,410.00 1.90
2,196.80 I 1.8
FY2018 FY2017 FY2018 FY2017

Note: Intensity of packaging materials is the amount of
packaging materials per million yuan of revenue.
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Waste Management
Waste gas

The main waste gas produced during the production include nitrogen oxide (NOx), sulphur oxide (SOx),
particulate matter (PM) and VOC:s. In order to improve the working environment and reduce the impact on the
surrounding environment, we have established the waste gas treatment project with the support of leaders
of the Company according to the requirement of the environmental protection project. The waste gas after
treatment has reached the emission standard stipulated in the /Integrated Emission Standard of Air Pollutants
(GB16297-1996).

Dust produced in the production process has a significant impact on employees’ health. It will not only do
harm to the surrounding environment but also to the whole atmosphere if the emissions are not treated. So
we put into 8 smoke recycling equipment and all the dust gas emissions released into the air again should be

processed, which greatly reduce the production activities” impacts on the surrounding environment.

Solid wastes

The wastes generated in our production are mainly divided into hazardous wastes and non-hazardous wastes.
Non-hazardous wastes mainly include living garbage, scrap iron, grinding wheel and office consumables.
Hazardous wastes mainly include grinding mud, activated charcoal contaminated with paint, paint bucket,

waste oil etc.

Total waste produced (tons) Intensity of waste produced
(tons/million yuan)

411. .
383.30 36 o33 0.32
27.63 26.20 0.02 0.02
FY2018 FY2017 FY2018 FY2017
B Non-hazardous wastes Hazardous wastes B ® Non-hazardous wastes Hazardous wastes

Note: Waste generation intensity is the amount of waste
produced per million yuan of revenue.
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We issued the Regulations of Waste Discharge of Management in the process of production and operation.
We classified wastes according to the National Catalogue of Hazardous Waste, and made corresponding
disposal guidelines according to different levels. Hazard wastes such as waste oil will be disposed by qualified

and professional third parties appointed by the Company.

Great deal of heat is produced in production, which cannot be released from the machine, and we use cutting
fluid (coolant) for cooling. During the cooling process, the cutting fluid will be mixed with waste oil from
production process and other impurities. We introduced the cutting fluid recovery unit to treat and recycle
cutting fluid.

Water Resource Management

Our water is taken from the urban water supply system. In FY2018, we consumed 202,494.00 m® of water.

During production process, we produce small amounts of industrial and domestic wastewater. The domestic
wastewater is mainly discharged from office toilets and kitchens without the discharge of poisonous,
hazardous and special substance. Industrial wastewater is directly discharged through the municipal sewage

pipe network and discharged by the municipal government’s sewage treatment plant.

Total water consumed (m3) Intensity of water consumed
(m3/million yuan)

202,494.00 2I1480000 175.57 165.89
FY2018 FY2017 FY2018 FY2017

Note: Intensity of water consumed is the amount of water
consumed per million yuan of revenue.

GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC.  Annual Report 2018



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

COMMUNITY

We adhere to the concept of ‘What comes from the people should be used for the people’. When running
the business, we do not forget to repay the society, which is deeply rooted in the hearts of every staff in the
Company. In addition, in the vicinity of the factory area, there are many residential areas. We always pay

attention during the production activities to avoid disturbing our neighbour.

Noise Management

The noise is mainly produced by power equipment such as the air compressors, planer type milling machines,
horizontal boring machines and cranes. The Company has installed noise shields and sound-absorbing walls
surrounding the equipment to control the noise and reduce the impact on the environment of surrounding

residential areas.

Boosting Economic Growth

Fair Friend Institute of Electromechanical which we established through the cooperation with Hangzhou
Vocational &Technical College not only brings to the Company the talented people who are proficient in
both theoretical knowledge and practical operation, but also brings a large number of elites in the field of
electro mechanics and provides the employment opportunities to some local students. In 1993, Hangzhou
Good Friend Precision Machinery Co., Ltd. was established in Xiaoshan district. It has brought a lot of job
opportunities to the local economy, promoted the local economic development, and been honored as one
of the top 10 enterprises in the local economic development. Our high-quality CNC machine tools, forklifts
and parking garage structures also provide strong support for local industrial upgrading and enterprise

transformation.

Community Dedication

We actively participate in various public welfare activities and charitable donations. In December 2018, we
participated in the voluntary blood donation activity organized in the Development Area. At the Company'’s
advocacy, a total of 9,620 milliliters of blood were donated. In order to help the poor and the disadvantaged,
we donated RMB200, 000 in the “Spring Wind" activity organized by the Hangzhou municipal government.

Education Development

We show great concern and support for the development of education. In 2018, we donated RMB300,000 to
the Education Development Foundation of Hangzhou Vocational & Technical College. The funds are used to

set up various funds such as student scholarships, teacher reward funds and academic research funds.
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ESG DATA OVERVIEW

Indicators FY2018 FY2017

Emissions

Greenhouse gas emissions in total (Scope 1&?2) (tons) 4,384.41 4,315.87
Scope 1 567.70 560.25
Scope 2 3,816.71 3,755.62

Greenhouse gas emissions per million yuan of revenue 3.80 3.33
(tons/million yuan)

Waste gas emissions in total (tons) 14.66 11.48
NOx 0.15 0.14
VOCs 14.51 11.34

Hazardous wastes produced in total (tons) 27.63 26.20
Grinding mud 23.75 24.06
Activated charcoal contaminated with paint 2.00 1.45
The paint bucket 1.26 0.57
Waste oil 0.62 0.12

Hazardous wastes produced per million yuan of revenue 0.02 0.02
(tons/million yuan)

Non-hazardous wastes produced in total (tons) 383.30 411.36
Scrap iron 208.67 232.80
Living garbage 173.00 177.00
Grinding wheel 0.52 1.24
Office consumables 1.11 0.32

Non-hazardous wastes produced per million yuan of revenue 0.33 0.32

(tons/million yuan)
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Indicators FY2018 FY2017

Water

Water consumed in total (m3) 202,494.00 214,800.00

Water consumed per million yuan of revenue (ma/million yuan) 175.57 165.89

Energy

Energy consumed in total (MWh) 7,609.40 7,494.09
Electricity 5,425.32 5,338.48
Gasoline 1,610.64 1,546.80
Diesel 573.44 608.81

Energy consumed per million yuan of revenue (MWh/million yuan) 6.60 5.78

Packaging materials

Packaging materials consumed in total (tons) 2,196.80 2,410.00
Packaging wood 2,066.30 2,323.00
Other 130.50 87.00

Packaging materials consumed per million yuan of 1.90 1.86

revenue intensity (tons/million yuan )

Employee
Total workforce 1,147 1,189
By gender
Female 216 226
Male 931 963
By age group
Under 30 363 417
From 30 to 50 717 699
Over 50 67 73
By employee category
Senior management 7 1
Middle management 160 180
Staff 980 998
Employee turnover ratio 22% 23%
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Indicators FY2018 FY2017
Safety

Number of work-related fatalities. 0 0
Rate of work-related fatalities 0 0
Number of lost days due to work injury 450 2832
Male 91% 82%

Development

The percentage of trained employees 86% 78%
By gender

Female 64% 63%

Male 91% 82%
By employee type

Senior management 71% 9%

Middle management 98% 76%

Staff 84% 79%
The average training hours completed per employee 22 26
By gender

Female 13 31

Male 24 34
By employee type

Senior management 3 7

Middle management 21 25

Staff 22 34
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APPENDIX | - INDEX OF ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

Location/Remarks

REPORTING GUIDE

Aspect Description

A. Environmental
Aspect A1: Emissions
Resource management;
Waste management;
Water resource

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
management

relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste

General disclosure

Waste management

The types of emissions and respective emissions data
Resource management

Al.1
Al1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility)
Waste management

Total hazardous wastes produced (in tonnes) and, where

A1.3
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production

volume, per facility)
Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) Waste management
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility)
A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and Resource management;
results achieved Waste management;
Water resource
management
Al.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes Waste management
are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved
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Aspect Description

Aspect A2: Use of resources

General disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including

energy, water and other raw materials

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility)

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of

production volume, per facility)

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results
achieved
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing

water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives

and results achieved
A2.5 Total packing material used for finished products (in

tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced
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Resource management;
Waste management;
Water resource

management

Resource management

Water resource
management

Resource management

Resource management

Resource management
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Aspect Description

Aspect A3: The environment and natural resources

General Disclosure Policies on minimizing the issuer's significant impact on

the environment and natural resources

A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions

taken to manage them

B. Social
Aspect B1: Employment

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group
and geographical region

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region

Location/Remarks

Resource management;
Waste management;
Water resource

management

Resource management;
Waste management;
Water resource

management

Employee

Employment and labour
standards

Employment and labour
standards
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Aspect

Description

Aspect B2: Health and safety

General Disclosure

B2.1

B2.2

B2.3

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards

Number and rate of work-related fatalities
Lost days due to work injury

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored

Aspect B3: Development and training

General Disclosure

B3.1

B3.2

Policies on improving employees' knowledge and skills
for discharging duties at work. Description of training
activities

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management)

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category
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Safety and health

Safety and health
ESG data overview

Safety and health

Training and
development

Training and
development

ESG data overview
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Aspect Description Location/Remarks

Aspect B4: Labour standards

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with ~ Employment and labour
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant standards
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labour

B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices Employment and labour
to avoid child and forced labour standards

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices Employment and labour
when discovered standards

Aspect B5: Supply chain management

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of Supplier management

the supply chain
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region Supplier management
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, Supplier management
number of suppliers where the practices are being

implemented, how they are implemented and

monitored
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Aspect Description Location/Remarks

Aspect B6: Product responsibility

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with ~ Market
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of

redress

B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subjectto  Quality assurance

recalls for safety and health reasons

B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints Client service

received and how they are dealt with

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and Quality assurance
protecting intellectual property rights

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall Quality assurance
procedures
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy Client service

policies, how they are implemented and monitored
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Description

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

General Disclosure

B7.1

B7.2

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,

fraud and money laundering

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the

cases

Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, how they are implemented and

monitored

Aspect B8: Community Investment

General Disclosure

B8.1

B8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the

communities' interests

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture,

sport)

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus

area

Location/Remarks

Business ethics

Business ethics

Business ethics

Community

Boosting economic
growth; Community
dedication; Education

development

Boosting economic
growth; Community
dedication; Education
development
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Deloitte 1= 2h

To the Shareholders of Good Friend International Holdings Inc.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Good Friend International Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 80 to 189, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting

policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.
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To the Shareholders of Good Friend International Holdings Inc.

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract assets

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables and
contract assets as a key audit matter due to the significance
of the Group's trade receivables and contract assets in the
context of the Group's consolidated financial statements and
the involvement of subjective judgement and management
estimates in evaluating the expected credit loss ("ECL") of the
Group's trade receivables and contract assets at the end of the

reporting period.

As disclosed in Notes 19A and 19B to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of
trade receivables and contract assets amounted to approximately
RMB323,586,000, which represented approximately 14.64% of the
Group's total assets. As disclosed in Note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements, the management of the Group estimates
the amount of lifetime ECL of trade receivables and contract
assets based on provision matrix with appropriate groupings.
For collective assessment, the Group uses debtors’ aging to
assess the impairment for its customers because these customers
consist of a large number of small customers with common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers' abilities
to pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual
terms. In addition, trade receivables and contract assets are
assessed individually for debtors with significant balances or
credit impaired. ECL is estimated based on historical credit loss
experience based on the past default experience of the debtors,
general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date. The loss
allowance amount of the credit impaired trade receivables is
measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows with the

consideration of expected future credit losses.

As disclosed in Notes 19A and 19B to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recognised an additional amount
of RMB8,875,000 of impairment of trade receivables and
contract assets for the year and the Group's lifetime ECL on
trade receivables and contract assets as at 31 December 2018
amounted to RMB47,161,000.

Our procedures in relation to the loss allowance for ECL on trade

receivables and contract assets included:

° Obtaining an understanding of the key controls over the
impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract
assets, including but not limited to the management
of the Group's assessment on the credit rating of the

counterparties;

o Testing the trade receivables’ ageing report as at
31 December 2018 produced by the Company’s financial
system, on a sample basis, by comparing individual items in
the ageing report with the relevant sales agreements, sales

invoices and other supporting documents;

° Assessing the management of the Group's basis and
judgement in determining credit loss allowance on
trade receivables and contract assets as at 31 December
2018, including their identification and evaluation of
individually assessed trade receivables and contract
assets, the reasonableness of the management of the
Group’s grouping of remaining trade debtors into
different categories in the provision matrix, and the basis
of estimated loss rates applied in each category in the
provision matrix (with reference to historical default rates

and forward-looking information); and

o Evaluating the disclosures regarding the impairment
assessment of trade receivables and contract assets
in notes 19A, 19B and 39 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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To the Shareholders of Good Friend International Holdings Inc.

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
Impairment assessment of inventories

We identified the impairment assessment of inventories
as a key audit matter due to significance of the Group's
inventories in the context of the Group's consolidated
financial statements, combined with the management

judgements involved.

The cost of inventories of the Group mainly comprises
raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads. Given the relatively
long production cycles and the unpredictability of
the fluctuations of steel prices, the inventories are
exposed to the risk of being carried in excess of
net realisable value. As disclosed in Note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements, as at 31 December
2018, the carrying amount of inventories amounted to
approximately RMB524,752,000 (net of inventory provision
of RMB23,629,000) which represented approximately
23.74% of the Group's total assets. As disclosed in Note 4
to the consolidated financial statements, in assessing the
net realisable value and making appropriate allowances
to inventories, the management estimates the provision
for impairment of inventories by identifying inventories
that are slow moving or obsolete, and consider the
inventories’ physical conditions, age, market conditions

and market prices for similar items.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment

of inventories included:

e  Obtaining an understanding of the management
of the Group's key controls over the impairment

assessment of inventories;

e Attending the inventory count performed by the
management of the Group to evaluate whether
obsolete inventories are properly identified with

which the impairment assessment is based,;

e  Testing the inventories ageing report, on a sample
basis, with reference to the procurement and/or

production records;

e Evaluating the reasonableness of impairment
provision on inventories with reference to the ageing

report and subsequent movement of the inventories;

e Comparing the carrying amount of inventories on
hand to the latest selling prices on a sample basis;

and

e  Evaluating the adequacy of impairment provision
on inventories with reference to the information

obtained above.
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To the Shareholders of Good Friend International Holdings Inc.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (Continued)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any

form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of

consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or

have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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To the Shareholders of Good Friend International Holdings Inc.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of

users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and

related disclosures made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors of the Company’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions

may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Good Friend International Holdings Inc.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (Continued)

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in

a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the

direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits

of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Joseph Wing Ming Chan.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

2018 2017
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Revenue 5A 1,090,693 1,294,801
Cost of revenue 5B (799,966) (982,286)
Gross profit 290,727 312,515
Other income 6A 84,483 83,483
Distribution and selling expenses (132,609) (139,925)
Administrative expenses (64,137) (71,006)
Research and development costs (37,087) (43,796)
Impairment loss on trade receivables and contract assets (8,875) (5,505)
Other gains and losses 6B (28,321) 883
Other expenses 6C (87,968) (35,517)
Other operating expenses (1,458) (1,612)
Finance costs 9 (14,180) (8,803)
Share of profit of joint ventures 17 2,118 1,893
Share of loss of associates 18 (45,423) (7,544)
(Loss) profit before income tax 7 (42,730) 85,066
Income tax expense 10 (14,994) (19,376)
(Loss) profit attributable to owners of the Company (57,724) 65,690
Other comprehensive income (expense):
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Share of other comprehensive income (expense) of associates 18 1,021 (522)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss:
Share of other comprehensive income (expense) of associates 18 17,228 (47,272)
Exchange difference arising on translation of foreign operations 2,664 25,600
Net fair value gain on receivables at fair value through other
comprehensive income ("FVTOCI") 1,999 -
21,891 (21,672)
Total comprehensive (expense) income attributable to
owners of the Company (34,812) 43,496
(Loss) earnings per share (expressed in RMB per share)
— Basic 11 (0.14) 0.16
Dividends 12 44,352 20,160
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2018 2017
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 204,710 180,401
Prepaid lease payments 13 120,147 123,052
Intangible assets 15 2,215 3,203
Investments in joint ventures 17 20,505 18,387
Investments in associates 18 331,323 355,917
Deferred income tax assets 32 27,520 22,401
706,420 703,361
Current assets
Inventories 22 524,752 345,626
Trade and other receivables and prepayment 19A 345,810 541,941
Contract assets 19B 46,727 -
Loan receivable 20 35,627 -
Receivables at FVTOCI 21 106,400 -
Amounts due from customers for contract work 23 - 50,270
Prepaid lease payments 13 2,905 2,905
Amount due from ultimate holding company 40 - 1,053
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and

associates of ultimate holding company 40 23 1,476
Amounts due from joint ventures 40 461 852

Amounts due from associates and subsidiaries of
an associate 40 151,059 119,083
Restricted bank deposits and bank balances 24 69,987 32,716
Structured deposits 25 - 76,140
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“"FVTPL") 25 108,020 -
Bank balances and cash 26 112,673 98,071
1,504,444 1,270,133
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2018 2017
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables and accrued expenses 28 242,969 589,692
Contract liabilities 29 358,751 -
Amounts due to customers for contract work 23 - 42,813
Amount due to ultimate holding company 40 638 7,400
Amount due to immediate holding company 40 2,832 2,123
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and associates of
ultimate holding company 40 3,637 3,673
Amounts due to joint ventures 40 362 608
Amounts due to an associate and subsidiaries of an associate 40 28,435 37,327
Provision for litigation claim 36 60,117 -
Refund liabilities 36 100,903 -
Current income tax liabilities 21,979 28,091
Bank borrowings 31 563,239 367,428
Warranty provision 30 5,311 5,755
1,389,173 1,084,910
Net current assets 115,271 185,223
Total assets less current liabilities 821,691 888,584
Non-current liabilities
Other borrowings 31 35,093 -
Deferred income 33 70,192 61,180
105,285 61,180
Net assets 716,406 827,404
Capital and reserves
Share capital 27 4,022 4,022
Share premium 82,281 82,281
Capital reserves 77,338 77,338
Other reserves 58,361 39,576
Retained earnings 494,404 624,187
Total equity 716,406 827,404

The consolidated financial statements on pages 80 to 189 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 29 March 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

Chu Chih-Yaung Wen Chi-Tang
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity

Share Share Capital Other Retained
capital premium reserves reserves earnings Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(note a) (note b) (note ¢)
At 1 January 2017 4,022 82,281 77,338 61,248 579,179 804,068
Profit for the year - - - - 65,690 65,690
Other comprehensive
(expense) income
Share of other comprehensive
expense of associates - - — (47,272) (522) (47,794)
Exchange difference arising on
translation of foreign operations - - - 25,600 - 25,600
- - - (21,672) (522) (22,194)
Total comprehensive (expense) income - - - (21,672) 65,168 43,496
Dividends recognised as distribution
(note 12) - - - - (20,160) (20,160)
At 31 December 2017 4,022 82,281 77,338 39,576 624,187 827,404
Effect arising from adoption
of HKFRS 9 - - - (3,106) (5,755) (8,861)
Effect arising from adoption
of HKFRS 15 - - - - (22,973) (22,973)
Adjusted balance at 1 January 2018 4,022 82,281 77,338 36,470 595,459 795,570
Loss for the year - - - - (57,724) (57,724)

Other comprehensive income
Share of other comprehensive income

of associates - - - 17,228 1,021 18,249
Exchange difference arising on

translation of foreign operations - - - 2,664 - 2,664
Net fair value gain on receivables

at FVTOCI - - - 1,999 - 1,999

- - - 21,891 1,021 22,912

Total comprehensive income (expense) - - - 21,891 (56,703) (34,812
Dividends recognised as distribution

(note 12) - - - - (44,352) (44,352)

At 31 December 2018 4,022 82,281 77,338 58,361 494,404 716,406
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity

Notes:

a. Share premium
Under Section 34(2) of the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Laws 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium account may be applied by the Company paying dividends to members provided that no dividend may be paid to
members out of the share premium account unless, immediately following the date on which the dividend proposed to be paid,
the Company shall be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

b. Capital reserves
Capital reserve represents the difference between the paid-in capital/share capital and share premium of the subsidiaries acquired
at the consideration of nominal value of the Company's shares issued during the time of the corporate reorganisation of the
Group prior to the listing of the shares of the Company on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

c.  Other reserves
In addition to currency translation reserve and receivables at FVTOCI reserve, other reserves include general reserve and

enterprise expansion reserve which are set up in accordance with statutory requirements in the People’s Republic of China
("PRC").
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2018 2017
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
Operating activities
Cash (used in) generated from operations 34 (25,120) 124,789
Income tax and withholding tax paid (21,905) (18,204)
Net cash (used in) generated from operating activities (47,025) 106,585
Investing activities
Repayment from associates and subsidiaries of an associate 10,320 70,287
Advance to associates and subsidiaries of an associate (15,048) (154,283)
Loan to a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary of
an associate of the Group (35,627) -
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (44,922) (8,476)
Acquisition of prepaid lease payments - (5,134)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 34 519 1,027
Purchases of intangible assets (264) (1,175)
Interest received 4,496 4,261
Withdrawal of restricted bank deposits 32,716 33,163
Placement of restricted bank deposits (15,180) (32,716)
Withdrawal of financial assets at FVTPL 507,800 -
Purchases of financial assets at FVTPL (539,680) -
Withdrawal of structured deposits - 507,080
Purchases of structured deposits - (583,220)
Net cash used in investing activities (94,870) (169,186)
Financing activities
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings 3,390,069 602,194
Repayments of bank borrowings (3,184,943) (590,223)
Government grant received 9,012 -
Dividends paid (44,352) (20,160)
Interest paid (14,180) (8,803)
Net cash generated from (used in) financing activities 35 155,606 (16,992)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 13,711 (79,593)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 98,071 177,946
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 891 (282)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year,
represented by bank balances and cash 112,673 98,071
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. GENERAL

Good Friend International Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
"Group") are engaged in the design and production of computer numerical control machine tools, three

dimensional car parking garage structures and forklift trucks.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office and principal place of

business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since 11 January 2006. In
addition, 67,200,000 units of Taiwan depositary receipts (“TDRs"), representing 67,200,000 newly issued shares
of the Company, were issued and listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation (“Taiwan Stock Exchange”)
on 18 March 2010. Good Friend (H.K.) Corporation Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong, and Fair
Friend Enterprise Company Limited (“Fair Friend"”), a company incorporated in Taiwan, are the immediate holding

company and the ultimate holding company, respectively.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi ("RMB”), which is also the functional currency of

the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARD (“HKFRSs")

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “"HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the related Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014 — 2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group's financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the

disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARD ("HKFRSs") (Continued)

2.1

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the current year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18

Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying this standard
recognised at the date of initial application, 1 January 2018. Any difference at the date of initial application is
recognised in the opening retained earnings (or other components of equity, as appropriate) and comparative
information has not been restated. Furthermore, in accordance with the transition provisions in HKFRS 15, the
Group has elected to apply the standard retrospectively only to contracts that are not completed at 1 January
2018. Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be comparable as comparative information was

prepared under HKAS 18 Revenue and HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related interpretations.
The Group recognises revenue from the design and production of:

e Machine Tools

e  Parking Garage Structures

e Forklift Trucks

Information about the Group's performance obligations and the accounting policies resulting from application

of HKFRS 15 are disclosed in notes 5A and 3, respectively.

Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 15

The following table summarises the impact of transition to HKFRS 15 on retained earnings at 1 January 2018.

Impact of
adoption
of HKFRS 15 at
1 January 2018

Note RMB'000
Retained earnings
Revenue from parking garage structures
recognised at a point in time (a) 147,884
Recognition of cost of revenue (a) (120,857)
Deferred income tax effect (a) (4,054)
Impact at 1 January 2018 22,973
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARD (“"HKFRSs") (Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 15 (Continued)

The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 1 January 2018. Line items that were not affected by the change have not been included.

Carrying
Carrying amounts amounts
previously under
reported as at HKFRS 15 as
31 December at 1 January
2017 Reclassification ~ Remeasurement 2018*
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Deferred income tax assets (a) 22,401 - 4,054 26,455
Inventories (a) 345,626 - 120,857 466,483
Contract assets (d) - 46,703 - 46,703
Trade and other receivables
and prepayment (d) 541,941 (46,703) - 495,238
Amounts due from customers
for contract work (a) 50,270 - (50,270) -
Trade and other payables and
accrued expenses (@] (589,692) 296,284 - (293,408)
Contract liabilities (@) (b) () - (339,097) (97,614) (436,711)
Amounts due to customers for
contract work (b) (42,813) 42813 - -

The amounts in this column are before the adjustments from the application of HKFRS 9.
Notes:

(@) In relation to the parking garage structures contracts that are not completed as at 1 January 2018, the amount of
revenue previously recognised in profit or loss prior to 1 January 2018 amounted to RMB147,884,000 was adjusted to
amounts due from customers for contract work and contract liabilities amounted to RMB50,270,000 and RMB97,614,000,
respectively. The corresponding cost of revenue previously recognised in profit or loss prior to 1 January 2018
amounted to RMB120,857,000 was adjusted to inventories. The deferred income tax effect amounted to RMB4,054,000
was adjusted to deferred income tax assets.

(b) In relation to parking garage structures contracts previously accounted under HKAS 11, amounts due to customers for
contract work of RMB42,813,000 were reclassified to contract liabilities.

() Asat1 January 2018, the Group received advance deposits from customers of RMB296,284,000 which were reclassified
to contract liabilities upon adoption of HKFRS 15.

(d) As at 1 January 2018, the Group had retention monies amounted to RMB46,217,000 which the right to billing is

still conditional upon achieving specified payment milestone were reclassified to contract assets upon adoption of
HKFRS 15.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARD (“"HKFRSs") (Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 15 (Continued)

The following tables summaries the impacts of applying HKFRS 15 on the Group's consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2018 and its consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of cash flows for the current year for each of the line items

affected. Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been included.

Impact on the consolidated statement of financial position

Amounts
without
application
As reported Adjustments of HKFRS 15
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Non-current assets
Deferred income tax assets 27,520 (4,054) 23,466
Current assets
Inventories 524,752 (163,656) 361,096
Trade and other receivables
and prepayment 345,810 46,727 392,537
Contract assets 46,727 (46,727) -
Amounts due from customers for
contract work - 71,782 71,782
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
and accrued expenses 242,969 278,541 521,510
Contract liabilities 358,751 (358,751) -
Amounts due to customers for
contract work - 59,458 59,458
Refund liabilities 100,903 (100,903) -
Current income tax liabilities 21,979 413 22,392
Equity
Retained earnings 494,404 25,314 519,718
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARD (“"HKFRSs") (Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)

Impact on the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Amounts
without
application
As reported Adjustments of HKFRS 15
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Revenue 1,090,693 45,553 1,136,246
Cost of revenue (799,966) (42,799) (842,765)
Gross profit 290,727 2,754 293,481
Loss before income tax (42,730) 2,754 (39,976)
Income tax expense (14,994) (413) (15,407)
Loss attributable to owners
of the Company (57,724) 2,341 (55,383)
Total comprehensive expense attributable
to owners of the Company (34,812) 2,341 (32,471)
Impact on the consolidated statement of cash flows
Amounts
without
application
As reported Adjustments of HKFRS 15
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Loss before income tax (42,730) 2,754 (39,976)
Inventories 11,468 42,799 54,267
Trade and other receivables and prepayment 20,400 (254) 20,146
Contract assets (254) 254 -
Amounts due from customers for
contract work - (21,512) (21,512)
Amounts due to customers for
contract work - 16,645 16,645
Trade and other payables and
accrued expenses (7,382) (118,646) (126,028)
Contract liabilities (77,960) 77,960 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARD (“"HKFRSs") (Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related consequential
amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for 1) the classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, 2) expected credit losses (“ECL") for financial assets

and other items subject to ECL assessment, and 3) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied
the classification and measurement requirements (including impairment under ECL model) retrospectively
to instruments that have not been derecognised as at 1 January 2018 (date of initial application) and has
not applied the requirements to instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1 January 2018. The
difference between carrying amounts as at 31 December 2017 and the carrying amounts as at 1 January
2018 are recognised in the opening retained earnings and other components of equity, without restating

comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be comparable as comparative information was

prepared under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9 are disclosed in note 3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARD (“"HKFRSs") (Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 9

The table below illustrates the classification and measurement of financial assets and other items subject to
ECL under HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39 at the date of initial application, 1 January 2018.

Amortised
cost
(previously
classified Deferred Financial
Receivables Contract as loans and income  Structured assets at Other Retained
at FVTOCI assets  receivables)  tax assets deposits FVTPL reserves earnings

Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Closing balance as at 31 December 2017 -

HKAS 39 - - 541,941 22,401 76,140 - 39,576 624,187
Effect arising from initial application of

HKFRS 15 - 46,703 (46,703) 4,054 - - - (22973)
Reclassification
From loans and receivables 128,054 - (128,054) - - - - -
From structured deposits - - - (76,140) 76,140 - -
Remeasurement
From amortised cost to fair value (i) (3,654) - - 548 - - (3,106) -
Impairment under ECL model (ii) - (486) (5,340) 71 - - - (5,755)
Opening balance as at 1 January 2018 124,400 46,217 361,844 27,074 - 76,140 36,470 595,459

(i) Reclassification of bills receivables from loans and receivables to FVTOCI/

As part of the Group's cash flow management, the Group has the practice of endorsing some of the
bills receivables before the bills are due for payment. Accordingly, the Group's bills receivables of
RMB128,054,000 were considered as within the hold to collect contractual cash flows and to sell business
model, and reclassified to receivables at FVTOCI. The related fair value loss of RMB3,654,000 and related
deferred income tax assets of RMB548,000 were adjusted to receivables at FVTOCI and other reserves as
at 1 January 2018.

(i) Impairment under ECL model

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all
trade receivables, contract assets and trade nature receivables from ultimate holding company, joint
venture, fellow subsidiaries, associates of the ultimate holding company, associates and subsidiaries of
an associate. To measure the ECL, trade receivables, contract assets and trade nature receivables from
ultimate holding company, joint venture, fellow subsidiaries, associates of the ultimate holding company,
associates and subsidiaries of an associate are assessed individually for debtors with significant balances

or credit impaired and/or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate grouping.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARD (“"HKFRSs") (Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Impairment under ECL model (Continued)

Loss allowances for receivables at FVTOCI and other financial assets at amortised cost mainly comprise of
other receivables, restricted bank deposits and bank balances, non-trade nature receivables from ultimate
holding company, joint venture, fellow subsidiaries, associates of ultimate holding company, associates,
subsidiaries of an associate, receivables at FVTOCI| and bank balances, are measured on 12-month ECL

("12m ECL") basis and there had been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

For outstanding financial guarantees provided to an associate and its subsidiaries of Euro13,129,000
(equivalent to RMB102,405,000), the Group considers there has been no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition and hence the loss allowance is measured on 12m ECL basis.

As at 1 January 2018, the additional credit loss allowance of RMB5,826,000, together with the recognition
of the corresponding deferred income tax assets of RMB71,000 have been recognised against retained

earnings. The additional loss allowance is charged against the respective asset.

Loss allowances for financial assets at amortised cost, trade receivables and contract assets as at 31

December 2017 reconciled to the opening loss allowance as at 1 January 2018 is as follows:

Trade Contract
receivables assets Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
As at 31 December 2017 — HKAS 39 (37,811) - (37,811)
Amounts remeasured through opening
retained earnings (5,340) (486) (5,826)
As at 1 January 2018 (43,151) (486) (43,637)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARD (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

2.3 Impacts on opening consolidated statement of financial position arising from the application of all new
standards, amendments and interpretation

As a result of the changes in the Group’s accounting policies above, the opening consolidated statement of
financial position had to be restated. The following table shows the adjustments recognised for each of the

line item affected. Line item that were not affected by the changes have not been included.

31 December 1 January
2017 2018
(Audited) HKFRS 9 HKFRS 15 (Restated)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
Non-current assets
Deferred income tax assets 22,401 619 4,054 27,074
Others with no adjustments 680,960 - - 680,960
703,361 619 4,054 708,034
Current assets
Inventories 345,626 - 120,857 466,483
Trade and other receivables and
prepayment 541,941 (133,394) (46,703) 361,844
Receivables at FVTOCI - 124,400 — 124,400
Contract assets - (486) 46,703 46,217
Amounts due from customers for
contract work 50,270 - (50,270) -
Structured deposits 76,140 (76,140) - -
Financial assets at FVTPL - 76,140 - 76,140
Others with no adjustments 256,156 - - 256,156
1,270,133 (9,480) 70,587 1,331,240
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARD (“"HKFRSs") (Continued)

2.3 Impacts on opening consolidated statement of financial position arising from the application of all new
standards, amendments and interpretation (Continued)

31 December 1 January
2017 2018
(Audited) HKFRS 9 HKFRS 15 (Restated)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables and
accrued expenses 589,692 - (296,284) 293,408
Contract liabilities - - 436,711 436,711
Amounts due to customers for
contract work 42,813 - (42,813) -
Others with no adjustments 452,405 - - 452,405
1,084,910 - 97,614 1,182,524
Net current assets 185,223 (2,480) (27,027) 148,716
Total assets less current liabilities 888,584 (8,861) (22,973) 856,750
Non-current liability
Deferred income 61,180 - - 61,180
Net assets 827,404 (8,861) (22,973) 795,570
Capital and reserves
Other reserves 39,576 (3,106) - 36,470
Retained earnings 624,187 (5,755) (22,973) 595,459
Others with no adjustments 163,641 - - 163,641
Total equity 827,404 (8,861) (22,973) 795,570

Note: For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating activities under indirect method for the year ended 31
December 2018, movements in working capital have been computed based on opening consolidated statement of

financial position as at 1 January 2018 as disclosed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARD (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23
Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9
Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28
Amendments to HKAS 19
Amendments to HKAS 28
Amendments to HKFRSs

Lease'
Insurance Contracts?
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments'

Definition of Material®

Definition of a Business*

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture®

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement’

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures'

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle!

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the

first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Except for the new to HKFRS mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all

other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the

foreseeable future.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARD (“"HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)
HKFRS 16 Lease

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations

when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by
a customer. In addition, HKFRS 16 requires sales and leaseback transactions to be determined based on the
requirements of HKFRS 15 as to whether the transfer of the relevant asset should be accounted as a sale. HKFRS 16

also includes requirements relating to subleases and lease modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model
where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for

short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that
date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease
modifications, amongst others. For the classification of cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront prepaid
lease payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands for owned use while other operating lease
payments are presented as operating cash flows. Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease
liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest portion which will be presented as financing cash flows by
the Group, upfront prepaid lease payments will continue to be presented as investing or operating cash flows in

accordance to the nature, as appropriate.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group is
a lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential changes in classification of these assets depending on
whether the Group presents right-of-use assets separately or within the same line item at which the corresponding

underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.
Other than certain requirements which are also applicable to lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the
lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an

operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARD (“"HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)
HKFRS 16 Lease (Continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of RMB6,245,000 as
disclosed in note 37(b). A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet the definition of a
lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in

respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental deposits paid of RMB886,000 as rights and obligations
under leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits
are not payments relating to the right to use the underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts of such
deposits may be adjusted to amortised cost. Adjustments to refundable rental deposits paid would be considered

as additional lease payments and included in the carrying amount of right-of-use assets.

The application of new requirements may result in changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as
indicated above. The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were
previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease and not apply this standard to contracts that were not previously identified as containing a lease
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed whether the contracts are, or
contain a lease which already existed prior to the date of initial application. In addition, the Group has elected to
apply a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics. Furthermore, the Group
has elected the modified retrospective approach for the application of HKFRS 16 as lessee and recognised the

cumulative effect of initial application to opening retained earnings without restating comparative information.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting

policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the
scope of HKAS 17 Lease, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as

net realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to

the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity

can access at the measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or

liability, either directly or indirectly; and
e Level 3inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled

by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

® s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
*  has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are

changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the

Group loses control of the subsidiary.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit

balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies

into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between

members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over

those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the

parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates and joint ventures used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the Group.
When the Group's share of losses of an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in
the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on

behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued))

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which
the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the

investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint venture may
be impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill)
is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with

HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest
is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9/HKAS 39, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at
that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be required if
that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity
to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint

venture.
The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a

joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement

to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued))

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the
equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would

be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements only

to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transition in note 2)

Upon HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when

“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series

of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards complete

satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

e  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group's performance as the

Group performs;
e the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an

enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct good or

service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group'’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is

required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the

Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC.  Annual Report 2018




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transition in note 2)
(Continued)

For revenue from machine tools and forklift trucks, the management of the Group has assessed that the control
of the goods underlying the sales contracts have been transferred to the customers upon delivery, title has been

passed, and goods inspected and accepted by the customer.

For revenue from parking garage structures, the management of the Group has assessed the contract terms and
the regulatory environment in the PRC, and concludes that the related performance obligations do not satisfy the
over time recognition criteria and thus the Group's revenue from parking garage structures is recognised at a point

in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct goods.

For machine tools, parking garage structures and forklift trucks, customers are generally required to make an
advance payment of 30% of the total contract sum before the Group commences any work, this will give rise to
contract liabilities at the start of a contract. During the course of production of parking garage structures, customers
will generally be required to make progress payment. In general, customers will be required to pay not less than
80% of the total contract sum before the Group installs the parking garage structures to customer’s designated site.
For machine tools, customers will be required to pay not less than 90% of the total contract sum before the Group
send the machine tools to customer’s designated site. For forklift trucks, customers generally are required to pay
all the total contract sum before the Group send the machine tools to customer’s designated site. If customers are
satisfied with the parking garage structures installed and sign for receipt of machine tools and forklift trucks, they
will issue an acceptance certificate to the Group. The Group normally provides a warranty period of 1 to 2 years
after the installation of parking garage structures and the issuance of the final acceptance certificate. The Group

generally allows a credit period of 30 to 180 days to its customers.
Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to

each performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service underlying each performance obligation is determined
at contract inception. It represents the price at which the Group would sell a promised good or service separately
to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate
techniques such that the transaction price ultimately allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or

services to the customer.
Warranties

If a customer does not have the option to purchase a warranty separately, the Group accounts for the warranty in
accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets unless the warranty provides the
customer with a service in addition to the assurance that the product complies with agreed-upon specifications (i.e.

service-type warranties).

For service-type warranties, the promised service is a performance obligation. In that case, the Group allocates a

portion of the transaction price to the warranty.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated

customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's activities,

as described below.

Goods, services, interests and dividends

Revenue from sales of machine tools and forklift trucks are recognised when goods are delivered, title has been

passed, and goods inspected and accepted by the customer.

Revenue from construction of parking garage structures is recognised based on the percentage of completion of
the contract, provided that the revenue, the costs incurred and the estimated costs to completion can be measured
reliably. The percentage of completion is estimated by reference to the costs incurred to date as compared to
the total costs to be incurred under the contract. Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are

anticipated by the management.
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life

of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Rental income from leasing of properties is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January 2018) (Continued)
Parking garage structures contracts

Where the outcome of a parking garage structures construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue
and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the reporting date,
measured by the proportion of contract costs incurred for work performed to date as compared to the estimated
total contract costs. Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that the

amount can be measured reliably and its receipt is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a parking garage structures construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract
revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs

are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

Where it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as

an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the
surplus is shown as an amount due from customers for contract work. For contracts where progress billings exceed
contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as an amount
due to customers for contract work. Amounts received before the related work is performed are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position, as a liability, as advances received. Amounts billed for work performed
but not yet paid by the customer are included in the consolidated statement of financial position under trade and

other receivables and prepayment.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards

of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the

relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquisition of land held under operating leases, are recognised as

an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (Continued)
Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which included both leasehold land and building
elements, the Group assesses the classification of each element separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in which case the entire property is accounted as an
operating lease. Specifically, the entire consideration (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the

land element and building element at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is
accounted for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated statement of
financial position and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the leasehold land and building elements, the entire property is generally classified as if

the leasehold land is under finance lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in

a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Renminbi) using exchange rate
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and

accumulated in equity under the heading of other reserves.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of
an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest
becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation

attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the

cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
All other borrowings costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the

conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expense the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to

profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in

the period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when employees have

rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Pension obligations

The Group makes contributions to defined contribution retirement schemes under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes (“MPF") Ordinance in Hong Kong. The assets of which are generally held in separate trustee administered
funds. The pension plans are generally funded by payments from employees and the Group. The Group's

contributions to the defined contribution retirement schemes are expensed as incurred.

The Group also contributes to employee retirement schemes established by municipal governments in the PRC.
The municipal governments undertake to assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future retired
employees of the Group. Contributions to these schemes are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income as incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless

another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)

after deducting any amount already paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before income
tax because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business

combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to

utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to

be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the

liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of

its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the

Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in to profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in

other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes, other than construction in progress, are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment

losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowings costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these

assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets, other than construction in progress less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in

estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying

amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The items of property, plant and equipment, except for construction in progress, are depreciated on a straight-line

basis at the following rates per annum:

— Buildings 20 years
— Machinery and equipment 10 years
—  Office and computer equipment 3-5 years
— Motor vehicles 4 years

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being

accounted for on a prospective basis.

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use

the specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is

derecognised.

Research expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the year in which it is incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine

the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of tangible and intangible assets are estimated individually, when it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group

of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for

which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value
in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit

or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit

or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on a
weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all

estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its

carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery

of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 since 1 January 2018.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial

assets at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the

net carrying amount on initial recognition.

GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC.  Annual Report 2018




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with

transitions in note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:
e the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

e the financial assets is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual

cash flows and selling; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.
All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting

mismatch.

(i)  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting

period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.

GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC.  Annual Report 2018




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with

transitions in note 2) (Continued)
(i)  Receivables classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for receivables classified as at FVTOCI as a result of interest
income calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes in the
carrying amount of these receivables are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under
the heading of other reserves. Impairment allowances are recognised in profit or loss with corresponding
adjustment to other comprehensive income without reducing the carrying amounts of these receivables. The
amounts that are recognised in profit or loss are the same as the amounts that would have been recognised
in profit or loss if these receivables had been measured at amortised cost. When these receivables are
derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income (“OCl")

are reclassified to profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets as FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any interest earned

on the financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transactions in note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets and other assets which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9 (including trade receivables, contract assets, loan receivable, other receivables, restricted bank
deposits and bank balances, amounts due from ultimate holding company, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
and associates of ultimate holding company, amounts due from joint ventures, amounts due from associates and
subsidiaries of an associate and bank balances) and financial guarantee contracts. The amount of ECL is updated at

each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are done
based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast

of future conditions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transactions in note 2) (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables, contract assets and trade receivables from ultimate
holding company, joint ventures, fellow subsidiaries, associates of ultimate holding company, associates and
subsidiaries of an associate. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with significant balances
or credit impaired and/or collectively using provision matrix with appropriate groupings. For collective assessment,
the Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers because these customers consist of a
large number of small customers with common risk characteristics that are representative of the customers’ abilities
to pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms. ECL is estimated based on historical credit loss
experience based on the past default experience of the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in
which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at
the reporting date.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there have been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default

occurring since initial recognition.
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical

experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or

internal credit rating;

e  significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit

spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to

cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;
e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt

obligations.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transactions in note 2) (Continued)

0]

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to have low
credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally understood

definitions.

For the date that the Group becomes a party to the financial guarantee contracts is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial guarantee contract for impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of financial guarantee

contracts, the Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of

identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are

generally not recoverable:

e when there is a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty; or

¢ information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a

more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transactions in note 2) (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-

impaired includes observable data about the following events:

a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise

consider; or

d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceeding. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in

profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance

with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate

determined at initial recognition.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transactions in note 2) (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make payments only in the event of a default by
the debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the expected losses
is the present value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any

amounts that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where evidence at the individual instrument

level may not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the following basis:

. Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's trade receivables, contract assets, other receivables,

restricted bank deposits and bank balances and bank balances are each assessed as a separate group);

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the constituents of each group continue to share

similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial

asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are recognised at the higher of the amount of the
loss allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount initially recognised less, where

appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised over the guarantee period.

Except for receivables at FVTOCI and financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amounts
through a loss allowance account. For receivables at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in OCl and

accumulated in the other reserves without reducing the carrying amount of these receivables.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets at FVTPL and loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the
time of initial recognition. All reqular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on
a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of

assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is (i) held for trading or (ii) it is designated as at
FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages

together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial assets and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item. Fair value is determined in the manner
described in note 39.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade receivables, loan
receivables, other receivables, restricted bank deposits and bank balances, amounts due from ultimate holding
company, joint ventures, fellow subsidiaries, associates of ultimate holding company, associates and subsidiaries
of an associate and bank balances) are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any

impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the

recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the

financial assets have been affected.

For all financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

®  breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
* it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group's past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period
of 30 to 180 days, observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on

receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the

financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts

previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have

been had the impairment not been recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cContinued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to

another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying

amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of receivables as at FVTOCI upon application of HKFRS 9, the cumulative gain or loss previously

accumulated in other reserves is reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance

of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue

costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amount due to ultimate holding company, amount due
to immediate holding company, amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and associates of ultimate holding company,
amounts due to an associate and subsidiaries of an associate, amounts due to joint ventures and bank and other

borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of the amount of obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance
with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and the amount initially recognised less,

where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liabilities derecognised and the

consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors of the Company
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical

experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period

of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that the management
of the Group has made in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies and that have the most

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Judgement in determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations

The recognition of each of the Group's revenue streams requires judgement by the management of the Group in

determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations.

In making their judgement, the management of the Group considers the detailed criteria for recognition of revenue
set out in HKFRS 15, and in particular, whether the Group has satisfied all the performance obligations over time or
at a point in time with reference to the detailed terms of transaction as stipulated in the contracts entered into with

its customers and counterparties.

For revenue from machine tools and forklift trucks, the management of the Group has assessed that the control of
the goods underlying the sales contracts have been transferred to the customers upon the delivery and acceptance
of the goods delivered. Therefore, the management of the Group has justified that the performance obligation in

respect of the sales income is satisfied at a point in time and recognises revenue at a point in time.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)
Judgement in determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations (Continued)

For revenue from parking garage structures, the management of the Group has assessed the contract terms and
the regulatory environment in the PRC and concludes that the related performance obligations do not satisfy
the over time recognition criteria. Therefore, the management of the Group has justified that the performance
obligation in respect of the parking garage structures is satisfied at a point in time and recognises revenue at a

point in time.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision for litigation claim

As at 31 December 2018, the expected loss on settlement of the litigation amounted to RMB60,117,000, which
is provided for under “provision for litigation claim” in the consolidated statement of financial position and also
recorded as “other expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Details of the provision for litigation claim as at 31 December 2018 are set out in note 36.

Due to the fact that the outcome of the appeal to the Supreme People’s Court cannot be determined at this stage,

an overprovision or underprovision for litigation claim may arise when the outcome is reached.

Estimated useful lives and impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives of its property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. The
management will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated, and will

write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets.

Machinery and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined with
reference to the higher of fair value of the machinery and equipment less costs of disposal or the value in use
calculations. An impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the

recoverable amount. Where the recoverable amount is less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment amounted to RMB204,710,000
(2017: RMB180,401,000). No impairment loss is recognised for the years end 31 December 2018 and 2017.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Provision for impairment of inventories

The Group reviews the carrying values of its inventories to ensure that they are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. In assessing the net realisable value and making appropriate allowances, the management
estimates the provision for impairment of inventories by identifying inventories that are slow moving or obsolete,

and considering their physical conditions, age, market conditions and market prices for similar items.

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of the Group's inventories amounted to RMB524,752,000 (net
of allowance for inventories of RMB23,629,000) (2017: RMB345,626,000 (net of allowance for inventories of
RMB22,026,000)).

Warranty provision

The Group generally offers one-year warranties for its machine tools and forklift trucks, and two-year warranties for
its parking garage structures. The management estimates the related provision for future warranty claims based
on historical warranty claim information, as well as recent trends that might suggest that past cost information may

differ from future claims. The estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of the Group's warranty provision amounted to RMB5,311,000 (2017:
RMB5,755,000).

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

The Group reviews its financial assets and contract assets to assess impairment on a regular basis. The
methodologies and assumptions used for estimating the impairment are reviewed regularly to reduce any

differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

Since the adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018, the management of the Group estimates the amount of loss
allowance for ECL on trade receivables, contract assets, loan receivable, other receivables, restricted bank deposits
and bank balances, receivables at FVTOCI and amounts due from ultimate holding company, joint ventures, fellow
subsidiaries, associates of the ultimate holding company, associates and subsidiaries of an associate and bank
balances based on the credit risk of the financial assets. The estimation of the credit risk of the financial assets and
contract assets involves high degree of estimation and uncertainty. When the actual future cash flows are less than
expected or more than expected, a material impairment loss or a material reversal of impairment loss may arise,

accordingly.
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S5A.REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Total

RMB'000

Machine Tools 928,341
Parking Garage Structures 89,814
Forklift Trucks 72,538
1,090,693

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations for contracts with customers

The Group applies the practical expedient of not disclosing the transaction price allocated to performance

obligations that were unsatisfied as the Group's contract has an original expected duration of less than one year.
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5B.SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the executive directors (the “Executive Directors”) of
the Company. The Executive Directors review the Group's internal reporting in order to assess performance and
allocate resources. Management has determined the operating segments based on these reports reviewed by the

Executive Directors that are used to make strategic decisions.

The Executive Directors consider that the Group has three operating and reportable segments: (1) machine tools;
(2) parking garage structures; and (3) forklift trucks. No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the operating segments based on their respective gross profit,

which is consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group does not allocate distribution and selling expenses, administrative expenses, other operating expenses
or assets to its segments as the Executive Directors do not use this information to allocate resources to or evaluate
the performance of the operating segments. Therefore, the Group does not report a measure of total assets for

each operating and reportable segment.

Parking
Machine Garage Forklift
Tools Structures Trucks Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
For the year ended 31 December 2018
Revenue (all from external sales) 928,341 89,814 72,538 1,090,693
Cost of revenue (665,102) (70,291) (64,573) (799,966)
Segment profit 263,239 19,523 7,965 290,727
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5B.SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Parking
Machine Garage Forklift
Tools structures Trucks Total
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
For the year ended 31 December 2017
Revenue (all from external sales) 1,009,354 186,165 99,282 1,294,801
Cost of revenue (737,198) (154,055) (91,033) (982,286)
Segment profit 272,156 32,110 8,249 312,515

Majority of the Group's operations and identifiable non-current assets are located in the PRC and the Group mainly

sells to the PRC market. No customers contributed over 10% of total revenue of the Group for each of the years.

6A.OTHER INCOME

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

Sale of scrap materials 38,055 44,572
Consultancy income 2,629 -
Government grants and subsidies related to income* 22,787 22,182
Repair income 13,780 10,888
Rental income 460 220
Interest income 4,496 4,261
Others 2,276 1,360
84,483 83,483

Government grants and subsidies mainly represent the refund of value-added tax in relation to software embedded in the

sales of machine tools and parking garage structures. These grants and subsidies are accounted for as immediate financial

support with neither future related costs expected to be incurred nor related to any assets.
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6B. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
Gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 118 (37)
Net foreign exchange (loss) gain (28,439) 920
(28,321) 883

6C.OTHER EXPENSES
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
Provision for litigation claim (note 36) 60,117 -
Cost of scrap materials sold 27,851 35,517
87,968 35,517
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7. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

(Loss) profit before income tax has been arrived at after charging:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Directors and chief executives’ remuneration 1,690 1,839
Other staff costs 145,906 151,001
Other staff’s retirement benefits scheme contributions 4,910 5,036
Total staff costs 152,506 157,876
Capitalised in inventories (55,746) (61,632)
96,760 96,244
Analysed as:
Charged in selling expense 60,992 65,325
Charged in administrative expenses 23,987 19,057
Charged in research and development cost 11,781 11,862
96,760 96,244
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 20,795 22,343
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 2,905 3,032
Amortisation of intangible assets 1,252 1,403
Total depreciation and amortisation 24,952 26,778
Capitalised in inventories (10,967) (10,583)
13,985 16,195
Analysed as:
Charged in selling expense 1,261 1,326
Charged in administrative expenses 9,357 11,321
Charged in other operating expense 2,263 2,258
Charged in research and development costs 1,104 1,290
13,985 16,195
Auditor’s remuneration 1,808 1,984
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 765,594 884,532
Write-down (reversal) of inventories 2,087 (2,981)
Provision for warranty 4,983 6,282
Direct operating expenses incurred for rental income 330 137
Research and development costs
Staff costs 11,781 11,862
Depreciation and amortisation 1,104 1,290
Cost of inventories recognised as research expenditure 21,076 19,971
Others 3,126 10,673
37,087 43,796
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’ emoluments

The remuneration of each director and chief executive officer, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing

Rules and Companies Ordinance, is set out below:

Executive directors

Chu Chih Chen Chen Wen Chiu
Yaung  Hsiang-Jung* Min-Ho Chi-Tang Rung-Hsien Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Year ended
31 December 2018
Fees - - - 144 144 288
Salaries and other benefits - - - - - -
Retirement benefit
scheme contribution - - - - - -
Discretionary performance
related bonus 1,051 - - - - 1,051
Total 1,051 - - 144 144 1,339
Year ended
31 December 2017
Salaries and other benefits - 180 - 144 144 468
Retirement benefit
scheme contribution - - - - _ _
Discretionary performance
related bonus 518 518 - - - 1,036
Total 518 698 - 144 144 1,504

Chairman and also appointed as chief executive officer on 7 December 2018

Chief executive officer, passed away on 8 November 2018
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8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’ emoluments (Continued)

Independent non-executive directors

Koo
Fook Sun, Chiang Yu
Louis Chun-Te Yu-Tang Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Year ended 31 December 2018
Fees 175 88 88 351
Year ended 31 December 2017
Fees 167 84 84 335

The executive directors’ and chief executive officer's emoluments shown above were mainly for their services
as directors and chief executive officer and in connection with the management of the affairs of the Group. The

independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as directors.

The remuneration of the directors and chief executive officer is determined by factors including their time

commitment, responsibilities, performance, experiences, and the overall performance of the Group.

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, one (2017: one) was director of the
Company. The emoluments of the remaining four (2017: four) highest paid employees who are neither a

director nor chief executive officer of the company are as follows:

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB’'000

Salaries and allowances 1,987 1,902
Discretionary performance related bonus 1,992 1,928
Retirement benefit scheme contribution 165 110
4,144 3,940
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8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The emoluments of the five highest paid employees who are not the directors of the Company whose

remuneration fell within the following bands is as follow:

2018 2017
No. of No. of
employees employees
Nil to HKD1,000,000 2
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 2 3

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors and chief executive officer
of the Company or five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the directors or chief executive officer of the Company waived any

emoluments during the year.

9. FINANCE COSTS

2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000

Interest expense:
— Bank borrowings 14,180 8,803
— Other borrowings 583 -
Total borrowing costs 14,763 8,803
Less: amounts capitalised in the cost of qualifying assets (583) -
14,180 8,803

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on the other borrowings and are calculated by applying a

capitalisation rate of 4.75% per annum.
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2018 2017
RMB'000 RMB’000

Current Enterprise Income Tax ("EIT")
— Current year 16,403 18,347
— (Over) under provision in prior years (610) 1,729
15,793 20,076
Deferred tax credit (note 32) (799) (700)
14,994 19,376

No provision for Cayman Islands profits tax has been made as the Group did not have any assessable profit arising

in Cayman Islands for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made since the Group did not have any assessable profit arising in

Hong Kong for both years.

EIT is provided at 25% for enterprises in the PRC except for Hangzhou Good Friend Precision Machinery Co., Ltd.
("Hangzhou Good Friend”). Hangzhou Good Friend renewed its New and High-Tech Enterprise status in 2018,
which has been approved by the relevant government authorities, and it is entitled to a reduced tax rate of 15% for
a three-year period commencing 2018. Accordingly, the applicable tax rate for Hangzhou Good Friend in 2018 is
15% (2017: 15%).

In according to Detailed Implementation Regulations for implementation of the EIT law of the PRC issued on 6
December 2007, dividends paid out by companies established in the PRC to their then foreign investors is subject
to 10% withholding tax from 1 January 2008 onwards. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a
tax arrangement between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. Under the Arrangement
between the Mainland China and the Hong Kong Special Administration Region for the Avoidance of Double
Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with respect to Taxes on Income, or China-HK Tax Arrangement, a
qualified Hong Kong tax resident which is the “beneficial owner” and holds 25% or more of the equity interest in a

PRC-resident enterprise is entitled to a reduced withholding rate of 5%.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the directors of the Company have assessed that no dividends will be
declared by any of the PRC subsidiaries in the foreseeable future so it is concluded that no withholding tax shall be
accrued on the undistributed retained earnings of the PRC subsidiaries as the Group amounting to RMB237,377,000
(2017: RMB182,730,000) as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of such temporary differences
and it is probable that such temporary differences would not be reversed in foreseeable future. During the year, no
dividend was declared and paid by any of the PRC subsidiaries.
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to (loss) profit before income tax per the consolidated statement

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
(Loss) profit before income tax (42,730) 85,066
Add: Share of loss of joint ventures and associates 43,305 5,651
575 90,717
Tax calculated at tax rates applicable to
the principal operating entity of the Group (15%) 86 13,608
Tax effect of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 8,018 5,440
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (1,467) (547)
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset was recognised 12,048 2,117
Deductible temporary differences not recognised 1,043 31
Utilisation of deductible temporary differences
previously not recognised - (661)
Different tax rates of subsidiaries (62) 394
Tax concession granted to Hangzhou Good Friend (4,062) (2,735)
(Over) under provision in prior years (610) 1,729
14,994 19,376

11. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic (loss) earnings per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to RMB57,724,000 (2017: profit attributable to owners of the Company: RMB65,690,000) by the number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year of 403,200,000 (2017: 403,200,000) shares.

2018 2017

Basic (loss) earnings per share (RMB per share) (0.14) 0.16

No diluted (loss) earnings per share was presented as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares in issue for

both years.
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12. DIVIDENDS
2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Dividends for ordinary shareholders of the Company recognised as
distribution during the year:
2018 interim dividend of RMBO0.05 per share and 2017 final
dividend of RMBO0.06 per share
(2017: 2017 interim dividend of RMBO0.05 per share) 44,352 20,160

No dividends was proposed for ordinary shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018.

13. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying values
At the beginning of the year 125,957 123,855
Additions - 5,134
Amortised to profit or loss (2,905) (3,032
At the end of the year 123,052 125,957
Less: Amount to be amortised within one year (2,905) (2,905)
Non-current portion 120,147 123,052

The Group has pledged its prepaid lease payments with carrying amounts of approximately RMB87,600,000 as at
31 December 2018 (2017: RMB3,352,000) to secure the general banking facilities granted to the Group and other
borrowings of the Group as disclosed in note 42.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Machinery Office and

and computer Motor  Construction

Buildings equipment equipment vehicles in progress Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
COST
At 1 January 2017 204,107 169,702 31,422 21,431 3216 429,878
Additions 1,532 1,399 862 984 3,699 8,476
Transfers 145 - 78 - (223) -
Disposals (562) (2,279) (812) (1,844) - (5,497)
At 31 December 2017 205,222 168,822 31,550 20,571 6,692 432,857
Additions 272 1,863 667 2,317 40,386 45,505
Transfers - 172 57 - (229) -
Disposals - (840) (427) (2,769) - (4,036)
At 31 December 2018 205,494 170,017 31,847 20,119 46,849 474,326
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2017 76,812 114,538 24,059 19137 - 234,546
Provided for the year 9,398 10,684 1,137 1,124 - 22,343
Disposals (67) (1,953) (753) (1,660) - (4,433)
At 31 December 2017 86,143 123,269 24,443 18,601 - 252,456
Provided for the year 9,157 9,524 992 1122 - 20,795
Disposals - (751) (392) (2,492) - (3,635)
At 31 December 2018 95,300 132,042 25,043 17,231 - 269,616
CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2018 110,194 37,975 6,804 2,888 46,849 204,710
At 31 December 2017 119,079 45,553 7,107 1,970 6,692 180,401

The Group has pledged its buildings with carrying amounts of approximately RMB7,763,000 as at 31 December
2018 (2017: RMB8,428,000) to secure the general banking facilities granted to the Group as disclosed in note 42.
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15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Softwares
RMB’000

Cost
At 1 January 2017 14,482
Additions 1,175
At 31 December 2017 15,657
Additions 264
At 31 December 2018 15,921
Amortisation
At 1 January 2017 11,051
Charge for the year 1,403
At 31 December 2017 12,454
Charge for the year 1,252
At 31 December 2018 13,706
CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2018 2,215
At 31 December 2017 3,203
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The following is a list of subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December 2018 and 2017:

Place of

incorporation/

Issued and fully

paid-up share capital/

Name operation Principal activities registered capital Interest held
2018 2017
Directly held subsidiaries
Winning Steps Ltd. British Virgin Investment holding Ordinary shares USD110 100% 100%
Island (“BVI")
Yu Hwa Holdings Ltd. BVI Investment holding Ordinary shares 100% 100%
USD1,500,000
Hai Sheng International Holdings Inc. ~ BVI Investment holding Ordinary shares 100% 100%
USD200,000
Sky Thrive Investment Ltd. BVI Investment holding Ordinary shares 100% 100%
USD5,000,000
Kai Win Group Ltd. BVI Investment holding Ordinary shares USD1 100% 100%
Winnings Steps Hong Kong Hong Kong Trading and Investment holding Ordinary shares 100% 100%
Development Ltd. HKD1,000
Full Moral Industrial Ltd. Hong Kong Inactive Ordinary shares HKD2 100% 100%
Yu Hwa Hong Kong Enterprise Ltd. Hong Kong Investment holding Ordinary shares 100% 100%
HKD1,000
Hai Sheng International Hong Kong Hong Kong Investment holding Ordinary shares 100% 100%
Ltd. HKD1,000
Sky Thrive Hong Kong Enterprise Ltd ~ Hong Kong Investment holding Ordinary shares 100% 100%
("Sky Thrive"). HKD1,000
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16. DETAILS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Issued and fully
paid-up share capital/

Name operation Principal activities registered capital Interest held
2018 2017
Indirectly held subsidiaries
Hangzhou Good Friend PRC Design and production of Registered Capital 100% 100%
computer numerical control, USD11,000,000
design machine tools
and construction of three
dimensional car parking garage
structure
Hangzhou Global Friend Precision PRC Design and assembling of forklift ~ Registered Capital 100% 100%
Machinery Co., Ltd. trucks USD10,000,000
Hangzhou Ever Friend Precision PRC Design and production of Registered Capital 100% 100%
Machinery Co., Ltd. computer numerical control USD30,000,000
machine tools
Hangzhou Glory Friend Machinery PRC Processing of computer numerical ~ Registered Capital 100% 100%
Technology Co., Ltd. control machine tools USD15,000,000
Rich Friend (Shanghai) Precision PRC Trading of computer numerical Registered Capital 100% 100%
Machinery Co., Ltd. control machine tools USD200,000
Huller Hille (Shanghai) Machinery Co.,  PRC Trading of high-end machine tools  Registered Capital 100% 100%
Ltd. (“Huller Hille") USD1,000,000
Fair Friend (Henan) Precision PRC Design and production of Registered Capital 100% 100%

Machinery Co., Ltd.

computer numerical control
machine tools, design

and construction of three
dimensional car parking garage

structure

USD30,000,000
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17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

Cost of unlisted investments in joint ventures 27,666 27,666
Share of post-acquisition losses (7,161) (9,279)
20,505 18,387

Details of each of the Group's joint ventures at the end of the reporting period are as follow:

Country of Principal Proportion of Proportion of
incorporation/ place of ownership interest held voting rights held
Name of entity registration business by the Group by the Group Principal activity
2018 2017 2018 2017
Anest lwata Feeler Corporation ("AlF") PRC PRC 35% 35% 35% 35%  Manufacture and sales of air
compressor and parts
Hangzhou Nippon Cable Feeler Corporation  PRC PRC 50% 50% 50% 50%  Wholesale and export of parking
("Nippon Cable Feeler”) garage structures
Hangzhou Feeler Mectron Machinery PRC PRC 45% 45% 45% 45%  Manufacture and sales of machine
tools and related products
Hangzhou Union Friend Machinery Co., Ltd. ~ PRC PRC 55% 55% 55% 55%  Manufacture and sales of machine
("UFM") tools and related products
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17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of material joint venture

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s material joint venture is set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents amounts shown in the joint venture's financial statements

prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial statements.

AIF
2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB’000
Current assets 48,455 42979
Non-current assets 28,681 30,547
Current liabilities (23,764) (24,024)
Non-current liabilities (7,065) (6,544)
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the following:
Cash and cash equivalents 8,990 6,149
Current financial liabilities
(excluding trade and other payables and provisions) (8,403) (9,468)
2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB’000
Revenue 102,765 93,267
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 3,349 6,134
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17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of material joint venture (Continued)

The above profit and total comprehensive income for the year includes the following:

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

Depreciation and amortisation 2,971 3,031
Interest income (10) (8)
Interest expense 405 400

Income tax expense - -

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in AIF

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Net assets of AIF 46,307 42,958
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in AlF 35% 35%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in AlF 16,207 15,035
Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually material
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
The Group's share of profit (loss) and total
comprehensive income (expense) for the year 946 (254)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's interests of
these joint ventures 4,298 3,352
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Cost of unlisted investments in associates 415,701 415,701
Share of post-acquisition losses and other comprehensive expenses (119,317) (92,143)
Exchange difference arising on translation of foreign operations 34,939 32,359
331,323 355,917
As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group has interests in the following associates:
Country of Principal Proportion of Proportion of
incorporation/  place of ownership interest held voting rights held
Name of entity registration business by the Group by the Group Principal activity
2018 2017 2018 2017
FFG Europe S.p.A. ("FFG Europe”) Italy Italy 30.16% 30.16% 30.16% 30.16%  Manufacture and sales of machine
tools and related products
FFG Werke Gmbh ("FFG Werke") Germany Germany 39.00% 39.00% 39.00% 39.00%  Manufacture and distribution of
machine tools, spare parts and
accessories; providing training
and maintenance service for
machine tools and products
FFG European and American Holdings GmbH ~ Germany Germany 81.37% 81.37% 33.33% 33.33%  Investment holding company.
("FFG EA")
FFG Europe

FFG Europe is owned approximately as to 30.16% by Sky Thrive, 22.08% by Golden Friendship International Limited
("Golden Friendship”) (a wholly owned subsidiary of Fair Friend, which not forming part of the Group), 21.70% by
World Ten Limited ("World Ten"”) (16.24% of its issued share capital indirectly held by Fair Friend), and 26.06% by
Alma S.r.l (an independent third party).

According to the article of associate of FFG Europe, shareholder resolutions are to be adopted by a simple majority
of all shareholders authorised to vote, and each share confers one vote. As such the Group has significant influence
in FFG Europe. Accordingly, the Group accounted for such investment as an associate in the consolidated financial

statements.
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
FFG Werke

FFG Werke is owned approximately as to 37.00% by World Ten, 10.00% by Golden Friendship, 39.00% by Sky Thrive
and 14.00% by Golden Wealth Inc. Limited (“Golden Wealth”) (an independent third party).

According to the article of associate of FFG Werke, shareholder resolutions are to be adopted by a simple majority
of all shareholders authorised to vote, and each share confers one vote. As such the Group has significant influence
in FFG Werke. Accordingly, the Group accounted for such investment as an associate in the consolidated financial

statements.

FFG EA

FFG EA is owned approximately as to 81.37% by Sky Thrive, 12.12% by Leadwell CNC Machines Mfg. Corp. (16.24%
of its issued share capital held by Fair Friend), and 6.51% by Fair Friend.

The shareholders of FFG EA have agreed to establish a shareholder committee, under which each of three
shareholders shall be entitled to designate one member vote of the shareholders’ committee. The entire control
over FFG EA shall be governed by the shareholder committee, and any resolution passed with the shareholder
committee will be based on simple majority. The Group is able to exercise significant influence over FFG EA.

Accordingly, the Group accounted for such investment as an associate in the consolidated financial statements.

The principal investment of FFG EA is a 55.3% equity interest in FFG European Holding GmbH (“FFG European”),
an investment company incorporated in Germany, which in turn effectively owns a 100% equity interest in MAG
Global Holding GmbH (“MAG") and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “MAG Group”). The remaining
44.70% equity interest in FFG European is owned as to 18.7% by Mega Grant Limited ("Mega Grant”) (an
independent third party), 17% by Full Alliance Investment Limited (“Full Alliance”) (an independent third party),
and 9% by Golden Wealth. The principal activities of MAG Group are production of machine tools and production

systems in Germany and USA.
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised statement of financial position

FFG Europe FFG Werke FFG EA Total

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

Cash 13,723 32,535 13,456 4,697 188,920 257,687 216,099 294,919
Other current assets 607,796 488,518 468,078 545,100 2,057,476 1927309 3,133,350 2,960,927
Total current assets 621,519 521,053 481,534 549,797 2,246,396 2,184,996 3,349,449 3,255,846
Short term bank borrowings (123,572) (100,985) (237,945) (177,916) (207,568) (254,488) (569,085) (533,389)
Other financial liabilities (473,612) (400,297) (397,572) (375,056)  (1,835,053) (1,648,361)  (2,706,237) (2,423,714)
Total current liabilities (597,184) (501,282) (635,517) (552,972)  (2,042,621) (1,902,849)  (3,275,322) (2,957,103
Non-current assets 190,028 181,887 138,068 236,230 1,743,790 1,875,938 2,071,886 2,294,055
Non-current liabilities (232,226) (211,887) (212,408) (294,685)  (1,205,208) (1,366,409)  (1,649,842) (1,872,981)
Net (deficit) assets (17,863) (10,229 (228,323) (61,630) 742,357 791,676 496,171 719,817
Less: non-controlling interests - - - - 335,177 354,271 335,177 354,271
Net (deficit) assets attributed to the owners

of the associate (17,863) (10,229) (228,323) (61,630) 407,180 437,405 160,994 365,546
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

FFG Europe FFG Werke FFG EA Total

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Revenue 631,160 563,027 532,846 703335 3,572,255 3432545 4,736,261 4,698,907
Cost of revenue (375,777) (335,689) (437,216) (665,341)  (3,077,960) (2,879.477)  (3,890,953) (3,880,507)
Other expenses (257,321) (256,374) (251,882) (121,598) (535,239) (593,710)  (1,044,442) (971,682)
Loss before tax (1,938) (29,036) (156,252) (83,604) (40,944) (40,642) (199,134) (153,282)
Income tax credit (expense) 969 7,150 (14,603) (12,095) (42,263) 73,065 (55,897) 68,120
(Loss) profit for the year (969) (21,886) (170,855) (95,699) (83,207) 32,423 (255,031) (85,162)
Less: non-controlling interest - - - - (27,384) 10,637 (27,384) 10,637
(Loss) profit for the year attributed to

owners of the associate (969) (21,886) (170,855) (95,699) (55,823) 21,786 (227,647) (95,799

Other comprehensive expense for

the year attributed to owners of

the associate - - - (2,185) 22,427 (57,690) 22,427 (59,875)
Share of (loss) profit of associates (292) (6,601) (66,634) (37,322) (45,423) 17,726 (112,349) (26,197)
Less: the unrecognised share of

loss of associates (292) (3,085) (66,634) (15,568) - - (66,926) (18,653)
The recognised share of (loss)

profit of associates - (3,516) - (21,754) (45,423) 17,726 (45,423) (7,544)

Share of other comprehensive (expense)
income of associates - - - (852) 18,249 (46,942) 18,249 (47,794)
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Set out below is a reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying amount of its

investments in associates.

Summarised financial information

FFG Europe FFG Werke FFG EA Total

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000

Opening net assets (10,229) 13,846 (61,630) 35,964 437,405 441,177 365,546 490,987
Exchange difference (6,665) (2,189) 4,162 290 3,171 32,132 668 30,233
Other comprehensive (expense)

income for the year - - - (2,185) 22,427 (57,690 22,427 (59,875)
(Loss) profit for the year attributed

to owners of the associate (969) (21,886) (170,855) (95,699) (55,823) 21,786 (227,647) (95,799)
Closing net assets attributed to

owners of the associates as

at 31 December (17,863) (10,229 (228,323) (61,630) 407,180 437,405 160,994 365,546
Equity interest 30.16% 30.16% 39.00% 39.00% 81.37% 81.37%
Share of net assets (5,387) (3,085) (89,047) (24,036) 331,323 355,917 236,889 328,796
The unrecognised share of loss

of associates 5,387 3,085 80,579 15,568 - - 85,966 18,653
Gooduwill (note a) - - 2,451 2,451 - - 2,451 2,451
Effect of fair value adjustment at

acquisition (note a) - - 6,017 6,017 - - 6,017 6,017
Carrying value as at 31 December - - - - 331,323 355,917 331,323 355,917
Note:

a. The Group originally held 13.5% equity interest in FFG Werke and accounted for the investment as available-
for-sale using cost method. In late September 2015, the Group acquired further 25.5% equity interest in FFG
Werke for the consideration of Euro2,340,000. Goodwill of RMB2,451,000 and effect of fair value adjustment
at acquisition of RMB8,544,000 was recognised in respect of this further acquisition of equity interest. The fair

value adjustment is subject to amortisation over the estimated useful life of the relevant assets.
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19A. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENT

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

Trade receivables 323,790 387,221
Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables (46,931) (37,811)
276,859 349,410

Bills receivables - 128,054
Prepayments 44,713 41,662
Others 24,238 22,815
Total trade and other receivables and prepayment 345,810 541,941

The Group generally allows a credit period of 30 to 180 days to its customers. The Group also allows its customers
to retain certain percentage of the outstanding balances as retention money amounted to RMB22,699,000
(2017: RMB22,487,000) of which the conditions to entitlement of consideration had been reached and became

unconditional.

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the aging analysis of gross trade receivables based on past due date was as

follows:
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Current - 30 days 207,953 269,787
31 - 60 days 2,365 6,943
61 - 90 days 4,568 8,576
91 - 180 days 10,353 20,052
Over 180 days 98,551 81,863
323,790 387,221
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19A. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENT (Continued)

At 31 December 2017, the aging analysis of bills receivables based on past due date was as follows:

2017
RMB'000

Current — 30 days 128,054

As at 31 December 2018, included in the Group's trade receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of RMB108,904,000 which are past due over 90 days as at the reporting date. Out of the past due
balances, RMB62,039,000 has been past due and not in dispute, which is not considered as in default because
the management of the Group, according to the historical settlement pattern, industry practice and the Group's
historical actual loss experience, had assessed that the probability of settlement from their customers was high
in respect of those debtors. The management of the Group considered that the risk of default became high and

defaulted when those debtors had been past due over 1 year or with disputes to the Group.

As at 31 December 2017, the management of the Group assessed whether there is objective evidence that trade
receivables are impaired. The Group would provide impairment for receivables that were considered to be impaired

individually based on management assessment performed at the end of the reporting period.
As at December 2017, included in the Group's trade receivables are debtors with an aggregate carrying amount of
RMB83,440,000 which are past due for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss. The Group does not

hold any collateral over these balances.

Aging of gross trade receivables which are past due but no impaired:

2017

RMB'000

1 - 30 days 17,009
31 - 60 days 6,567
61 - 90 days 8,529
91 -180 days 13,981
Over 180 days 37,354
83,440
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19A. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENT (Continued)

Movements of provision for impairment of trade receivables of the Group in 2018 are as follows:

2018
RMB'000
At 1 January 37,811
Remeasurement of loss allowance under ECL 5,340
Adjusted balance as at 1 January 43,151
Provision for impairment 9,131
Receivables written off (5,351)
At 31 December 46,931
Movements of provision for impairment of trade receivables of the Group in 2017 are as follows:
2017
RMB'000
At 1 January 33,792
Provision for impairment 5,505
Reversal written off (1,486)
At 31 December 37,811

Included in the balance of provision for impairment for trade receivables in 2017 are individually impaired trade
receivables with an aggregate balance of RMB37,811,000 which are considered as not recoverable with reference to

the historical collection experience. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The Group's trade and other receivables and prepayment that are denominated in currency other than the

functional currency of the relevant group entities is set out below:

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

usD 23,404 20,211
EUR 16,708 24,044
Other currencies 1,508 1,170
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19B. CONTRACT ASSETS

31 December 1 January

2018 2018*

RMB’'000 RMB’000

Machine Tools 30,692 32,237
Parking Garage Structures 16,265 14,466
46,957 46,703

Less: loss allowance on contract assets (230) (486)
46,727 46,217

The amounts in this column are after adjustments from the application of HKFRS 9 and 15.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to billing for work completed and not billed because the
rights are conditional upon specified payment milestones at the end of each reporting date. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional. The Group typically transfers the contract
assets to trade receivables when the Group achieved the specific milestones of payments in the corresponding

contracts.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current asset because the Group expects to realise them in its normal

operating cycle.

Movement of loss allowance on contract assets

Movement of loss allowance on contract assets for the year ended 31 December 2018:

2018

RMB’000

At 1 January -
Remeasurement of loss allowance under ECL 486
Adjusted balance as at 1 January 486
Reversal of loss allowance (256)
At 31 December 230

GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC.  Annual Report 2018




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19C. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had transferred to its suppliers by endorsing bills amounted to RMB75,770,000
(2017: RMB183,328,000).

As those bills are issued by banks with high credit rating, the management of the Group had assessed and
satisfied that the Group had transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards relating to those bills. The Group
had derecognised the full carrying amount of the abovementioned bills and the corresponding amount of trade

payables.

20. LOAN RECEIVABLE

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's loan receivable to Mega Grant is unsecured, non-interest bearing, repayable

within one year.

The Group's loan receivable that is denominated in currency other than the functional currency of the relevant

group entities is set out below:

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
EUR 35,627 -
21. RECEIVABLES AT FVTOCI
2018
RMB’'000
Bills receivables aged within 6 months presented based on the issue dates of bills receivables 106,400
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22. INVENTORIES

2018 2017

RMB'000 RMB’000

Raw materials 62,425 62,791
Work in progress 234,030 90,002
Finished goods 228,297 192,833
524,752 345,626

In 2018, a write-down of inventories of RMB2,087,000 has been recognised and included in cost of sales. In 2017,
a reversal of inventories of RMB2,981,000 has been recognised and included in cost of sales, primarily due to that

some certain parts with long aging were reused to make robotic hands in research and development project.

23. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) CUSTOMERS FOR CONTRACT WORK

2017

RMB’'000

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses 913,875
Less: progress billings (906,418)
7,457

2017

RMB’000

Amounts due from contract customers 50,270
Amounts due to contract customers (42,813)
Net amounts due from customers for contract work 7,457
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24. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK BALANCES

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

Restricted bank deposits 15,900 32,716
Restricted bank balances (note 36) 54,087 -
69,987 32,716

Restricted bank deposits represent the amounts placed in banks as guarantees issued for trade finance facilities
granted to the Group. The deposits have maturity period within one year which carry fixed interest rate at 0.3%
(2017: 0.4%) per annum.

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL/STRUCTURED DEPOSITS

The Group entered into structured deposits with banks and the return of these investments is not guaranteed.

On 1 January 2018, the Group adopted HKFRS 9 and the structured deposits were mandatorily measured at FVTPL.

26. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from 0.35% to 1.5% (31 December 2017: 0.35% to 1.5%)

per annum.

The Group's bank balances and cash that are denominated in currency other than the functional currency of the

relevant group entities is set out below:

2018 2017

RMB’'000 RMB'000

usD 6,114 10,777
EUR 31,418 7,225
Other currencies 7,248 1,097
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27. SHARE CAPITAL

Number Share Share
of shares capital capital
‘000 HKD'000 RMB'000
Ordinary share of HKDO0.01 each
Authorised:
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017,
1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 1,000,000 10,000 10,211
Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017,
1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 403,200 4,032 4,022

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

2018 2017

RMB’'000 RMB'000

Trade payables 163,957 196,462

Advance deposits from customers - 296,284

Other payables 32,474 54,170

Accrued expenses 46,538 42,776

Total trade and other payables and accrued expenses 242,969 589,692
The following is an aging analysis of trade payables presented based on maturity date:

2018 2017

RMB’'000 RMB'000

Current — 30 days 92,947 113,021

31 - 60 days 44,181 51,625

61 - 90 days 5,447 7,592

91 - 180 days 6,926 12,499

Over 180 days 14,456 11,725

163,957 196,462
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES (Continued)

The Group normally receives credit terms of 30 to 60 days.

The Group's trade and other payables and accrued expenses are dominated in currency other than the functional

currency of the relevant group entities is set out below:

2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
usb 3,224 24,056
EUR 13,436 104,157
HKD 2,111 2,054
29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

31 December 1 January

2018 2018*
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Machine tools 145,501 280,784
Parking garage structures 205,920 149,490
Forklift trucks 7.330 6,437
358,751 436,711

* The amounts in this column are after the adjustments from the application of HKFRS 15.

Contract liabilities that are expected to be settled within the Group’s normal operating cycle are classified as

current liabilities.
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current year relates to carried-

forward contract liabilities. There were no revenue recognised in the current year that related to performance

obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.
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29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the year:

RMB’000
Machine tools 236,258
Parking garage structures 149,490
Forklift trucks 6,437
392,185

30. WARRANTY PROVISION
2018 2017
RMB'000 RMB’000
At 1 January 5,755 6,018
Provision for the year 4,983 6,282
Utilisation of provision (5,427) (6,545)
At 31 December 5,311 5,755

The warranty provision represents the management’s best estimate of the Group’s liability under 1 to 2 years

warranty based on prior experience and industry average level for defective products.
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31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
Bank borrowings — variable interest rate 563,239 367,428
Other borrowings — interest free 35,093 -
598,332 367,428
Secured 35,093 -
Unsecured 563,239 367,428
598,332 367,428

Carrying amount repayable*
Within one year 563,239 367,428
Within a period of more than two years but not exceeding five years 35,093 -
598,332 367,428

* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

The Group's variable interest rate borrowings carry interest at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate/London Interbank
Offered Rate/Taipei Interbank Offered Rate/Euro Interbank Offered Rate.

The Group's other borrowings are interest-free loan of RMB43,522,000 received from the PRC government. The loan
is repayable in full in 2023. Using prevailing market interest rate for an equivalent loan of 4.75%, the fair value of
the loan at inception is estimated at RMB34,510,000. The difference of RMB9,012,000 between the gross proceeds
and the fair value of the other borrowings are the benefit derived from the interest-free loan and is recognised as
deferred income (note 33) and will be recognised in profit or loss on the same basis as depreciation for the related

property, plant and equipment.
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31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

The range of effective interest rates of the Group's bank and other borrowings are as follows:

2018 2017
Effective interest rate 0.9% to 4.75% 1.20% to 4.79%
per annum per annum

The Group's bank and other borrowings that are denominated in currency other than the functional currency of the

relevant group entities is set out below:

2018 2017

RMB’'000 RMB'000

usb 106,268 265,444
EUR 139,172 9,951
HKD 305,014 92,033

Notes:

(@) The Group has pledged its prepaid lease payments with carrying amounts of approximately RMB3,262,000 (2017:
RMB3,352,000) and buildings with carrying amounts of approximately RMB7,763,000 (2017: RMB8,428,000) as at 31
December 2018 to secure the general banking facilities granted to it. As at 31 December 2018, the Group has not utilised
such secured bank facilities (2017: Nil).

(b)  As at 31 December 2018, none of the Group's bank facilities was guaranteed by irrevocable standby letter of credits, while as
at 31 December 2017, the Group's bank facilities of RMB34,608,000 were guaranteed by irrevocable standby letter of credits

issued by banks of which none was utilised.

() As at 31 December 2018, cross guarantees between subsidiaries of RMB67,785,000 (2017: RMB108,000,000) have
been provided to banks to guarantee the Group's bank borrowings of which RMB22,302,000 has been utilised (2017:
RMB6,880,000).

(d) As at 31 December 2018, personal guarantees were provided by a director of the Company and a related party of the Group
in respect of the Group's bank facilities of RMB96,085,000 (2017: RMB78,410,000).

(e) As at 31 December 2018, the Group's other borrowings of RMB35,093,000 were secured by prepaid lease payments with
carrying amounts of approximately RMB84,338,000.
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32. DEFERRED TAXATION

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
Deferred income tax assets 27,520 22,401
The movement on the deferred income tax assets during the year are as follows:
Allowance
for doubtful Allowance Warranty Sales Deferred
receivables for inventories provision commission income Others Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
As at 1 January 2017 3,870 753 866 917 15,295 - 21,701
Credit (charge) to profit or loss 375 313 (@7) 59 - - 700
At 31 December 2017 4,245 1,066 819 976 15,295 - 22,401
Effect arising on adoption
of HKFRS 15 - - - - - 4,054 4,054
Effect arising on adoption of
HKFRS 9 619 - - - - - 619
Adjusted balance at
1 January 2018 4,864 1,066 819 976 15,295 4,054 21,074
Charge to other
comprehensive income (353 - - - - - (353)
Credit (charge) to profit or loss 233 129 (53) 490 - - 799
At 31 December 2018 4,744 1,195 766 1,466 15,295 4,054 27,520

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had unutilised tax losses of approximately RMB130,086,000 (2017:
RMB66,018,000) available for offsetting against future profits. No deferred tax asset had been recognised as it is not

probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

Apart from unutilised tax losses as mentioned above, the Group had other deductible temporary differences
of RMB166,345,000 (2017: RMB152,294,000) available to offset against future profits as at 31 December 2018.
Deductible temporary differences of RMB115,652,000 (2017: RMB108,553,000) had been recognised in deferred
tax assets as at 31 December 2018, while RMB50,693,000 (2017: RMB43,741,000) had not been recognised as it is
not probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be

utilised.
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32. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

These tax losses will be carried forward and expire in years as follows:

2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000

With expiry in:
2018 - 6,472
2019 5,455 5,528
2020 13,611 17,808
2021 16,588 22,100
2022 14,472 14,110
2023 79,960 -
130,086 66,018

33. DEFERRED INCOME

2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB'000
Assets related government grants 70,192 61,180

In November 2016, Fair Friend Henan received certain government grants and subsidies amounting to
RMB61,180,000 for its specified purpose to invest in plants and equipment. These grants and subsidies will be
recognised in profit or loss over the useful lives of the relevant assets. Furthermore, in April 2018, Fair Friend Henan
received an interest-free loan government grant with the benefit amounted to RMB9,012,000 (see note 31 for
details). Up to the date of the approval of these consolidated financial statements, the related construction of the
plants and equipment are still under construction and thus the deferred income is not yet recognised in profit or
loss.
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34. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
(Loss) profit before income tax: (42,730) 85,066
Adjustments for:
— Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 2,905 3,032
— Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 9,894 11,826
— Amortisation of intangible assets 1,186 1,337
— Impairment loss on trade receivables and contract assets 8,875 5,505
— Write-down (reversal) of inventories 2,087 (2,981)
— Share of profit of joint ventures (2,118) (1,893)
— Share of loss of associates 45,423 7,544
— (Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (118) 37
— Interest income (4,496) (4,267)
— Interest expense 14,180 8,803
— Warranty expenses 4,983 6,282
— Unrealised net exchange loss 25,195 4,685
— Provision for litigation claim 60,117 -
— Sales return 3,037 -
Changes in working capital:
— Inventories 11,468 (129,234)
— Trade and other receivables and prepayment 20,400 (48,363)
— Contract assets (254) -
— Restricted bank balances (54,807) -
— Amounts due from customers for contract work - (9,578)
— Amount due from ultimate holding company 1,053 1,057
— Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and
associates of ultimate holding company 1,453 1,042
— Amounts due from joint ventures 391 70
— Amounts due from an associate and subsidiaries of an associate (27,248) 46,542
— Trade and other payables and accrued expenses (7,382) 99,237
— Contract liabilities (77,960) -
— Amounts due to customers for contract work - 11,131
— Amount due to ultimate holding company (6,762) 5,012
— Amount due to immediate holding company 709 1,504
— Amounts due to joint ventures (246) 416
— Amounts due to an associate and subsidiaries of an associate (8,892) 29,346
— Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and
associates of ultimate holding company (36) (1,830)
— Warranty provision (5,427) (6,545)
Cash (used in) generated from operations (25,120) 124,789

GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC.  Annual Report 2018



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise:

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

Carrying amount at date of disposal: 401 1,064
Gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 118 (37)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 519 1,027

35. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing activities, including both the cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash

flows will be classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Dividends Bank and other Deferred
payable borrowings income Total
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
At 1 January 2017 - 350,772 61,180 411,952
Financing cash flows (note) (20,160) 3,168 - (16,992)
Non-cash changes
Foreign exchange translation - 4,685 - 4,685
Interest expenses - 8,803 - 8,803
Dividends recognised as distributions 20,160 - - 20,160
At 31 December 2017 - 367,428 61,180 428,608
Financing cash flows (note) (44,352) 190,946 9,012 155,606
Non-cash changes
Foreign exchange translation - 25,195 - 25,195
Interest expenses - 14,763 - 14,763
Dividends recognised as distributions 44,352 - - 44,352
At 31 December 2018 - 598,332 70,192 668,524
Note: The financing cash flow of bank and other borrowings represents the proceeds from and repayments of bank and other

borrowings and interest paid in the consolidated statement of cash flows.
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36. PROVISION FOR LITIGATION CLAIM

In September 2015, the Group's subsidiary, Huller Hille, entered into a sales contract with an independent third
party (the “"Customer”) to sell 7 sets of high-end CNC machine tools (the “Machine Tools"”) to the Customer, which
were originally procured from FFG Werke. In October 2015, Huller Hille, Hangzhou Good Friend and the Customer
entered into a supplementary agreement that Hangzhou Good Friend shall, collectively with Huller Hille, share the
rights and obligations as the seller set out in the contract entered into in September 2015. The delivery of the 7 sets

of Machine tools were completed by Huller Hille in 2017.

Subsequent to the delivery, the Customer raised to Huller Hille that some of the Machine Tools did not meet the
product quality requirement as set out in the contract. After a few round of amendments and negotiations with
the Customer, the Customer and Huller Hille still could not reach consensus on the product quality of the Machine
Tools. Finally the Customer raised a litigation to the Province Higher People’'s Court in Anhui. On 31 August 2018,
the Province Higher People’s Court in Anhui issued the first-instance judgement in favour to the Customer for which
the Customer shall return the 7 sets of Machine Tools to the Group and the Group shall refund and compensate the

Customer in an aggregate amount of RMB161,020,000.

In October 2018, the Group then filed an appeal to the Supreme People’s Court (the “Second-instance”). As at the
date of the approval of these consolidated financial statements, the Second-instance is still in progress.

As at 31 December 2018, an aggregate bank balance of RMB54,087,000 in Hangzhou Good Friend were being
frozen by banks as the respective banks had received notice from court with regard to the litigation claim.

After taking into account of the legal opinion of an independent PRC legal counsel and the current status of the
litigation, the directors of the Company made their best estimation on the amount of refund to the Customer
amounted to RMB100,903,000 which has been recognised as “refund liabilities” in the consolidated statement
of financial position and the expected loss on settlement of the litigation amounted to RMB60,117,000, which is
provided for under “provision for litigation claim” in the consolidated statement of financial position and recorded

as "other expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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37. COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided
in the consolidated financial statements in respect of:
— Construction of plant 53,134 2,615
(b) Operating lease commitment
The Group as lessee
2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Minimum lease payments paid under
operating leases during the year 8,232 8,606

At the reporting date, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments relating to office rental

under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

2018 2017

RMB'000 RMB‘000

No later than 1 year 4,764 4,838
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 1,481 2,339
6,245 7177
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38. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall

strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes bank and other borrowings disclosed in note
31, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share capital,

share premium and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure periodically. As a part of this review, the directors of the
Company assess the annual budget prepared by various departments, which takes into account future expansion
plans and sources of funding. The directors of the Company consider the cost of capital and the risk associated with
each class of capital. The directors of the Company also balance its overall capital structure through the payment of

dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debts or redemption of existing debts.

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

a. Categories of financial instruments

2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Financial assets
Receivables at FVTOCI 106,400 -
Financial assets at FVTPL 108,020 -
Structured deposits - 76,140
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) - 753,530
Financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents) 670,927 -
885,347 829,670
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 830,667 669,191
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include financial assets at FVTPL, trade receivables, loan receivable,
other receivables, structured deposits, receivables at FVTOCI, amounts due from (to) related parties (including
ultimate holding company, fellow subsidiaries, associates of ultimate holding company, joint ventures,
associates and subsidiaries of an associate), restricted bank deposits and bank balances, bank balances
and cash, trade and other payables, and bank and other borrowings. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include foreign
exchange risk, interest rate risk, other price risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group is mainly exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars
and Euro against RMB. This foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions or recognised
assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency of RMB. The
Group manages its foreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews of the Group's net foreign exchange

exposures and it has not hedged its foreign exchange risk.

During the year end 31 December 2018, approximately 14.82% (2017: 19.12%) of the Group's sales and
approximately 6.56% (2017: 24.07%) of the Group's purchase are denominated in currency other than the
functional currency of the relevant group entities making the sale. In addition, the subsidiaries of the Company
have intra-group balances with other subsidiaries denominated in foreign currency which also expose to the

Group of foreign exchange risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group's monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in currency other

than the respective group entities’ functional currency at the end of each reporting period are as follows:

Liabilities Assets
2018 2017 2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
usb 110,083 291,161 35,226 36,206
EUR 156,683 118,890 97,767 41,399
HKD 307,125 94,087 7,598 7,065

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy as the management of the Group
considers that the foreign exchange risk exposure of the Group is minimal. The Group will consider hedging

significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Foreign exchange risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase in the functional currency of the relevant
group entities against the foreign currency. 5% is the sensitivity rate used in management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items, and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period

for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.

A positive (negative) number below indicates an increase (decrease) in post-tax profit and a decrease (increase)
in post-tax loss for the year where the functional currency of relevant group entities strengthening against the
relevant foreign currency. For a 5% weakening of the functional currency of relevant group entities, there would

be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax (loss) profit for the year.

Post-tax (loss) profit
for the year

2018 2017

RMB’'000 RMB'000

usb 3,127 10,644
EUR 2,461 3,235
HKD 12,510 3,633

In addition, the conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of the foreign

exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent

foreign currency risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed interest rate restricted bank deposits
(see note 24 for details). The Group currently does not have any interest rate hedging policy. The management
of the Group monitors the Group's exposure on an on-going basis and will consider hedging interest rate risk

should the need arises.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable interest rate bank borrowings,

restricted bank balances and bank balances.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management

section of this note.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for variable
interest rate bank borrowings at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liabilities outstanding at the end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. 50
basis points (2017: 50 basis points) increase or decrease for variable interest rate bank borrowings represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. Restricted bank balances
and bank balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the directors of the Company consider that the
exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising from variable interest rate restricted bank balances and bank

balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been increased/decreased by 50 basis points (2017: 50 basis points) in respect of variable
interest rate bank borrowings and all other variables were held constant, the Group's post-tax loss for the year
ended 31 December 2018 would increase/decrease by RMB2,394,000 (2017: post-tax profit for the year would
decrease/increase by RMB1,562,000).
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Other price risk

The Group is exposed to other price risk through its investments in structured deposits and financial assets at
FVTPL. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, no sensitivity analysis is prepared for the other price
risk since the impact to the Group's post-tax (loss) profit for the year is insignificant as these investments have

short maturities.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties
failure to perform their obligations at the end of each reporting period in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets stated in the consolidated statement of financial

position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model upon application of HKFRS 9 on trade balances individually or based on provision matrix (2017: incurred
loss model). In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly

reduced.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Group's exposure to credit risk after adoption of HKFRS 9

After the adoption of the HKFRS 9, in addition to the credit risk limit management and other mitigation
measures as described above, the Group monitors all financial assets, and other items subject to ECL except
for trade receivables and contract assets, that are subject to impairment requirements to assess whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in

credit risk, the Group will measure the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12m ECL.

Trade receivables and contract assets

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group assesses individually for debtors with significant
balances or credit impaired and/or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate grouping. For
collective assessment, the Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers because
these customers consist of a large number of small customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms. ECL
is estimated based on historical credit loss experience based on the past default experience of the debtors,
general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the

current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

The Group writes off trade receivables and contract assets when there is information indicating that the debtor
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been

placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its operation management committee to develop and

maintain the Group's credit risk gradings to categorise exposures according to their degree of risk of default.

The credit rating information is supplied by independent rating agencies where available and, if not available,
the operation management committee uses other publicly available financial information and the Group's own
trading records to rate its major customers and other debtors. The Group's exposure and the credit ratings
of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread

amongst approved counterparties.

GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC.  Annual Report 2018




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Group’s exposure to credit risk after adoption of HKFRS 9 (Continued))
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the impairment allowance is provided in the amount of
RMB47,161,000, among which RMB15,195,000 was made based on the provision matrix and RMB31,966,000
was assessed individually on the debtors with balances amounting to RMB220,752,000.

The following table details the risk profile of trade receivables and contract assets assessed based on the

provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2018

Current to 31to 61to 91 to Over

30 days 60 days 90 days 180 days 180 days Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Weighted average expected
credit loss rate 0.23% 1.49% 1.89% 1.64% 47.24% 10.13%
Total gross carrying amount 111,960 537 1,375 4,752 31,371 149,995
Lifetime ECL (262) 8) (26) (78) (14,821) (15,195)
111,698 529 1,349 4,674 16,550 134,800

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of
the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is
updated.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Group’s exposure to credit risk after adoption of HKFRS 9 (Continued))

The following table shows the Group's credit risk grading framework in respect of financial assets other than

trade receivables and contract assets:
Category Description

Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of
default or has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition and that are not credit

impaired (refer to as Stage 1)

Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that

are not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2)

Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset have

occurred (refer to as Stage 3)

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no

realistic prospect of recovery

Basis for recognising ECL

12m ECL

Lifetime ECL — not credit

impaired

Lifetime ECL — credit Impaired

Amount is written off
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Group’s exposure to credit risk after adoption of HKFRS 9 (Continued))
Other receivables and loan receivable

For other receivables, the Group has applied the general approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance
approximate to such at 12m ECL, since the directors of the Company did not expect any significant increase in

credit risk.

Bank balances, restricted bank deposits and bank balances and receivables at FVTOCI

The bank balances, restricted bank deposits and bank balances and receivables at FVTOCI are determined to
have low risk at the end of the reporting period. The credit risk on bank balances, restricted bank deposits and
bank balances, and receivables at FVTOCI are limited because the counterparties are reputable banks and the

risk of inability to pay or redeem at the due date is low.

Amounts due from related parties

With reference to the historical settlement patterns from the Group’s ultimate holding company, fellow
subsidiaries, associates of ultimate holding company, joint ventures, associates and subsidiaries of an
associate, the Group has assessed that the expected credit loss for amounts due from these related parties is

insignificant. Thus, no loss allowance provision is recognised.

Liquidity risk

In order to manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains cash and cash equivalents and unused
credit facilities at a level which is deemed to be adequate by management to finance the Group's operations
and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The table below analyses the Group's financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period between the reporting date to the

contractual maturity dates.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Weighted Repayable Total Total
average  on demand or undiscounted carrying
interest rate  less than 1 year 2-5 years cash flows amount
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
At 31 December 2018
Trade and other payables N/A 196,431 - 196,431 196,431
Bank borrowings
- variable interest rate 2.84% 579,246 - 579,246 563,239
Other borrowings 4.75% - 43,522 43,522 35,093
Amount due to ultimate holding company N/A 638 - 638 638
Amount due to immediate holding company N/A 2,832 - 2,832 2,832
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and
associates of ultimate holding company N/A 3,637 - 3,637 3,637
Amounts due to an associate and
subsidiaries of an associate N/A 28,435 - 28,435 28,435
Amounts due to joint ventures N/A 362 - 362 362
811,581 43,522 855,103 830,667
At 31 December 2017
Trade and other payables N/A 250,632 - 250,632 250,632
Bank borrowings
- variable interest rate 2.31% 376,316 - 376,316 367,428
Amount due to ultimate holding company N/A 7,400 - 7400 7,400
Amount due to immediate
holding company N/A 2123 - 2123 2123
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and
associates of ultimate holding company N/A 3,673 - 3,673 3,673
Amounts due to an associate and subsidiaries
of an associate N/A 37,327 - 37,327 37,327
Amounts due to joint ventures N/A 608 - 608 608
Financial guarantee contracts N/A 102,405 - 102,405 -
780,484 - 780,484 669,191

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments are subject to change if changes in variable

interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group determines fair values of various financial assets and

financial liabilities.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial position approximate to their fair values.
Such fair values have been determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on a

discounted cash flow analysis.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Fair value Valuation technique(s) Significant
Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy and key input(s) unobservable input(s)
31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Receivables at Receivables at FVTOCI - Level2 Discounted cash flow method was N/A
FVTOCI RMB106,400,000 used to capture the present value
of the cash flows to be derived

from the receivables.

Structured - Structured deposits  Level 3 Discounted cash flow method was Forecast yield from the
deposits RMB76,140,000 used to capture the present value  investment
of the expected future economic
benefits to be derived from the
ownership of these investees.
(Note)

Financial assets  Unlisted financial products - Level3 Discounted cash flow method was Forecast yield from the
at FVTPL and structure deposits: used to capture the present value  investment
RMB108,020,000 of the expected future economic
benefits to be derived from the
ownership of these investees.
(Note)

Note: A decrease in the forecast yield used in isolation would result in decrease in the fair value measurement of
unlisted financial products and structure deposits and vice versa. The directors of the Company consider that
the impact of the fluctuation in forecast yields of the underlying instruments to the fair value of unlisted financial
products and structure deposits are insignificant as these investments have short maturities, and therefore no

sensitivity analysis is presented.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (Continued))
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

The Group's financial assets at FVTPL are under level 3 fair value hierarchy. Their fair values were determined
by discounted cash flows method at which the estimated future cash flows are discounted at discount interest

rate that reflects the time value to the dates of settlement.

Financial assets

at FVTPL

RMB’000
At 31 December 2017 _
Effect arising on adoption of HKFRS 9 76,140
Adjusted Balance at 1 January 2018 76,140
Purchases 539,680
Settlements (507,800)
At 31 December 2018 108,020
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in note 31, the Group also had the following transactions with its related parties during the year:

(a) Transactions

Nature of
Name of company Relationship transactions 2018 2017
RMB'000 RMB'000
Ultimate holding company
Fair Friend Ultimate holding Sales of goods 71 191
company
Purchases of goods 19,764 21,830
Purchases of services - 9,802
Immediate holding company
Good Friend (H. K)) Immediate holding Purchases of goods 57,811 46,945
Corporation Limited company
("Hong Kong GF")
Fellow subsidiaries and associates of ultimate holding company
Equiptop Hitech Corp. Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods - 1,420
lkegai (Shanghai) Machinery Fellow subsidiary Purchases of goods 1,463 -
& Equipment Co., Ltd
SANCO Machine & Tools  Fellow subsidiary Purchases of goods - 8,654
Co., Ltd. ("SANCO")
Hangzhou Best Friend Associate of ultimate Sales of goods 2 3

Technology Co., Ltd. holding company
("Best Friend")
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(a) Transactions (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Nature of
Name of company Relationship transactions 2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Hangzhou Feeler Takamatsu Associate of ultimate Purchases of goods 113 1,519
Machinery Co., Ltd. holding company
("Feeler Takamatsu") Rendering of services 1,322 1,027
Rental income 68 3
FFG DMC Co.,Ltd. Subsidiary of ultimate Purchases of goods - 3,757
holding company
Joint ventures
AlF Joint venture Sales of goods 43 8
Purchases of goods 132 483
Purchases of services 1" 10
Rendering of services 1,213 1,273
Rental income 55 35
Hangzhou Feeler Mectron  Joint venture Purchases of goods 2,802 710
Machinery Co., Ltd.
(“Feeler Mectron") Rendering of services 198 143
Rental Income 53 34

GOOD FRIEND INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS INC.  Annual Report 2018




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Balances (Continued)

Nature of
Name of company Relationship transactions 2018 2017
RMB'000 RMB'000
Hangzhou Nippon Cable Joint venture Purchases of services 68 63
Feeler Corporation
("Nippon Cable Feeler”) Rendering of services 20 21
Rental income 8 6
Hangzhou Union Friend Joint venture Sales of goods 10 15
Machinery Co., Ltd
("UFM") Purchases of goods 2,298 1,556
Rendering of services 62 31
Interest income 20 23
Associate and subsidiary of an associate
FFG Werke Associate Purchases of goods 3,511 219,966
Jobs Automazione S.p.A.  Subsidiary of an Purchases of goods - 44,450
("Jobs") associate of
the Group
SMS Holding Co.,Inc. Subsidiary of an Sales of goods 6 12
associate of
the Group
Notes:

(@) The terms of the above sale and purchase transactions are governed based on framework agreements entered into

between the Company and the respective related parties.

(b)  Rental income was charged at terms mutually agreed between the parties.
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Balances

Nature of
Name of company Relationship transactions 2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Ultimate holding company
Fair Friend Ultimate holding Trade payable (510) (1,460)
company (note (b))
Advance to - 1,053
(note (b))
Other payable - (5,812)
(note (b))
Advance from (128) (128)
(note (b))
Amount due from ultimate holding company - 1,053
Amount due to ultimate holding company (638) (7,400)
Immediate holding company
Hong Kong GF Immediate holding Trade payable (2,832) (2,123)
company (note (b))
Fellow subsidiaries and associates of ultimate holding company
Hangzhou Fair Fine Fellow subsidiary Trade receivable - 1
Electric & Machinery (note (a))
Co., Ltd.
EQUIPTOP HITECH Fellow subsidiary Trade payable (144) (144)
CORP. (note (b))
Advance from (124) (124)
(note (b))
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Balances (Continued)

Nature of
Name of company Relationship transactions 2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Ikegai (Shanghai) Fellow subsidiary Advance to - 734
Machinery & Equipment (note (b))
Co., Ltd
SANCO Fellow subsidiary Trade payable (3,253) (3,405)
(note (b))
Best Friend Associate of ultimate Trade receivable 1 2
holding company (note (a))
Feeler Takamatsu Associate of ultimate Other receivable 22 32
holding company (note (b))
Advance to - 39
(note (b))
FFG DMC CO., LTD Subsidiary of ultimate ~ Advance to - 668
holding company (note (b))
Advance from (116) -
(note (b))
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and 23 1,476
associates of ultimate holding company
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and associates (3,637) (3,673)

of ultimate holding company
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Balances (Continued)

Nature of
Name of company Relationship transactions 2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000
Joint ventures
AlF Joint venture Trade receivable - 1
(note (a))
Other receivable 127 114
(note (b))
Trade payable (42) (191)
(note (b))
Feeler Mectron Joint venture Other receivable - 22
(note (b))
Other payable - (4)
(note (b))
Advance to - 98
(note (b))
Trade payable (33) (116)
(note (b))
UFM Joint venture Trade payable (287) (297)
(note (b))
Other receivable 319 612
(note (b))
Trade receivable 6 -
(note (a))
Nippon Cable Feeler Joint venture Other receivable 9 5
(note (b))
Amounts due from joint ventures 461 852
Amounts due to joint ventures (362) (608)
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Balances (Continued)

Nature of
Name of company Relationship transactions 2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
Associates and subsidiaries of an associate
FFG Werke Associate Advance to 1,357 1,357
(note (b))
Trade payable (24,679) (33,341)
(note (b))
Other receivable 386 904
(note (b))
Shareholder loan 20,978 41,473
(note (b))
FFG Europe Associate Other receivable 766 766
(note (b))
Shareholder loan 36,089 16,505
(note (c))
FFG EA Associate Other receivable 54,791 26,063
(note (b))
Grinding technology S.r.l  Subsidiary of an Other receivable 9,463 -
associate of (note (b))
the Group
Jobs Subsidiary of an Other receivable 17,333 21,393
associate of (note (c))
the Group
Trade payable (2,844) (3,075)
(note (b))
Other payable (912) @11)
(note (b))
Advance to - 737
(note (b))
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Balances (Continued)

Nature of
Name of company Relationship transactions 2018 2017
RMB’000 RMB'000
MAG Subsidiary of an Other receivable 575 575
associate of (note (b))
the Group
SMS HOLDING CO.,INC. Subsidiary of an Trade receivable - 4
associate of (note (a))
the Group
Sky Thrive Rambaudi S.r.l  Subsidiary of an Other receivable 3,239 3,234
associate of (note (c))
the Group
Shareholder loan 6,082 6,072
(note (c))
Amounts due from associates and subsidiaries 151,059 119,083
of an associate
Amounts due to an associate and subsidiaries (28,435) (37,327)

of an associate

Notes:

(@)  The Group allowed a normal credit period of 90 days for sales made to the fellow subsidiaries, the ultimate holding
company and its associate companies, and subsidiaries of associated company. Balances are unsecured and interest
free. As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the ageing of above balances were mostly within 6 to 12 months.

(b) Balances are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

()  Balances are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. Fair Friend has issued letter of financial support to

enable the associate as well as subsidiaries of this associate to meeting their financial obligations as they fall due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c)

Key management compensation

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year were as follows:

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

Salaries and allowances 2,090 2,656
Discretionary performance related bonus 1,427 1,347
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 57 107
3,574 4110

41. CONTINGENT LIABILITY

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the Group has the following contingent

liabilities at the end of the reporting period:

1)

On 25 September 2015, the Company, FFG Werke and a bank (“the Bank”) entered into an agreement,
pursuant to which the Bank arranged a facility for the maximum principal amount of Euro50,000,000 (equivalent
RMB365,340,000) to be available to the Company and FFG Werke on a joint and several basis, whereby each of
the Company and FFG Werke s liable for the indebtedness incurred by the other under the facility. FFG Werke
fully repaid the borrowings under this facility during 2017. No such arrangement noted in 2018.

In 2017, Hangzhou Good Friend issued standby letter of credit with a maximum amount of RMB34,000,000 to
guarantee the corresponding amount of the credit facilities to be provided by a bank to FFG Werke. As at 31
December 2017, FFG Werke has drawn down a total amount of Euro4,000,000 (equivalent RMB31,209,000).
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the warranty guarantee was fully released.

In 2017, Hangzhou Good Friend issued standby letter of credit with a maximum amount of Euro5,125,000
(approximately RMB39,987,000) to guarantee the corresponding amount of the credit facilities to be
provided by a bank to FFG Europe. As at 31 December 2017, FFG Europe has drawn down a total amount of
Euro5,125,000 (equivalent RMB39,987,000). During the year ended 31 December 2018, the warranty guarantee
was fully released.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CONTINGENT LIABILITY (Continued)

4) In 2017, Hangzhou Good Friend issued standby letter of credit with a maximum amount of Euro4,060,000
(equivalent to RMB31,677,000) to guarantee the corresponding amount of the credit facilities to be provided
by a bank to MAG. As at 31 December 2017, MAG has drawn down a total amount of Euro4,000,000
(equivalent RMB31,209,000). During the year ended 31 December 2018, the warranty guarantee was fully
released.

5  In September 2017, the Company issued a warranty guarantee of Euro2,475,000 (equivalent to RMB19,311,000)
on behalf of MAG IAS GmbH, a wholly owned subsidiary of MAG, to its customer. During the year ended 31

December 2018, the warranty guarantee was fully released.
The management of the Group estimates that the default risk of the abovementioned entities is remote, thus

the exposure to guaranty liability arising from these financial guarantees is immaterial and no guaranty liability is

recognised in 2017.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

2018 2017

RMB’000 RMB'000

Prepaid lease payments 87,600 3,352
Property, plant and equipment 7,763 8,428
Restricted bank deposits 15,900 32,716
111,263 44,496

The Group has pledged its prepaid lease payments and buildings in order to secure the general banking facilities
granted to the Group and other borrowings of the Group. The Group also has restricted bank deposits which

mainly represent deposits placed in banks for guarantees issued for finance facilities used by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43. INFORMATION OF THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY
2018 2017
RMB’'000 RMB’000
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 52,837 52,837
Investments in joint ventures 27,666 27,666
Amounts due from subsidiaries 551,628 560,889
632,131 641,392
Current assets
Trade and other receivables and prepayment 17,859 11,701
Amounts due from associates and subsidiaries of an associate 147,430 115,107
Bank balances and cash 39,615 9,521
204,904 136,329
Current liabilities
Other payables and accrued charges 15,546 7,243
Amounts due to subsidiaries 3,543 -
Amounts due to an associate and subsidiaries of an associate 2,513 3,657
Amounts due to ultimate holding company - 5,812
Bank borrowings 550,454 367,428
572,056 384,140
Net current liabilities (367,152) (247,811)
Total assets less current liabilities 264,979 393,581
Capital and reserves
Share capital 4,022 4,022
Share premium 82,281 82,281
Other reserves 7,973 7,973
Retained earnings 170,703 299,305
Total equity 264,979 393,581
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

43. INFORMATION OF THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

The movement of the Company's reserves for the year ended 31 December 2018 is as follows:

Share Other Retained

premium reserves earnings Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
At 1 January 2017 82,281 7,973 420,515 510,769
Loss and total comprehensive expense - - (101,050) (101,050)
Dividends recognised as distribution - - (20,160) (20,160)
At 31 December 2017 82,281 7,973 299,305 389,559
Loss and total comprehensive expense - - (84,250) (84,250)
Dividends recognised as distribution - - (44,352) (44,352)
At 31 December 2018 82,281 7973 170,703 260,957
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Five-Year Financial Summary

OPERATING RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
Revenue 1,300,119 990,239 1,082,336 1,294,801 1,090,693
Gross profit 344,894 267,925 295,151 312,515 290,727
Profit (loss) before income tax 125,071 55,952 87,650 85,066 (42,730)
Profit (loss) attributable to equity
holders of the Company 101,313 46,097 60,749 65,690 (57,724)
Earnings (loss) per share -
basic (RMB) 0.25 0.11 0.15 0.16 (0.14)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
As at 31 December
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Non-current assets 309,492 589,531 743,761 703,361 706,420
Net current assets 433,321 154,908 121,487 185,223 115,271
Non-current liabilities (16,118) - (61,180) (61,180) (105,285)
Net assets 726,695 744,439 804,068 827,404 716,406
Share capital 4,022 4,022 4,022 4,022 4,022
Reserves 722,673 740,417 800,046 823,382 712,384
Shareholders’ equity 726,695 744,439 804,068 827,404 716,406
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